Netrins in glioma biology: regulators of tumor cell proliferation, motility and stemness

Irene Ylivinkka



Translational Cancer Biology Research Program

Faculty of Medicine

and

Doctoral Programme in Biomedicine

Doctoral School of Health

University of Helsinki

and

The Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa

Finland

Academic Dissertation

To be publicly discussed with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki, in Auditorium 2, Biomedicum Helsinki, Haartmaninkatu 8, on February 24th 2017, at 12 o'clock.

Helsinki 2017

Supervised by

Docent Marko Hyytiäinen, PhD Translational Cancer Biology Research Program Faculty of Medicine University of Helsinki Finland

and

Professor Jorma Keski-Oja, MD, PhD Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa Translational Cancer Biology Research Program Faculty of Medicine University of Helsinki Finland

Reviewed by

Docent Kirmo Wartiovaara, MD, PhD Research Program for Molecular Neurology University of Helsinki Clinical Chemistry Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa Finland

and

Docent Cecilia Sahlgren, PhD Turku Centre for Biotechnology University of Turku Finland

Discussed by

Assistant Professor Joanna J. Phillips, MD, PhD Departments of Neurological Surgery and Pathology Helen Diller Family Comprehensive Cancer Center University of California, San Francisco United States of America

ISBN 978-951-51-2917-8 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-2918-5 (PDF) ISSN 2342-3161 (print) ISSN 2342-317X (online) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi Dissertationes Scholae Doctoralis Ad Sanitatem Investigandam Universitatis Helsinkiensis Unigrafia Oy Helsinki 2017

Puitten takaa kuulee meren Solveig von Schoultz

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7
ABBREVIATIONS	8
ABSTRACT	10
TIIVISTELMÄ	11
Introduction	12
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	13
1. Human gliomas	13
1.1. Classification of gliomas	13
1.2. Glioblastoma	14
1.2.1. Hallmarks of glioblastoma	15
1.2.1.1. Invasive modes of glioblastoma cells	15
1.2.2. Current standard care of glioblastoma	17
1.2.2.1. Temozolomide therapy	
1.2.2.2. Targeted therapies	
2. Glioblastoma stem cells	19
2.1. Cancer stem cell hypothesis	19
2.2. Discovery and characterization of glioblastoma stem cells	20
2.3. Contribution of glioblastoma stem cells to the tumor malignancy	21
2.4. Controversies in the glioblastoma stem cell hypothesis	22
3. Netrins	23
3.1 Various roles of Netrins in development	24
3.1.1. Netrin-1 in axon guidance	24
3.1.2. Functions of netrins in the morphogenesis of epithelial structures	25
3.2. Netrins in cancer	
3.2.1. Netrin-1 as a regulator of cancer cell invasion	26
3.2.1.1. Epithelial cancers	27
3.2.1.2. Cancers of the neural system	
3.2.2. Netrin-4 has a dual function in tumorigenesis	29
3.2.3. Netrins as tumor cell survival factors	
4. Notch signaling	
4.1. Basics of Notch signaling	30
4.2. Notch signaling in glioblastoma	31
AIMS OF THE STUDY	34
MATERIALS AND METHODS	35
1. Cell lines	

	2. Reagents	. 35
	3. Antibodies	. 36
	4. Vectors and expression constructs	. 36
	5. Lentivirus mediated manipulation of gene expression (I, II, III)	. 37
	6. Total RNA extraction, reverse transcription, and real-time quantitative-PCR (I, II, III)	. 37
	7. In vitro cell proliferation assays (I, III)	. 38
	8. 2D cell motility assays (I, II)	. 38
	9. Cell survival assay (I)	.39
	10. Immunofluorescence analysis of cells (I, II)	. 39
	11. SDS-PAGE and immunoblot analysis (I, II, III)	. 39
	12. Identification of binding partners of netrins (I, II)	.40
	13. Monitoring the Notch signaling activation (II)	.40
	14. Biotinylation of the cell surface proteins (II)	.41
	15. Tissue microarray analysis (TMA) (III)	.41
	16. Tissue immunofluorescence analysis (III)	.41
	17. In vivo xenograft studies (III)	. 42
	18. 3D ex vivo GBM tissue culture (III)	. 42
	19. Establishing primary GBM cell lines (III)	. 42
	20. Co-culture of GSCs and U251MG cells in 3D Matrigel (III)	.43
	21. Statistical analysis (I, II, III)	.43
	22. Bioinformatics analysis (I, II)	. 43
RI	ESULTS	. 44
	1. NTN4 promotes GBM cell proliferation and motility in a concentration dependent manner (I)	.44
	2. NTN4 stimulates GBM cell proliferation via ITGB4 dependent AKT-mTOR phosphorylation (I)	. 44
	3. NTN1 promotes GBM cell invasiveness in vitro and in vivo (II, III)	.44
	4. NTN1 is a multifunctional protein which associates with several proteins and signali pathways (II)	ng . 45
	5. NTN1 can activate Notch signaling and induce subsequent cell invasion by binding to the Notch-Jagged complex (II)	o .46
	6. The expression of NTN1 in human glioma biopsies is associated with poor patient prognosis (II, III)	.46
	7. NTN1 locates to GSC-rich tumor areas and to the stalk area of GSC led invasive structures (III)	. 47
	8. NTN1 increases the number of GSCs in the cell population and stimulates their moti (III)	ility . 48

9. NTN1(II)FH diminishes the activation Notch signaling by retaining Notch-Jagged1 signaling complex on cell surface (II)
10. Inhibition of NTN1 signaling with NTN1(II)FH reduces GBM invasiveness via decreasing the motility of GSCs (II, III)
DISCUSSION
1. NTN4 regulates the proliferation of glioma cells via orchestrated actions of ITGB4 and UNC5B (I)
2. NTN1 drives the GBM invasion and stemness via Notch signaling (II, III)
3. NTN1(II)FH overcomes the effects of full-length NTN1 and has therapeutic potential (II, III)
CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES55
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
REFERENCES

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications which are referred to by their roman numerals in the text

- I. Hu Y, **Ylivinkka I**, Chen P, Li L, Hautaniemi S, Nyman TA, Keski-Oja J, and Hyytiäinen M, Netrin-4 Promotes Glioblastoma Cell Proliferation through Integrin beta(4) Signaling. Neoplasia 14: 219-227, 2012
- II. Ylivinkka I, Hu Y, Chen P, Rantanen V, Hautaniemi S, Nyman TA, Keski-Oja J, and Hyytiäinen M, Netrin-1-induced activation of Notch signaling mediates glioblastoma cell invasion. J Cell Sci, 126: 2459-2469, 2013
- III. Ylivinkka I, Sihto H, Tynninen O, Hu Y, Laakso A, Kivisaari R, Laakkonen P, Keski-Oja J and Hyytiäinen, M, Motility of glioblastoma cells is driven by netrin-1 induced gain of stemness, J Exp Clin Canc Res, 9; 36(1):9, 2017

Publication I was included in the doctoral dissertation of Yizhou Hu (Netrin-4/integrin signaling in glioblastoma cells, University of Helsinki, 2016)

ABBREVIATIONS

2D	2-dimensional
3D	3-dimensional
ADAM	adamalysin related metalloproteinase
BrDU	Bromodeoxyuridine
CDK	cyclin dependent kinase
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
C. elegans	Caenorhabtidis elegans
CI	confidence interval
CNS	central nervous system
CSC	cancer stem cell
C-terminal	carboxy terminal
DABCO	1,4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane
DAPT	N-[N-(3,5-Difluorophenacetyl)-L-alanyl]-S-phenylglycine-t-
	butyl ester
DCC	deleted in colorectal cancer
D. melanogaster	Drosophila melanogaster
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DSCAM	Down syndrome cell adhesion molecule
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ECM	extracellular matrix
EdU	5-ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridin
EGF	epidermal growth factor
EGFR	epidermal growth factor receptor
FGF	fibroblast derived growth factor
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GBM	glioblastoma multiforme
GSC	glioblastoma stem-like cell
НА	hemagglutinin
HIF	hypoxia inducible factor
HR	hazard ratio
HSC	hematopoietic stem cell
IDH	isocitrate dehydrogenase
L1CAM	neural cell adhesion molecule 1
MGMT	O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
NetA	netrin A
NetB	netrin B
N-terminus	amino terminal
NTN1	netrin-1
NTN4	netrin-4
NICD	Notch intracellular domain
NOS	Not otherwise specified
NOTCH	Neurogenic locus notch homolog protein
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PDAC	pancreatic ductal epithelial cell
PDGFRA	platelet derived growth factor receptor A
PFA	paraformaldehyde

PMEC	primary midgut epithelial cells
PTEN	Phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate 3-phosphatase
qRT-PCR	quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
RBP-JK	recombining binding protein suppressor of hairless
RNA	ribonucleic acid
SDS PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
shRNA	short hairpin RNA
SVZ	subventricular zone
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
ТВР	TATA-binding protein
TCGA	The Cancer Genome Atlas
TERT	telomerase reverse transcriptase
TMZ	temozolomide
TP53	tumor suppressor protein 53
UNC5	uncoordinated 5
uPA	urokinase type plasminogen activator
WHO	World Health Organization
YAP	yes associated kinase

ABSTRACT

Glioblastoma is the most malignant brain cancer. Currently no cure has been established. The lethality of glioblastoma is a consequence of its extremely invasive nature: it rarely metastasizes outside the nervous system but effectively spreads throughout the brain parenchyma. This property, in addition to its challenging location makes it impossible to remove surgically. Furthermore, the tumors are heterogeneous and contain cells that are resistant to radiation therapy as well as to the only currently approved chemotherapy, temozolomide.

Netrins are secreted extracellular matrix proteins. They were initially identified as proteins essential for the correct axonal wiring of both vertebrates and invertebrates. Later, they were observed to regulate the branching morphogenesis of various organs including mammary gland, lungs and pancreas. During recent years increasing number of studies have linked netrins to various forms of cancer. For example, netrin-1 induces the invasion of pancreatic, colorectal and hepatocytic cancers and medulloblastoma and promotes the survival of breast and lung cancer and neuroblastoma. Netrin-4 can modulate tumor growth, angiogenesis, and metastasis.

In the current work, we analyzed how netrins contribute to glioblastoma growth. We discovered that both netrin-1 and -4 contribute to the malignancy of glioblastoma via independent pathways. Netrin-1 was upregulated in glioblastoma whereas netrin-4 was downregulated. However, both were associated with poor patient prognosis. The signaling pathways mediating the effects of these proteins were systematically explored.

First, our results revealed a new mechanism where netrin-4 controls glioma cell proliferation via UNC5B and ITGB4 receptors. During normal cell culture conditions netrin-4 is abundantly expressed, and it binds to both UNC5B and ITGB4 receptors that counteract each other and keep glioma cell proliferation in balance. However, during glioma progression netrin-4 expression is decreased and the signaling is shifted towards ITGB4. This led to increased cell proliferation and tumor growth.

Second, we discovered a mechanism through which netrin-1 promotes cell invasion. Netrin-1 expression associated with astrocytomas which are invasive glioma subtype. In glioblastoma cells it interacted with Notch2 and Jagged1 and facilitated the activation of the signaling. Subsequently, this led to an increase in cell invasion *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Furthermore, a unique invasion pattern was characterized where netrin-1 expressing cells were promoting the motility and stemness of the invasion leading stem-like cells.

Third, we designed and engineered a recombinant peptide that had the capacity to inhibit netrin-1 signaling. This peptide was able to overcome the effects of the full-length netrin-1 and specifically inhibited the invasiveness of the stem-like glioblastoma cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. This peptide may prove out to be of therapeutic value in GBM treatment.

TIIVISTELMÄ

Glioomat ovat glia- eli hermotukisoluista alkunsa saavia aivokasvaimia. Glioblastooma on näistä syöpäkasvaimista pahanlaatuisin. Siihen ei toistaiseksi ole kehitetty hoitoa, ja potilaiden keskimääräinen elinaika on 15 kuukautta diagnosoinnin jälkeen. Glioblastooman pahanlaatuisuus johtuu kasvaimen syöpäsolujen aggressiivisesta leviämisestä terveen aivokudoksen sekaan. Tästä syystä se on lähes mahdoton poistaa kirurgisesti. Nämä syöpäsolut ovat myös sädehoidolle sekä toistaiseksi ainoalle hyväksytylle lääkehoidolle, temozolomidille, vastustuskykyisiä

Netriinit ovat erittyviä soluväliaineen proteiineja. Niiden on alun perin havaittu säätelevän aksonien kehitystä yksilönkehityksen aikana sekä selkärankaisissa että selkärangattomissa. Myöhemmin niiden on osoitettu säätelevän myös muiden haaroittuneiden elinten muodostumista. Viime vuosien aikana yhä useammat tutkimukset ovat osoittaneet netriinien olevan tärkeässä osassa myös syöpäbiologiassa: netriini-1 lisää useiden eri syöpätyyppien leviämistä sekä syöpäsolujen selviytymistä, ja netriini-4 puolestaan on yhdistetty syöpäkasvainten kykyyn kasvattaa verisuonia sekä niiden kykyyn lähettää etäpesäkkeitä.

Tässä väitöskirjatyössä on tutkittu netriinien vaikutuksia glioblastoomaan. Tutkimuksissa osoitettiin, että lisääntynyt netriini-1:n tuotto ja vastakohtaisesti vähentynyt netriini-4:n tuotto ovat yhteydessä potilaiden huonompaan ennusteeseen. Signalointireittejä, joiden kautta nämä proteiinit vaikuttavat syöpäsoluihin, seulottiin systemaattisesti. Tutkimuksessa havaittiin, että kumpikin näistä proteiineista vaikuttaa glioblastoomasoluihin itsenäisesti eri signaloittireittein välityksellä. Netriini-4:n osoitettiin olevan tärkeä glioblastoomasolujen jakautumisen säätelijä ja sen tuoton vähentyminen mahdollisti kontrolloimattoman solujen jakautumisen ja täten kasvaimen kasvun. Netriini-1:n puolestaan osoitettiin olevan merkittävä glioblastoomasolujen liikkuvuuden säätelijä. Sen lisääntynyt tuotto sai aikaan syöpäsolujen muuttumisen kantasolumaisemmiksi ja aggressiivisemmin terveen aivokudoksen sekaan leviäviksi.

Lisäksi tässä työssä suunniteltiin ja rakennettiin peptidi, joka pystyi estämään netriini-1:n vaikutukset glioblastoomasoluissa. Koska tämän peptidin tuotto vähensi glioblastoomasolujen kantasolumaisuutta sekä niiden kykyä levitä terveen aivokudoksen sekaan, voi sillä tulevaisuudessa olla potentiaalia glioblastooman lääkehoidon kehityksessä.

INTRODUCTION

Central nervous system (CNS) consists of two types of cells: neurons and glial cells. While neurons are the main cells that process and mediate information the glial cells provide many supportive functions to them. Glial cells can be further divided into macro- and microglial cells (reviewed in Sierra et al., 2016). Microglial cells are specialized immune cells of the CNS (Gehrmann et al., 1995). They are a special group of macrophages that are responsible for the immune defense of the CNS. Within the human brain, three types of macroglial cells are present: astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and ependymal cells. The main function of oligodendrocytes is to isolate the neurons: they wrap around the neurons and provide isolating myelin sheath for them (Baumann and Pham-Dinh, 2001). Astrocytes are branched cells which are in contact with neurons, each other and blood vessels (Nag, 2011). They provide many supporting functions for neurons for example by up taking excess potassium ions that are produced during synaptic emission or by secreting many growth factors that are essential for the well-being of neurons (Krencik et al., 2016). In addition, astrocytes participate in the development of blood brain barrier (Haseloff et al., 2005). Ependymal cells are specialized cells that create the linings of the ventricles of the brain and the central canal of the spinal cord. Furthermore, they contribute to the production of cerebrospinal fluid.

Diffuse gliomas are tumors of macroglial cells within the brain. They are the most common primary brain tumors in humans (Maher *et al.*, 2001; Ostrom *et al.*, 2015). Approximately 400 gliomas are diagnosed in Finland per year (Maenpaa, 2010). Currently the cell of origin of gliomas is unknown but it has been proposed that the tumors arise from mutated mature astrocyte or oligodendrocyte or undifferentiated neural stem or precursor cell. Gliomas are graded into four grades on the basis of their malignancy. Most aggressive form of these tumors, glioblastoma is a devastating disease which has remained incurable despite numerous treatment attempts during recent years. The lifetime expectancy of patients is only 15 months after diagnosis. The lethality of glioblastoma is a result of its highly heterogenous and infiltrative phenotype (Maher *et al.*, 2001). The tumors are impossible to remove surgically because of aggressively, throughout the brain invading tumor cells. In addition, the glioblastoma cells are extremely resistant to radiation and chemotherapy (Raizer and Parsa, 2015). Therefore, better understanding of the biology of the glioblastoma cells is needed in hopes of invention of new therapeutic options.

Netrins are secreted proteins that are essential for the development of both vertebrates and invertebrates. They act as chemoattractants and regulate both cell polarization and migration during axon guidance, vascular patterning and branching morphogenesis of different organs (Cirulli and Yebra, 2007). Within recent years netrins have also been linked to tumorigenesis of various epithelial and nervous system cancers including neuroblastoma, colorectal, breast and lung cancer (Ko *et al.*, 2014). They have been shown to regulate cancer cell migration and survival.

In this thesis the role of netrins in human glioblastoma tumors was assessed. The role of both netrin-1 and netrin-4 was investigated in different aspects of glioma biology, including cancer cell proliferation, survival, invasion and stemness. In addition, the signaling pathways mediating the effects of netrins were screened systematically. The findings help us to better understand the molecular mechanisms behind the disease and guide our way to the development of new treatment options.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1. Human gliomas

1.1. Classification of gliomas

Gliomas are the most common human primary brain tumors. They are tumors of the macroglial cells, mainly astrocytes and oligodendrocytes. Gliomas often emerge in the frontal lobe area and are slightly more common in men than in women (Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network *et al.*, 2015). The classification of gliomas has been based on histological characterization of the tumors according to the guidelines set by the World Health Organization (WHO) (Louis *et al.*, 2007). Until this year gliomas were divided into three major classes: astrocytoma, oligoastrocytoma and oligodendroglioma, based solely on their histopathological status of glial cell differentiation (Louis *et al.*, 2007; Maher *et al.*, 2001). According to this classification astrocytomas were divided into grade II-IV tumors whereas oligoastrocytoma and oligodendrogliomas were spicelly grade II tumors.

Within recent years, excessive efforts have been made to investigate the genetic alterations of gliomas. These advances have revealed distinct mutations in different glioma subtypes. Based on these findings WHO has published new guidelines for the treatment and classification of these tumors (Louis *et al.*, 2016). According to the current view gliomas emerge from a common precursor cell. Therefore previous glioma classes, astrocytomas, oligoastrocytomas and oligodendrogliomas have been combined under one group named diffuse gliomas. This major group is then further divided into subgroups based on the different mutations acquired by the tumors (figure 1). Previous oligoastrocytoma class has been completely excluded from the new classification since these tumors can now be included into the new subtypes based on the mutational status. This simplifies the classification of oligoastrocytic tumors that present characteristics of both astrocytomas and olidendrogliomas on the cellular level.

According to the current view, mutation in isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) gene is the earliest mutation on the progression of gliomas (Balss *et al.*, 2008; Sanson *et al.*, 2009). This mutation is observed in 80% of the low grade diffuse gliomas and it is common in both astrocytic and oligodendrocytic tumors. The mutation occurs more frequently in IDH1 gene but also mutations in IDH2 gene have been detected. If additional co-deletion of chromosome arms 1p and 19q is detected tumors are categorized as grade II or III oligodendrogliomas (Louis *et al.*, 2016). If a mutation in the tumor suppressor protein 53 (TP53) and transcription regulator ATRX (ATRX) are detected the tumors are diagnosed as diffuse astrocytoma grade II. Furthermore, loss of chromosome arms 9p and 10q are commonly observed in anaplastic astrocytoma grade III and secondary glioblastoma (GBM) grade IV, respectively.

The division of the diffuse gliomas into mutational subtypes improves the diagnosis and the prediction of patient response to treatment. The prognosis of oligodendroglioma patients is better than astrocytoma patients with median survival times 8.0 years and 6.3 years respectively (Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network *et al.*, 2015). The median age of patients diagnosed with grade II or III glioma is 42.6 years at the time of diagnosis and does not significantly vary between the subtypes (Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network *et al.*, 2015).



Figure 1. Classification of human gliomas. Schematic presentation of the progression and current classification of diffuse gliomas. White boxes depict gained mutations and grey boxes the tumor classification. See explanation for abbreviations on page 8-9.

1.2. Glioblastoma

Among gliomas, glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) is the most malignant tumor. They emerge either as primary tumors without previous clinical manifestations or, as described above, as secondary tumors that rise from a lower grade gliomas (figure 1). The majority, approximately 90% of the GBMs are primary tumors and 10% progress from diffuse astrocytoma within 5 years (Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2013). Secondary GBMs are often located in the frontal lobe whereas primary GBMs have no location specificity (Lai *et al.*, 2011). The median age at the time of diagnosis is 45 years for secondary GBM patients and 60 years for primary GBM patients (Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2013). The expected lifetime of patients after diagnosis is 15 months for primary GBM and 31 months for secondary GBM (Louis *et al.*, 2016).

The histology of primary and secondary GBM is similar. However, the accumulated mutations vary from each other. Primary glioblastomas carry wildtype IDH whereas the majority of secondary glioblastomas have mutated IDH. Since secondary GBMs have developed from the low grade astrocytomas they also harbor mutations in the TP53 and ATRX. Primary GBMs commonly have amplification of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), mutated phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), loss of whole chromosome 10, deletion in cyclin

dependent kinase inhibitor 2 (CDKN2) and mutated telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) promoter (Ohgaki *et al.*, 2004).

Several other less frequent genetic aberrations have been detected in GBM tumors. Based on these there have been attempts to divide the GBMs into 3-4 molecular subtypes (Brennan et al., 2013; Verhaak et al., 2010). The subtypes include classical, proneural, neural and mesenchymal type GBM. While the majority of secondary GBMs belong to proneural subtype, primary GBMs can belong to any of them. Classical subtype is characterized by EGFR amplification (97%) and CDKN2 deletion, proneural with IDH and TP53 mutations and PDGFRA amplifications, mesenchymal GBMs frequently have NF-1 mutation and MET amplification (Phillips et al., 2013; Verhaak et al., 2010). These subtypes may be of clinical value if personalized treatments will be available for GBM. However, the GBM tumors may be even more heterogeneous, which may complicate the classification. When one biopsy of GBM tumor was analyzed on single cell RNA sequencing it was revealed that individual cells among the biopsy may belong to different tumor subtype (Patel et al., 2014). Furthermore, the copy number alterations differ within several samples collected from various locations around same tumor (Sottoriva et al., 2013). Therefore, individual GBM cells display great heterogeneity within each tumor. One biopsy taken during the operation may not necessarily properly characterize the tumor and may lead to incorrect GBM subtype classifications. Especially this aspect should be considered if personalized GBM treatment will be applied in the future.

1.2.1. Hallmarks of glioblastoma

The histopathological features of GBM tumors are infiltrative growth within the healthy brain tissue, necrotic tumor core which is surrounded by dense cell areas called pseudopalisade structures and excessive angiogenesis resulting in abnormal tumor vasculature called glomerular vessels (Brat et al., 2004a; Rojiani and Dorovini-Zis, 1996). Especially the pseudopalisade structures and the glomerular vessels distinguish GBM tumors from the lower grade II and III astrocytomas and oligodendrogliomas. It is suggested that hypoxia within the tumor core is the cause of these GBM hallmarks. Hypoxia upregulates a multifunctional protein called hypoxia inducible factor (HIF) in the tumor cells. HIF regulates several signaling pathways that are linked to cell metabolism, motility, angiogenesis and stemness of the tumor cells (reviewed in (Rankin and Giaccia, 2016)). The pseudopalisade structures are shown to be hypoxic and to consist of actively migrating cells (Brat et al., 2004b). Furthermore, HIF can upregulate the production of VEGF within the tumors which leads to excess endothelial cell proliferation. However, the vessels formed are tortuous and leaky which results in increased interstitial pressure and cancer cell evasion from the primary tumor (Jain, 2013). This causes a cycle where the lack of nutrients and oxygen within the tumor core forces the tumor cells to disseminate and invade into the brain parenchyma. This infiltrative phenotype makes it impossible for the GBM to be completely resected with surgery.

1.2.1.1. Invasive modes of glioblastoma cells

GBM cells use neuron networks and white matter tracts as highways to spread throughout the brain (figure 2). In addition, they actively co-opt the brain vessels, attach to the vascular

basement membrane and move along the perivascular space. Despite the active spreading within the brain parenchyma, GBM cells extremely rarely metastasize to other organs.

The molecular mechanisms driving the motility of GMB cells have been widely investigated during recent years. The major barrier that the tumor cells encounter while leaving the primary tumor is the extracellular matrix (ECM) of the brain. It consists mainly of hyaluronic acid, proteoglycans and tenascin glycoproteins (Novak and Kaye, 2000). Due to the lack of laminin, fibronectin or collagens it is relatively soft matrix and less fibrous and cross-linked than the ECM in many other organs. The vascular basement membrane that the GBM cells also use as a migratory platform contains fibronectin, laminin and collagens III and IV.

Cells attach to the ECM via specialized adhesion receptors. The range of these receptors overexpressed in GBM tissue include integrin receptors $\alpha 3\beta 1$, $\alpha 2\beta 1$, $\alpha 5\beta 1$, $\alpha 6\beta 1$, $\alpha 6\beta 4$, $\alpha 9\beta 1$, $\alpha v\beta 3$ and $\alpha v\beta 5$ that bind various ECM proteins including laminin, tenascins, fibronectin and vitronectin (Gingras *et al.*, 1995; Paulus *et al.*, 1993). In addition, hyaluronan receptors CD44, ICAM-1 and L1-CAM are upregulated in GBM compared to normal brain (Gingras *et al.*, 1995; Paulus *et al.*, 1993). Via these receptors the GBM cells can attach to the surrounding matrixes and migrate away from the primary tumor site. In addition, GBM cells express various proteases that can cleave the ECM and thereby aid the motility of the cells. The main proteases expressed by are ADAMs, uPA, MMPs and cathepsins (Nakada *et al.*, 1999; Rempel *et al.*, 1994; Rooprai *et al.*, 1998; Wildeboer *et al.*, 2006; Yamamoto *et al.*, 1994). While the cancer cells are disseminating from the primary tumor the proteases play an important role in detaching the invasive cells from the tumor mass.



Figure 2. GBM cell invasion. (A) Schematic presentation of GBM cells disseminating from the primary tumor. GBM cells can either invade along (B) the border of stroma and blood vessels, (C) within the perivascular space of blood vessels or (D) along the white matter tracts. Modified from (Gritsenko *et al.*, 2012)

Cancer cells can invade as single cells or collectively and, the invasion mode can be amoeboid or mesenchymal like (Clark and Vignjevic, 2015; Friedl and Wolf, 2010). Mesenchymal invasion is dependent on integrins and proteases while the amoeboid like invasion is mediated by Rho/Rac signaling and actin remodeling which allows the cells to squeeze through soft matrixes. In general, stiffer ECM is proinvasive (Kai *et al.*, 2016). The rigidity provides more adhesion sites to the cells and the support allows them to use mechanical force to move forward.

The composition of the brain ECM suggests that the GBM cells utilize amoeboid type invasion. However, the variety of adhesion receptors and proteases expressed by the GBM cells indicates that they favor mesenchymal type invasion. Interestingly, depending on the matrix GBM cells are capable of both invasion types *in vitro* (Herrera-Perez *et al.*, 2015). GBM cells implanted into rat brain showed more Rho/Rac activity upon invasion along the white matter tracts than when moving within the perivascular space (Hirata *et al.*, 2012). These findings suggest that the GBM cells are plastic and can adjust their invasive mode according to their surroundings. Furthermore, the GBM cells themselves modulate the surrounding ECM. They secrete fibronectin, laminin and collagens which make the ECM stiffer and support their invasive phenotype (Bjerkvig *et al.*, 1989; Mahesparan *et al.*, 2003).

Recently, it was observed that the distant, invasive GBM cells form a functional network. The tumor cells are in contact within each other via long, actin rich membrane tubes termed tumor microtubes (TM) (Osswald *et al.*, 2015). TMs allow the tumor cells to communicate within each other despite the distance. For example, cells were able to send calcium signaling waves via TMs. Furthermore, when part of the tumor was exposed to radiation and cells had died, distant cells could use the TMs to travel to the site of damage and replace the dead cells. Based on these findings GBM tumors are very plastic and dynamic entities.

1.2.2. Current standard care of glioblastoma

The current treatment options of newly diagnosed and secondary glioblastoma rely heavily on surgical resection and radiation therapy of the tumor. The surgical resection of GBM is aimed to perform as aggressively as possible. To locate the tumor and map the functional brain regions functional magnetic resonance imaging and computational tomography are performed before the surgery (Raizer and Parsa, 2015). During the operation Gliolan (5aminolevulinic acid labeling) is administered to the patients. This fluorescent dye accumulates into the tumor cells allowing them to be visually detected during the operation. If the tumor is located near functional brain regions the craniotomy can be performed to awake patients (Raizer and Parsa, 2015). This allows the careful mapping of for example speech areas during the operation. After the surgery the patient is given concomitant radiation and chemotherapy. Currently only one drug, temozolomide (TMZ), is approved for the standard care of newly diagnosed glioblastoma.

However, due to the infiltrative growth the surgical resection is nearly always incomplete. The remaining tumor cells are capable of growing a new tumor and lead to recurrent glioblastoma for which there are no common treatment guidelines. Surgical resection and TMZ are often utilized. In addition, several targeted therapies have been investigated within recent years, which will be discussed below.

1.2.2.1. Temozolomide therapy

TMZ was discovered in 1980s (reviewed in (Friedman *et al.*, 2000)). Its effect is based on its capability to alkylate DNA in different positions. The most toxic methylation occurs in the O6-guanine position. This leads to defects in translation of DNA, subsequent cell cycle arrest and apoptotic death of the cancer cells. TMZ has been shown to effectively kill glioblastoma cells in mice xenograft studies (Friedman *et al.*, 1995; Plowman *et al.*, 1994). In phase III clinical trial (EORTC-NCIC trial) containing 573 high-grade glioma patients concomitant radiation and TMZ treatment after first surgery prolonged median patient survival from 12,1 months to 14,6 months (Stupp *et al.*, 2005). However, the treatment did not cure the patients but offered only prolonged survival. Within a five years follow-up time most of the patient had had a recurrent tumor and died of the disease (Stupp *et al.*, 2009). The major side-effects of TMZ treatment were grade 3 or 4 hematologic toxic effects which were observed in seven percent of patients (Stupp *et al.*, 2005).

In approximately 55% of the glioma patients TMZ treatment showed no effect. This is due to active O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase (MGMT) enzyme in the tumor cells. MGMT is an excision repair enzyme which removes the TMZ induced O6-guanine methylation and thereby prevents the TMZ induced cell death. However, in some patients the MGMT enzyme is not expressed because of epigenetic silencing of the MGMT promoter regions. This patient group responds well to TMZ treatment (Stupp *et al.*, 2005). The genetic testing for the MGMT status of the patients allows the targeting of the treatment. This is important especially for the elderly patients. However, the MGMT status may have potential prognostic value only among the patients with classical GBM subtype (Brennan *et al.*, 2013).

1.2.2.2. Targeted therapies

Because of the large number of patients that do not respond to TMZ therapy, new therapeutic applications are needed. One of the hallmarks of glioblastoma is excessive angiogenesis in the tumors. Therefore, anti-angiogenic therapy is a possible therapeutic option for glioblastoma. Bevacizumab is an antibody which neutralizes the vascular endothelial growth factor A and thus inhibits the signaling through vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (Presta *et al.*, 1997). This reduces the angiogenesis in the tumors and thereby limits tumor's oxygen supply and growth. Bevacizumab has been effective in animal models of several cancers including glioblastoma (Ferrara *et al.*, 2004; Jahnke *et al.*, 2009; Mathieu *et al.*, 2008) . In addition, it has been proven effective in two phase I clinical trials that included patients with advanced solid tumors including colon, renal, lung, breast and cervical cancer (Gordon *et al.*, 2001; Margolin *et al.*, 2001).

Because of the promising treatment results in other cancers it was considered for glioblastoma therapy too. So far several phase II trials administering bevacizumab with TMZ or other therapeutics to patients with recurrent GBM have been conducted (reviewed in (Field *et al.*, 2015; Niyazi *et al.*, 2016; Seystahl *et al.*, 2016; Venur *et al.*, 2015)). Majority of the studies administered bevacizumab in combination with irinotecan. A slight prolongation of progression free survival was observed in these studies. However, the majority of them included only small patient cohort and did not design the case controls properly. Due to these shortcomings bevacizumab has not been approved as a GBM therapy in Europe. In contrast, bevacizumab has been approved as standard care for recurrent glioblastomas in United States. This decision was especially encouraged by the increase in overall survival (9,2

months in bevacizumab treated vs 8,7 months in control group) observed in one study (Friedman et al., 2009).

To further evaluate the efficacy of bevacizumab in newly diagnosed GBM, two large, properly case controlled trials were recently conducted (Chinot *et al.*, 2014; Gilbert *et al.*, 2014). In these trials the bevacizumab treatment was combined with standard TMZ treatment. In neither of the trials the pre-set criteria for successful study were met. A subtle increase in progression free survival was observed but the overall survival was not improved. It has been suggested that the bevacizumab treatment may alter the glioblastoma phenotype into more invasive which gives an advantage for the tumor cells to escape the therapy (Baker *et al.*, 2014). In addition, the invasive tumor type is more difficult to locate in MRI and may result in false prolongation of progression free survival. Moreover, the tumor cells might adapt to the hypoxic tumor environment and change their metabolism towards glycolytic cycle and thus gain resistance to bevacizumab (Fack *et al.*, 2015).

In addition to bevacizumab, targeting of the integrins and EGF receptor have been investigated as treatment options for GBM (reviewed in (Chen *et al.*, 2016)). However, neither of these have been successful so far. More studies need to be conducted to fully understand the consequences and benefits of the targeted therapies in glioblastoma. In future trials, the increased knowledge of the molecular subclasses of GBM should be considered and may lead to more personalized treatment options.

2. Glioblastoma stem cells

2.1. Cancer stem cell hypothesis

Normal tissues contain a population of undifferentiated stem cells that are capable to differentiate into diverse cell types within an organism. In normal conditions, the stem cells divide asymmetrically which means that they give rice to one stem cell daughter cell and one differentiated daughter cell (Morrison and Kimble, 2006). This way they can maintain the stem cell number as constant while still providing new differentiated cells for the tissue. This is a key mechanism to regenerate tissues.

The cancer stem cell hypothesis originates from the investigation of hematological malignancies. It assumes that cancers consist of two types of tumor cells: stem-like cells and differentiated, bulk tumor cells. Similarly as normal stem cells in tissues, the population of the stem-like cancer cells is smaller but they are responsible for maintaining the tumor whereas the bulk tumor cells make up the most of the tumor volume. Acute myeloid leukemia initiates when genetic aberrations occur in the hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) or committed progenitor cells increasing their self-renewing capability (Bonnet and Dick, 1997). The transformed HSCs divide according to the hierarchical cell division mode of the normal HSCs but cannot give rise to normal progeny. Instead, they give rise to tumorigenic progenitor cells and thereby maintain the leukemia (Bonnet and Dick, 1997). Later on, similar observations of oncogenic stem cells have been made in solid tumors including breast, colon, pancreatic and lung cancers (reviewed in (O'Brien *et al.*, 2009)). These mutated tumor maintaining cells are termed cancer stem cells (CSC) (Clarke *et al.*, 2006). They share similarities with their stem cell counterparts of normal tissues. Their most important features are their ability to self-renew, to differentiate into non-tumorigenic cancer cells, to

phenocopy the original tumor of the patient and the capability to initiate tumor growth in rodents (Clarke *et al.*, 2006).

2.2. Discovery and characterization of glioblastoma stem cells

Like other solid tumors also GBMs are heterogeneous and contain populations of differentiated tumor cells and cells harboring similarities with neural stem cells. The nomenclature of the CSC population in GBMs has not been standardized. These cells are often called glioblastoma stem-like cells, glioma initiating cells, tumor propagating cells, glioma stem cells and glioblastoma stem cells. Here this cell population is referred to as glioblastoma stem cells (GSCs).

The first indication of GSCs was discovered in cultured human and rodent GBM cells when they were detected to be expressing neural stem cells markers nestin and CD133 under *in vitro* culture conditions (Ignatova *et al.*, 2002; 2002; Kondo *et al.*, 2004; Singh *et al.*, 2003). These cells were also capable of self-renewing. Next, GSCs were isolated from patientderived brain tumors simultaneously in two independent studies. One study isolated GSCs based on their expression of CD133 (Singh *et al.*, 2004). It was observed that already 100 CD133-positive cells were able to initiate brain tumor when implanted into mice in contrast to 100 000 CD133-negative cells that did not initiate tumors at all. Furthermore, the xenografted tumors successfully recapitulated the characteristics of the original human tumor. In the other study human primary brain tumor cells were cultured *in vitro* under conditions that were known to maintain neural stem cells (Galli *et al.*, 2004). Isolated tumors that recapitulated GBM hallmarks. In addition, the cells were able to differentiate into astrocytelike, neuron-like and oligodendrocyte-like tumor cells *in vitro*. Serial transplantation of these cells also proved their ability to self-renew and maintain the tumor.

After the first studies identifying the GSC populations within GBM tumors, numerous studies have tried to further characterize these cells. The neurosphere culture system where cells are kept under serum free conditions supplemented with recombinant EGF and FGF has been widely accepted method for passaging of the GSCs (De Witt Hamer *et al.*, 2008; Lee *et al.*, 2006). Using this culture system the GSCs can be derived from fresh GBM biopsies (Hasselbach *et al.*, 2014a). In addition, laminin coated cell culture plates have been suggested to be a reliable method for adherent GSC culture conditions (Pollard *et al.*, 2009). Using rat GBM models it has been proposed that the long-cultured cell-lines also contain a small population of GSCs and could be used as a source for the GSCs (Kondo *et al.*, 2004). However, this observation was later challenged because the cell-line derived GSCs do not resemble the characteristics of GSCs freshly isolated from the patient tumors (Ahmad *et al.*, 2014; De Witt Hamer *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, freshly isolated cells are thought to be a better source of GSCs.

Neural stem cells reside in a specialized niche in the subventricular zone and hippocampus in the adult mammalian brain (Doetsch *et al.*, 1999; Johansson *et al.*, 1999). The niche provides favorable growth conditions for the stem cells. Within the niche the stem cells are nurtured and kept under undifferentiated state. The neural stem cells are often in contact with the microvessels of the niche. These vessels lack the blood-brain barrier and thus are able provide nutrients and growth factors to the stem cells (Shen *et al.*, 2008; Shen *et al.*, 2004; Tavazoie *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, the ability to grow under hypoxic condition is a

typical feature of the stem cells. In human brain the oxygen concentration varies from 0.55% in the midbrain to 14% on the surface of the brain (De Filippis and Delia, 2011). Since the neural stem cell niche locates deep inside the brain it is relatively hypoxic. The hypoxia activates pathways that regulates the maintenance and self-renewal of the neural stem cells (Gustafsson *et al.*, 2005; Hu *et al.*, 2011).

The GSCs have been observed in various locations within the GBM tumors suggesting that there may be different niches for them. Like the neural stem cells, also the GSCs reside in hypoxic regions within the GBM tumors. In fact, hypoxia is an important factor responsible for the maintenance of the GSCs. It promotes the self-renewal and maintenance of the GSCs and even reprograms the bulk tumor cells into more stem-like state (Bar *et al.*, 2010; Heddleston *et al.*, 2009; Inukai *et al.*, 2015). The response for hypoxia may be regulated by both HIF1 α and HIF2 α proteins. HIF1 α expression was upregulated in majority of GBM cells in the hypoxic regions (Li *et al.*, 2009; Soeda *et al.*, 2009) whereas HIF2 α was upregulated specifically in CD133-positive GSCs (Li *et al.*, 2009). HIF2 α was upregulated in the GSCs even upon minor changes in the oxygen balance whereas HIF1 α upregulation was observed only under severely hypoxic conditions (Li *et al.*, 2009). Interestingly, silencing of HIF2 α reduced GSC ability to initiate tumors in mice (Li *et al.*, 2009) suggesting that hypoxia may be a critical factor for the growth of the GSCs. Furthermore, this interplay of various HIF proteins may give advantage for the GSCs to survive within the tumor core.

Paradoxically, GSCs reside also on perivascular niches next to tumor microvasculature (Calabrese *et al.*, 2007; Charles *et al.*, 2010; Lathia *et al.*, 2010). In normal tissues the blood vessels are the source for oxygen and maintain the correct tissue homeostasis. Therefore, it is possible that the tumor vessels provide oxygen or other nutrients to GSCs similarly to the normal neural stem cells. However, the abnormal vasculature of the GBM does not function properly. Despite the excessive tumor angiogenesis the GBM tissue remains hypoxic or even anoxic (Rampling *et al.*, 1994). Therefore, the proximity to vasculature may offer other benefits for the GSCs. Indeed, the endothelial cells were observed to produce nitric oxide that promoted the maintenance and self-renewal of the GSCs via activating Notch pathway (Charles *et al.*, 2010). *In vivo*, inhibition of the nitric oxide production inhibited tumor growth in spontaneous glioma mouse model (Charles *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, endothelial cells also expressed Notch ligands that activate the pathway leading to increased self-renewal of GSCs (Zhu *et al.*, 2011).

2.3. Contribution of glioblastoma stem cells to the tumor malignancy

The GSCs have been connected to several aspects that contribute to the lethality of GBM. Because the GSCs show enhanced capability to give rise to brain tumors in mice even when implanted in very low numbers (Singh *et al.*, 2004), they are thought to be the GBM initiating cells. Furthermore, somatic mutations introduced to neural stem cells are enough to induce spontaneous brain tumor formation in mice (Alcantara Llaguno *et al.*, 2009).

The GSCs exhibit increased resistance to radiation therapy. They rapidly activate the DNA damage checkpoint after radiation therapy via L1-CAM mediated activation of c-MYC (Bao *et al.*, 2006a; Cheng *et al.*, 2011b). In addition, they simultaneously activate the G2-M cell-cycle checkpoint after the exposure to the radiation (Ahmed *et al.*, 2015). This gives them advantage to avoid the radiation induced cell death. Therefore, the concordant inhibition of cell-cycle checkpoint and DNA repair machinery may sensitize the GSCs to radiation therapy

(Ahmed *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, the GSCs show increased resistant towards TMZ chemotherapy. This has been investigated utilizing a genetic glioma mouse model where neural stem cells were labeled with nestin-GFP transgene and bred with genetically engineered mouse model that harbors mutations in p53, NF1 and PTEN (Chen *et al.*, 2012). These mice spontaneously form astrocytic tumors with full penetrance (Alcantara Llaguno *et al.*, 2009; Chen *et al.*, 2012). Interestingly, the tumors that arose contained two type of cells: proliferative, GFP-negative tumor cells and stem cell like, non-proliferative, GFP-positive cells. When TMZ was administered to the mice the GPF-negative cells died while GFP-positive cells persisted and even gave rise to new tumors (Chen *et al.*, 2012). This suggests that the GSCs are resistant to the TMZ-therapy possibly due to their slow proliferation rate. Moreover, via their capability to give rise to tumorous progeny they may cause the tumor relapse.

The normal neural stem cells are typically passive cells that remain in their niche under normal conditions (Kazanis, 2012). However, during pathological conditions they actively migrate to the sites of injury (Kazanis, 2012; Kojima *et al.*, 2010). Similarly, the GSCs show increased potential for motility. When GSCs were implanted into mice brain they produced more invasive tumors than their non-stem-like counterparts (Cheng *et al.*, 2011a). In human tumor biopsies and xenograft models the GSCs have been located to the invasive tumor front suggesting that they play a role in the spreading of the tumor (Cheng *et al.*, 2011a; Kitai *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, they expressed various proteases that are known to facilitate cell migration (Cheng *et al.*, 2011a). *In vitro* upregulation of nestin has indeed been connected to enhanced invasive potential of glioma cells (Ishiwata *et al.*, 2011).

The relationship between the vasculature and the GSCs may be mutually beneficial. GSCs can secrete vascular endothelial growth factor that can induce the tumor angiogenesis (Bao *et al.*, 2006b). Interestingly, the GSCs may possess capability to transform into endothelial cells or to pericytes that cover the vessel walls (Cheng *et al.*, 2013; Ricci-Vitiani *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, the GBM tumors exhibit vasculogenic mimicry, a process in which tumor cells form tubular structures that resemble blood vessels. The GSCs may form these tubes and enhance the tumor blood flow (Chiao *et al.*, 2011; El Hallani *et al.*, 2010; 2010). However, this phenomena has been challenged by suggesting that rather than transforming into endothelial cells the GSCs are capable of fusing with the existing endothelial cells and forming hybrid vessels (El Hallani *et al.*, 2014). This aids the growth of the tumor vasculature which is responsible for providing the oxygen and nutrient supply to the tumor and thus promotes the tumor growth.

2.4. Controversies in the glioblastoma stem cell hypothesis

In a majority of the investigations conducted so far the identification of the GSCs is based on marker proteins that the cells express. The first markers used for describing the GSC population were CD133 and nestin. They were both promising candidates because they are expressed by the neural stem cells and both of their expression is associated with poor patient survival (Zhang *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, CD133 proved out to be essential for GSC maintenance since silencing of CD133 reduced the proliferation and self-renewal capability of the GSCs (Brescia *et al.*, 2013). However, the role of CD133 as a universal marker for the GSCs was challenged once it was observed that also CD133-negative cells were able to form tumors in rodents (Beier *et al.*, 2007; Wang *et al.*, 2008). In addition, the CD133-negative cells were able to give rise to CD133-positive cells in rats (Wang *et al.*, 2008). This observation

was partly explained by the finding that the CD133 can shuttle between the plasma membrane and cytoplasm of the cells (Brescia *et al.*, 2013). Majority of the experiments in which the GSCs are pooled based on CD133 utilize fluorescent activated cell sorting based on membranous CD133 expression. Therefore, these studies could miss the GSCs population where CD133 is cytoplasmic at the time of sorting.

After that, several new GSC markers have been searched in hopes of clarifying the characterization of the GSCs. Mostly proteins that are expressed by the normal neural stem cells have been considered as potential markers. The suggested proteins include several transcription factors NANOG, OCT4, SALL4, SOX2, STAT3, Olig2, Bmi1, c-Myc, KLF4 and cell adhesion receptors CD44, L1CAM, integrin alpha6 and CD15 (reviewed in (Bradshaw et al., 2016)). However, none of these markers have been exclusive in describing the GSC population still today. Based on genetic profiling the GBMs consist of both diploid and aneuploid cells which have different tumorigenic properties in vivo (Stieber et al., 2014). The aneuploid cells formed tumors more aggressively in mice and resulted in shorter survival times. Since the enhanced tumorigenity is characteristic for GSCs it could be expected that they are mostly aneuploid cells. However, when the GSCs were isolated using different cell surface markers the percentage of the diploid and aneuploid cells within the cell pool varied (Stieber et al., 2014). The ratio of the diploid and aneuploid cells was altered depending on the marker used for the sorting. This suggests that the separation of the GSC population based on cell surface markers cannot discriminate the genetic heterogeneity within the tumor. Therefore, new studies and methods to isolate and characterize the GSCs are needed. Furthermore, it should be considered if stemness could be discriminated by a functional criteria instead of specific markers.

Furthermore, the hierarchical cell division theory of the GSCs has not been proved. Recent report studying the matching pairs of GSCs and their differentiated tumor cell counterparts suggest that most of the GBM cells have the capability to present stem cell characteristics depending on the environment (Schneider *et al.*, 2016). Moreover, both the hypoxic tumor environment and the FGF secreted by adjacent endothelial cells were capable of reprogramming the differentiated tumor cells into more stem like state (Fessler *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, it still remains unsolved whether all the GBM cells possess stem-like cell properties or whether the GSCs are a separate pool of cells within the tumor.

3. Netrins

Netrins constitute a conserved family of extracellular matrix proteins. They have been named after a Sanskrit word netr which means the one who guides. Five secreted netrins, (NTN1-5) and two membrane bound forms (NTN-G1 and NTN-G2) have been discovered in vertebrates (Nakashiba *et al.*, 2002; Serafini *et al.*, 1996; Serafini *et al.*, 1994; Yamagishi *et al.*, 2015; Yin *et al.*, 2000). NTNs 2 and -3 are homologous to each other. NTN2 is expressed in avians and zebrafish while NTN3 is the counterpart in mammals. Uncoordinated-6 (UNC6) and netrin-A and -B (NetA and –B) represent the *Caernohabtidis elegans* (*C. elegans*) and *Drosophila melanogaster* (*D. melanogaster*) counterparts of the vertebrate NTNs (Harris *et al.*, 1996; Mitchell *et al.*, 1996a). NTN1 is the prototype of the family and is most widely studied.

Structurally NTNs resemble laminins and consist of three distinct domains: N-terminal, central and C-terminal domains (figure 3). The N-terminal domain of NTNs 1-3 and NTN-G1-2 is homologous to laminin gamma chain whereas in NTN4 it resembles laminin beta chain

(figure 3). The central part of NTNs contains three EGF repeats homologous to laminin domain VI (Serafini *et al.*, 1994). On the contrary, the C-terminal domain, called NTR domain, is not related to the laminin domains. This domain shares similarity with the C-termini of complement proteins, Frizzled-related proteins, type I collagen C-proteinase enhancer proteins, and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (Banyai and Patthy, 1999). Additionally, the membrane bound NTN-Gs have glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor in their C-terminal tail (Nakashiba *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, the newly found member of the family, NTN5 lacks the N-terminal domain and one of the EGF repeats (Yamagishi *et al.*, 2015).

Within this thesis the functions of NTN1 and -4 in glioblastoma were investigated. Therefore their basic functions during development and cancer are reviewed in the following chapters.



Figure 3. Schematic illustration of the structure of netrins. I: N-terminal domain related to laminin γ -chain, II: 3 EGF repeats, III: NTR domain, IV: N-terminal domain related to laminin β -chain, ~: GPI-anchor

3.1 Various roles of Netrins in development

3.1.1. Netrin-1 in axon guidance

NTNs were first investigated in *C. elegans* where the loss of UNC6 resulted in defects in axon pathfinding (Brenner, 1974; Hedgecock *et al.*, 1990). Subsequently, similar defects were discovered in vertebrates upon partial NTN1 deletion (Serafini *et al.*, 1996). Recently, these findings were confirmed utilizing a mouse model exhibiting complete loss of NTN1. It was found to be embryonically lethal approximately by embryonic day 14.5 due to the failed axon pathfinding (Bin *et al.*, 2015).

NTN1 plays a dual function in axon guidance: it can either act as axon attracting or repelling cue (Hong *et al.*, 1999). These effects are mediated via two receptor families: the deleted in colorectal cancer (DCC) family that contains DCC and neogenin receptors (Engelkamp, 2002; Keino-Masu *et al.*, 1996) and the uncoordinated-5 (UNC5) family comprised of UNC5A-D (Leonardo *et al.*, 1997). The axon attracting effects appear to be mediated via the DCC receptors in coordination with the Down syndrome cell adhesion molecule (DSCAM) and repellent effects via binding to the UNC5 receptors (Keino-Masu *et al.*, 1996; Leonardo *et al.*, 1997; Ly *et al.*, 2008).

The axons sense their environment via specialized structures called growth cones, which are very motile and responsive to many extracellular guidance signals (Geraldo and Gordon-Weeks, 2009; Kolodkin and Tessier-Lavigne, 2011; Lowery and Van Vactor, 2009). The shape of the growth cones resembles human hand: it contains spike like filopodial protrusions and sheet like lamellipodia between the spikes. The growth cones undergo fast changes during the axon guidance. These structural changes are dependent on the microtubule and actin dynamics within the growth cone (Geraldo and Gordon-Weeks, 2009). To be able to turn the growth cone must be able to grow from the other side while retracting from another. Because the axon extensions are very far away from the cell body and nucleus, it is essential that the proteins needed for the growth of the axon can be produced locally (Piper *et al.*, 2015). In this process the microtubules are needed for polypeptide chain elongation and for the delivery of ribonucleoparticles whereas the F-actin is needed for the initiation of the protein synthesis.

These growth cones are responsive to a diffusive NTN gradient secreted by the floor plate cells in the developing embryo. NTN1 acts as a polarizing agent which leads to DCC and DSCAM clustering and to the coupling of microtubules on one side of the growth cone (Huang *et al.*, 2015; Jain and Welshhans, 2015; Qu *et al.*, 2013; 2013). These receptors then function as signaling platforms, which can regulate both the local protein synthesis and microtubule growth to orient the axon steering (Piper *et al.*, 2015; Tcherkezian *et al.*, 2010). When the axon crosses the midline it starts to express UNC5 receptor and its response to NTN1 changes to repulsive (Leonardo *et al.*, 1997). This allows the elongation of the axon on the other side of the embryo.

3.1.2. Functions of netrins in the morphogenesis of epithelial structures

In addition to axon guidance, NTNs have been suggested to play a role in several developmental processes of various epithelial structures. During lung development NTN1and -4 are expressed by the epithelial cells on the stalk area of the developing lung bud (Dalvin *et al.*, 2003; Liu *et al.*, 2004). After secretion NTNs accumulate to the basement membrane or to the epithelial cells located behind the tip cells (Liu *et al.*, 2004). UNC5B receptor has opposite expression pattern than NTNs and is expressed by the tip cells of the budding lung. In addition, the tip cells show increased phosphorylation of ERK-proteins. Interestingly, the addition of exogenous NTN to 3D-lung bud cultures abolish the budding or even reverse its direction towards the lumen of the lung bud (Liu *et al.*, 2004). It also decreases the overall levels of phosphorylated ERK. This suggests that NTNs at the stalk area prevent the lung bud formation by reducing ERK phosphorylation. Authors examined possible receptors involved and suggest UNC5B to mediate this cascade but do not exclusively rule out integrins or other NTN receptors.

During mammary gland development NTN1 is expressed at preluminal cells of terminal end buds (Srinivasan *et al.*, 2003). Neogenin on the other hand is expressed by cap cells neighboring the preluminal cells. During this process mammary gland branches elongate via growth of the cap cells on the terminal end buds. It is important that the terminal end bud keeps its correct organization where the cap cells are in contact with the luminal cells behind them (Silberstein, 2001). In mammary glands where both NTN1 and neogenin are deleted, the cap cells move uncoordinatedly and creat gaps between the luminal cells and the cap cells (Srinivasan *et al.*, 2003). In addition, mammary glands lacking NTN1 or neogenin display loss of adhesion between the cap and luminal cells although their expression of E- and P-

cadherin remain normal. Therefore NTN1-neogenin interaction may be important stabilizer of the epithelial cell adhesions.

In developing pancreas NTN1 is expressed in various populations of epithelial cells in ductal structures, developing islet cells and around undifferentiated acinar structures (Yebra *et al.*, 2003) whereas NTN4 is expressed in blood vessels within ductal structures (Yebra *et al.*, 2011). However, both NTN1 and NTN4 serve as adhesive surface to pancreatic epithelial cells (Yebra *et al.*, 2003; Yebra *et al.*, 2011). NTN1 and alpha6beta4 and alpha3beta1 integrin receptors co-localize on the surface of the epithelial cells. Furthermore, NTN1 binding to integrins via its C-terminal domain mediate the migratory effects (Yebra *et al.*, 2003). The two integrin receptors co-operate in binding to NTN1 and possibly activate c-MET receptor and subsequent epithelial cell migration pathways. NTN1 induces the migration in a haptotactic manner only and not chemotactically as during axon guidance. Interestingly, majority of the cells migrating along NTN1 are undifferentiated pancreatic progenitor cells. Similarly, NTN4 is observed to bind to integrins alpha2beta1 and alpha3beta1 (Yebra *et al.*, 2011). This binding induces the expression of several cell differentiation related genes suggesting that NTN4 is controlling the differentiation of pancreatic epithelial cells. (Yebra *et al.*, 2011).

During invertebrate development, NTN acts as polarizing factor. Migration of specialized gonadal cell, anchor cell, of *C. elegans* is dependent on the guidance of UNC-6 and UNC-40, *C. elegans* counterparts for NTNs and DCC, respectively (Hagedorn *et al.*, 2013; Sherwood and Sternberg, 2003; Ziel *et al.*, 2009). UNC-6 clusters to the basement membrane through which the anchor cell invades to reach the vulval epithelium and creates vulval-uterine connection. Contact of anchor cell with UNC-6 leads to rapid polarization of the anchor cell which then allows it to invade through the basement membrane cells (Wang *et al.*, 2014). During the polarization UNC-40 receptors cluster to the site of UNC-6 source, followed by the modulation of the F-actin cytoskeleton. This clustering marks the place for the invasive protrusion.

During the development of *D. melanogaster* NTNs are involved in the development of the midgut. First, two masses of mesenchymal primary midgut epithelial cells (PMEC) are located in the opposite ends of the embryo (Tepass and Hartenstein, 1994). They start to migrate towards each other along the visceral mesoderm cells that reside on the outer membranes of the embryo (Tepass and Hartenstein, 1994). In the course of the migration the PMECs undergo mesenchymal to epithelial transition and form epithelium (Tepass and Hartenstein, 1994). The visceral mesoderm cells secrete NetA and -B (*D. melanogaster* counterparts for NTNs) while the PMECs express NTN receptor Frazzled (*D. melanogaster* counterpart for DCC) (Mitchell *et al.*, 1996b). NetA and –B function parallel on this process and are responsible for maintaining the motility and correct shape of the migrating PMECs. Moreover, they induce the polarization and subsequent mesenchymal to epithelial transition of the PMECS. This is mediated via the clustering of Filamin-1, F-Actin and E-cadherin to the contact points with the visceral mesoderm (Pert *et al.*, 2015).

3.2. Netrins in cancer

3.2.1. Netrin-1 as a regulator of cancer cell invasion

NTN1 has been linked to the motility of numerous cancers (table 1). These include both epithelial cancers including colorectal, breast, pancreatic and hepatocellular cancers. In

addition, NTN1 has been linked to the progression of nervous system cancers such as medulloblastoma and neuroblastoma. NTN1 has various effects to cell behavior and will be discussed in more detail in following sections.

Table 1. Netrin-1 expression and functions in various cancers. + expression has no change	je
in comparison to normal tissue, ++ modest increase, +++ strong upregulation and - indicate	S
decreased expression level (modified from (Ylivinkka et al., 2016))	

.

. . . .

Cancer type		Colon	Breast	Pancreatic	Lung	Liver	Medullo- blastoma	Neuro- blastoma
tumor	low grade/ non-metastatic tumors	N/R	+	-	+++	+++	N/R	N/R
'ession in tissue	high grade/ metastatic tumors	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++
Ехрі	brain metastases	+	++	N/R	+++	N/R	N/A	N/A
	protection from apoptosis	х	x	x	х	N/R	х	x
Effects	motility promoting effect	x	x	x	x	x	х	x
	suggested as biomarker	N/R	N/R	х	N/R	N/R	х	х

3.2.1.1. Epithelial cancers

_

In a majority of colorectal cancers both DCC and UNC5 receptors are downregulated (reviewed in Mehlen and Tauszig-Delamasure, 2014). However, the majority of tumors are expressing NTN1 (Paradisi *et al.*, 2008). In addition, colon carcinoma and adenoma cell lines show upregulated expression of NTN1 whereas the expression of DCC or UNC5 receptors were downregulated (Paradisi *et al.*, 2008; Rodrigues *et al.*, 2007). NTN1 upregulation promots invasiveness and growth of the cancer cells lacking DCC both in vitro and in vivo (Rodrigues *et al.*, 2007). The invasion promoting effects of NTN1 were mediated via RhoA, Rac1, Cdc42 and PI3K signaling. On the contrary, DCC acts as a tumor suppressor gene by reducing cancer cell invasion and metastasis *in vivo* (Rodrigues *et al.*, 2007). DCC expressing tumor xenografts hava same growth potential as control tumors but invade significantly less to lymph nodes or to lungs of the mice (Rodrigues *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, under hypoxic conditions DCC expression increas the percentage of apoptotic cells but not under normoxic conditions. Interestingly, NTN1 upregulation can not rescue DCC induced apoptosis (Rodrigues *et al.*, 2007) supporting the pro-invasive rather than survival promoting function of NTN1.

In breast cancer NTN1 is expressed especially in the metastatic cell lines (Fitamant *et al.*, 2008). When NTN1 expression was analyzed in human tumor biopsies it was strongly expressed in tumors with lymph node or other distant organ metastasis while tumors that

were restricted to breast area displayed only modest expression (Fitamant *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, NTN1 expression was analyzed in two mouse breast cancer cell lines, 67NR and 4T1, which differ in their metastatic capability. Interestingly, the non-metastasizing 67NR cell line has lower NTN1 expression than metastatic 4T1 cell line. Expression pattern of classical NTN receptors does not differ between these cell lines. These finding suggest a pro-invasive role for NTN1 in breast cancer but the cellular mechanisms remain largely unknown.

Moreover, NTN1 expression has been found to increase pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) cell invasiveness and apoptotic resistance. In addition, it serves as adhesive surface for the cells *in vitro* (Dumartin *et al.*, 2010). NTN1 was also observed to mediate the neural invasion of PDAC in a mouse model (Wang *et al.*, 2015). The expression of NTN1 is regulated via NFkb signaling activation (Wang *et al.*, 2015) similarly as observed previously during colorectal cancer progression (Paradisi *et al.*, 2008; Paradisi *et al.*, 2009). In addition, NTN1 also serves as prognostic factor in pancreatic cancer (Link *et al.*, 2007). On the contrary, a recent study suggest NTN1 to be a tumor suppressor in low-grade pancreatic adenocarcinoma via suppressing growth by UNC5B mediated integrin beta4 downregulation (An *et al.*, 2016). However, NTN1 upregulation is observed in higher grade pancreatic adenocarcinomas correspondingly to previous studies (An *et al.*, 2016).

Moreover, NTN1 increases the proliferation and migration of hepatocellular carcinoma cells (Qi *et al.*, 2015). During NTN1 treatment the cancer cells upregulate yes associated kinase (YAP), an oncogene that belongs to the Hippo signaling pathway (Qi *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, under hypoxic conditions NTN1 induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition and upregulation of invasion promoting inflammatory molecules of the hepatocellular cancer cells (Han *et al.*, 2015; Yan *et al.*, 2014).

3.2.1.2. Cancers of the neural system

NTN1 may promote also the invasiveness of tumors of the nervous system. Its expression increases the invasiveness of medulloblastoma cells via neogenin and UN5B receptors (Akino *et al.*, 2014). Increased levels of NTN1 have been detected in the urine of medulloblastoma patients. Surgical resection of the tumor significantly decreases the levels of NTN1 in the urine suggesting a potential role as a biomarker for NTN1 (Akino *et al.*, 2014). Interestingly, in subcutaneous medulloblastoma mouse xenograft model NTN1 upregulation also increases the vascularity of the tumors (Akino *et al.*, 2014). These findings indicate a role for NTN1 in the progression of tumors in the nervous system.

In an extracranial neural tumor, neuroblastoma, the expression of NTN1 in tumor tissue is associated with poor patient prognosis (Delloye-Bourgeois *et al.*, 2009b). NTN1 is strongly expressed in aggressive, stage 4 neuroblastoma. On the contrary, expression of the DCC receptor is low and UNC5A-B modest in these tumors. NTN1 expression is connected to increased apoptosis resistance of the neuroblastoma cells (Delloye-Bourgeois *et al.*, 2009b). Interestingly, NTN1 inhibition also leads to a decrease in the migratory capacity of the neuroblastoma cells. In a mouse model where NTN1 negative primary neuroblastoma tumors were xenografted into mice the emerging metastatic lesions in lungs or heart are NTN1 positive. This raises the question: why is NTN1 upregulated during the metastatic cascade? Does NTN give advantage in this process? Authors suggest that NTN1 expression allows the tumor cells to survive better outside the primary tumor (Delloye-Bourgeois *et al.*, 2009b). However, considering the evidence of the proinvasive nature of NTN1 in epithelial

cancers it may regulate the invasiveness of neuroblastoma as well. Moreover, a recent study suggests that NTN1 is an independent prognostic factor in brain metastases of various cancers including non-small cell lung cancer, breast cancer and melanoma (Harter *et al.*, 2014).

In the light of these observations NTN1 seems to be strongly linked to cell invasion and metastatic growth. However, not much is known about NTN1 driven molecular mechanisms in cancer cell invasion. Since in many cancers the expression of NTN1 and DCC or UNC5 does not correlate there may be novel signaling pathways mediating the effects of NTN1.

3.2.2. Netrin-4 has a dual function in tumorigenesis

Besides NTN1, also NTN4 is connected to cancer cell invasion. However, its role is contradictory: some reports indicate that NTN4 is a negative regulator of tumor cell motility while others report the opposite.

In breast cancer NTN4 is downregulated in majority of primary tumors while upregulated in invasive tumor cells (Esseghir *et al.*, 2007). Similarly, NTN4 is upregulated in breast and Müllerian carcinoma effusions (Yuan *et al.*, 2011). NTN4 inhibition by microRNA miR-196a results in lowered proliferation and migration rates of cervical cancer cells (Zhang *et al.*, 2013). Upregulation of NTN4 expression is also observed in invasive glioblastoma cells when compared to tumor core (Hoelzinger *et al.*, 2005). Furthermore, NTN4 upregulation in invasive melanoma tumors was recently reported (Jayachandran *et al.*, 2016). Silencing of NTN4 decreases melanoma cell invasiveness *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In gastric cancer NTN4 mediates the proliferation and motility of cancer cells *in vitro* via neogenin receptor (Lv *et al.*, 2015). NTN4 expression in human gastric cancer biopsies is also associated with poor patient prognosis (Lv *et al.*, 2015). This observation is in discordance with previous study where the upregulated NTN4 expression in breast cancer biopsies predicts patient prognosis (Esseghir *et al.*, 2007).

On the contrary, NTN4 protein expression has been also linked to tumor suppressor functions. When screened in a variety of cell-lines NTN4 expression is observed to be higher in normal cells, such as endothelial and epithelial cells and fibroblasts than in transformed cancer cell lines (Nacht *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, the addition of exogenous NTN4 has little effect on primary cells but inhibited proliferation of cancer cell lines. Interestingly, all cells are responsive to low concentrations of recombinant NTN4 but increasing concentrations show inhibitory effects. In addition, tumor growth suppressing functions of NTN4 have been observed in colorectal cancer *in vivo* (Eveno *et al.*, 2011; Eveno *et al.*, 2013). Upon NTN4 overexpression in colorectal carcinoma cells growth of the primary tumor is suppressed in mouse xenograft model (Eveno *et al.*, 2011; Eveno *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, the number of liver, lung and lymph node metastases is decreased too (Eveno *et al.*, 2013). NTN4 expressing tumors show less tumor angiogenesis and more apoptosis among the tumor cells (Eveno *et al.*, 2011). However, exogenous NTN4 addition does not affect cancer cell apoptosis or proliferation *in vitro*. Therefore, authors suggest that the effect on the primary tumor is due to the reduced tumor angiogenesis.

3.2.3. Netrins as tumor cell survival factors

NTNs have been implicated to act as survival factors in many forms of cancer. Based on these observations Mehlen and colleagues have presented dependence receptor hypothesis where the proapototic functions of the NTN1 receptors are prevented by interaction with NTN1 (Llambi *et al.*, 2001; Mehlen *et al.*, 1998; Mehlen and Bredesen, 2004). Both DCC and UNC5 receptors contain so called death domain in their cytoplasmic tail. When the receptor is not engaged with NTN1 the death domain is exposed and allows the binding of caspase-9. This leads to caspase-3 activation and subsequent apoptosis. However, the caspase activation sequence is prevented during the binding of NTN1 which leads to apoptosis resistance. Therefore, NTN1 upregulation has been suggested to be a way to gain survival advantage for several cancers including colorectal cancer, non-small cell lung cancer, neuroblastoma and metastatic breast cancer (Delloye-Bourgeois *et al.*, 2009a; Delloye-Bourgeois *et al.*, 2009b; Fitamant *et al.*, 2008; Mazelin *et al.*, 2004).

4. Notch signaling

In this thesis NTN1 was observed to interact with various components of Notch signaling pathway. Furthermore, it was detected to induce Notch signaling. Therefore, the basics of Notch signaling and its functions in GBM are discussed in the following chapter.

4.1. Basics of Notch signaling

Notch receptors constitute a conserved family of transmembrane receptors. The name originates from the phenotype of a mutant *D. melanogaster* that had notched wings. Four receptors, Notch1-4 (Ellisen *et al.*, 1991; Lardelli *et al.*, 1994; Uyttendaele *et al.*, 1996; Weinmaster *et al.*, 1992), and five known ligands, Jagged1-2 and delta-like 1,-2 and 4 exist in mammalians. The Notch proteins consists of a large extracellular domain containing 36 epidermal growth factor—like repeats, a single transmembrane domain, and an intracellular domain containing a recombining binding protein suppressor of hairless (RBP-JK) -associated molecule region, ankyrin domains, and a proline-glutamate-serine-threonine-rich region.

The Notch receptors are transcribed in the endoplasmic reticulum as pre-receptors (figure 4.). To yield active receptor they first undergo O-fucosylation in the endoplasmic reticulum and furin cleavage in the S1 site at the Golgi apparatus (reviewed in (Haines and Irvine, 2003)). This is then followed by second glycosylation and transport to cell surface. Once the receptor on the cell surface comes in contact with its ligand on neighboring, signal sending cells it undergoes conformational change and a cleavage by ADAM10 or -17 proteinase (Schroeter *et al.*, 1998). The endocytosis of the ligand to the signal sending cell provides a pulling force which then allows the intramembrane cleavage of the Notch receptor by presenilin1 protease within the γ -secretase complex (Meloty-Kapella *et al.*, 2012; Struhl and Greenwald, 1999). The intracellular part of the receptor is endocytosed (Vaccari *et al.*, 2008) and transported to the nucleus (Schroeter *et al.*, 1998). In the nucleus it binds to mastermind-like 1 (MAML) and RBP-JK to form complex that activates transcription in the target genes (Nam *et al.*, 2006; Wilson and Kovall, 2006).

During developmental processes the Notch signaling pathway is one of the major regulators of cellular differentiation. The tissues that are dependent on Notch include CNS, hematopoietic system, vascular system, muscles, bones and several organs including heart,

skin, kidneys, lungs and pancreas (reviewed in Artavanis-Tsakonas *et al.*, 1995; Kopan and Ilagan, 2009; Xu *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, the Notch signaling has been connected to several pathological conditions including various cancers, fibrosis, Down syndrome, Alzheimer's disease and multiple sclerosis (reviewed in Lobry *et al.*, 2011; Mathieu *et al.*, 2013; Xu *et al.*, 2012) In this thesis, the Notch pathway functions have been studied in GBM and thus it will focus on reviewing the functions of Notch signaling in GBM in more detail.



Figure 4. Notch signaling. Schematic illustration of the Notch receptor maturation and activation. Modified from (Kopan and Ilagan, 2009)

4.2. Notch signaling in glioblastoma

The first indications of the importance of Notch signaling in glioma biology were the observations of upregulated expression of Notch1, Jagged1 and Delta-like1 in several long cultured GBM cell-lines and tissues of primary gliomas (Purow *et al.*, 2005; Shih and Holland, 2006). In the glioma tissues strong nuclear Notch staining was detected, which indicated activation of the signaling pathway (Purow *et al.*, 2005). In addition, the conserved Notch-target genes HES1 and HEY1 were expressed in all astrocytomas suggesting activated Notch signaling within the tumors (Chen *et al.*, 2010). Silencing of Notch1, Jagged1 or Delta-like1 with shRNAs in GBM cell-lines decreased their proliferation and tumorigenesis in mice

(Purow *et al.*, 2005). Correspondingly, the inhibition of Notch signaling using γ -secretase inhibitor (GSI) resulted in decreased proliferation of the GBM cell-lines (Chen *et al.*, 2010).

Interestingly, the different Notch receptors may have independent functions in gliomas. Notch1 was observed to be expressed in all astrocytic tumors whereas Notch2 was expressed selectively in a subset of the GBMs (Shih and Holland, 2006). Similarly, another studies noted that Notch2 and Notch4 were highly expressed in GBM whereas Notch1 was more strongly expressed in lower grade astrocytomas (Chen *et al.*, 2010; Dell'albani *et al.*, 2014). It was also suggested that the expression of different Notch receptors could be used as markers for glioma grading (Dell'albani *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, in a mouse model where activated Notch receptors were overexpressed in the eyes of embryonic mice, Notch3 receptor showed most tumorigenic potential (Pierfelice *et al.*, 2011). The increase in Notch1 or -2 activation resulted in small tumors whereas active-Notch3 overexpression resulted in glioma-like tumors that were invading towards the brain along the optic nerve (Pierfelice *et al.*, 2011).

Notch signaling maintains the neural stem cells in undifferentiated state especially under hypoxic conditions (Gustafsson et al., 2005). Since the GBMs are also very hypoxic, Notch signaling is an interesting candidate pathway for regulating the GSC maintenance. Indeed, the first indications that Notch pathway is linked to the GSCs was made already during the initial discovery of the GSCs. Upon genetic profiling of the newly characterized GSCs, expression of Notch pathway candidates was detected with QRT-PCR analysis (Galli et al., 2004). Later the activation of the Notch signaling in these GSCs was verified by HES1 expression that diminished upon GSI treatment (Fan et al., 2010). The treatment also blocked cell proliferation and reduced the number of nestin- and CD133 positive cells via caspase-3 activation and subsequent apoptosis (Fan et al., 2010). Inhibition of Notch signaling by GSIs also prevented the formation of neurospheres of primary GBM cells suggesting reduced capability to maintain GSCs phenotype (Chen et al., 2010). Furthermore, the GSCs that have high endogenous Notch activation are more sensitive towards the GSI treatment and undergo cell cycle arrest and apoptosis upon the treatment (Kristoffersen et al., 2013). On the contrary, it was reported that Notch inhibition would affect only the initial capability to form the neurospheres but would not affect self-renewal or the clonogenity (Kristoffersen et al., 2013).

Moreover, Notch pathway upregulation and enhanced nestin expression was observed (Shih and Holland, 2006) in spontaneous glioma mouse model induced by constantly active Kras (Holland *et al.*, 2000). It was suggested that Notch signaling could promote the stemness and nestin expression of the GBM cells. This observation was further validated in *in vitro* conditions using U251MG cells. The forced upregulation of the Notch intracellular domain upregulated nestin expression suggesting that nestin may be a transcriptional target of Notch (Shih and Holland, 2006). Furthermore, both local administration of GSI and pretreatment of GSC cell-lines with GSI reduced the capability of GSCs to initiate tumor growth in intracranial xenografts (Chen *et al.*, 2010; Fan *et al.*, 2010). GSI treatment also led to the generation of more differentiated and angiogenic tumors (Kristoffersen *et al.*, 2014).

Since the GSCs are more resistant to radiation and chemotherapy, inhibition of Notch signaling is a putative way to sensitize the cells to treatment. Indeed, the GSI treatment sensitized especially the GSC population to radiation (Wang *et al.*, 2010). Similarly, knockdown of Notch1 or Notch2 increased the radiosensitivity of GSCs whereas the introduction of constitutively active intracellular domains of Notch1 or Notch2 rescued the

GSI induced sensitization (Wang *et al.*, 2010). The inhibition of Notch signaling with GSIs in combination with inhibition of another developmental pathway, Sonic Hedgehog, induced the sensitivity of GSCs to TMZ treatment (Ulasov *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, the GSI treatment combined with radiation therapy and temozolomide prolonged the survival of orthotopic glioblastoma (Yahyanejad *et al.*, 2016).

In addition to the Notch signaling targeting via GSIs, it has been suggested that targeting the transcription co-activator of Notch signaling would be more effective. Indeed, expression of a dominant negative form of mastermind-like 1 protein caused G0/G1 cell cycle arrest and induced apoptosis in GBM cell lines (Chen *et al.*, 2010). When LN428 cell expressing this dominant negative form of MAML protein were intracranially xenografted to mice the resulting tumors had less Hes1 and Hes5 expression than control tumors suggesting reduced Notch signaling (Chen *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, the GCSs express the RBPJ transcription activator and require its expression for proliferation and self-renewal (Xie *et al.*, 2016). In addition, silencing of RBPJ in GSCs reduced their tumorigenic properties *in vivo* (Xie *et al.*, 2016).

Encouraged by these preclinical findings the GSIs have been also tested in clinical trials for glioma treatment. To first clinical study patients with various advanced solid tumors were recruited (Krop et al., 2012). 42 glioma patients were also included to the study. Varying dosages (450mg-4200mg) of GSI were orally administered to patients. Also the frequency and length of treatment varied. The most beneficial treatment responses were observed among the glioma patients: one patient with an anaplastic astrocytoma had a complete recovery and the survival time of 10 other glioma patients prolonged (Krop et al., 2012). However, the patient cohort was too small to statistically evaluate the effects regarding the survival of the patients. After these promising results another phase 0/I study was performed aiming to investigate the ability of a GSI based drug to penetrate the blood brain barrier and its effect to Notch signaling and to GSCs within GBM tumors (Xu et al., 2016). The evaluation of the survival of the patients was not the primary objective and only 20 newly diagnosed GBM patients were recruited to this study. GSI was administered as the only drug before surgery and together with normal TMZ dosage and radiation therapy after surgical resection of the tumor. In the study low toxicity was observed as was expected (Xu et al., 2016). The compound penetrated the blood brain barrier well and successfully reduced the expression of Notch signaling pathway components and target genes within the GBM tissue (Xu et al., 2016). However, the concentration within the tumor tissue varied between patients.

Based on these findings targeting Notch signaling in human gliomas is an interesting therapeutic target. More studies should be conducted to evaluate its clinical benefits. The recent advances in the molecular subtyping of gliomas suggest that especially the patients with classical GBM subtypes could benefit from the Notch inhibition therapy, as the tumors within the classical subtype were characterized with highly expressed nestin, Notch pathway components and Sonic Hedgehog signaling pathways (Verhaak *et al.*, 2010). This should be taken into consideration when planning new clinical trials.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

Since NTNs are essential regulators of nervous system development, we hypothesized that they might be important in human gliomas too. This was further supported by the findings that NTN1 regulates several other cancers. At the time I started this research work nothing was known about the roles of NTNs in human gliomas or glioblastomas. Therefore the major aim was to identify receptors and signaling pathways of NTN1 and -4 in glioblastoma cells. In the course of the studies my main interest shifted towards NTN1 and its involvement in the regulation of GBM motility and stemness. This was initiated with the notion that NTN1 was overexpressed in human GBM tumors and in invasive GBM cell-lines.

The specific aims of this work were:

- 1. To characterize the effects of NTN1 and NTN4 on glioblastoma cells (I, II, III)
- 2. To identify proteins interacting with and pathways mediating the effects of NTN1 and NTN4 (I, II)
- 3. To investigate the possible link between NTN1 and GBM invasiveness using *in vitro* and *in vivo* models (II, III)
- 4. To explore how NTN1 is expressed in human gliomas, does the expression correlate with patient prognosis and where it is localized in human glioma tissues (III)
- 5. To analyze if NTN1 is associated with the stemness of the GBM cells (III)
- 6. To decipher the mechanisms how engineered peptide, NTN1(II)FH, inhibits NTN1 signaling in GBM cells (II, III)

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Cell lines

The following cell lines were utilized. The articles in which the cell lines were used are referred to with their roman numerals. Astrocytes, U87MG and 293FT cells were cultured according to manufacturer's instructions. U251MG and U373MG cell lines were cultured in Dulbecco's modified essential culture medium (DMEM) supplied with 10 % heat inactivated fetal calf serum (Gibco, USA), 100 IU/ml penicillin, 50 mg/ml streptomycin and 1% L-glutamine. GBM9 and GBM10 were isolated from fresh surgical GBM biopsies (see protocol below) and cultured in serum free conditions in DMEM/F12 supplemented with 100 IU/ml penicillin, 50 mg/ml streptomycin, B27 supplement, EGF 20ng/ml.

Cell line Origin		Source	Article used in
Astrocytes	human brain	Lonza	I, II
GBM10	human GBM	established by us	III
GBM9	human GBM	established by us	=
U251MG human GBM		Health Sciences Resource Bank, Japan	1, 11, 111
U373MG	human GBM	DR. Bengt Westermark Uppsala	1, 11, 111
U87MG	human GBM	ATCC	I, II, III
293FT	human embryonal kidney	Invitrogen	I, II, III

2. Reagents

Name	Purpose	Manufacturer	Articles used in	
rNTN1 recombinant human NTN1		R&D Systems	III	
rNTN4	recombinant human NTN4	R&D Systems	I	
DAPT	Notch inhibitor	Sigma Aldrich	II	
Fugene	Transfection reagent	Promega	I, II	
Turbofect Transfection reagent		Thermo Fisher Scientific	1, 11, 111	
Lipofectamin e	Transfection reagent	Invitrogen	II	
rEGF recombinant human EGF		R&D Systems	III	
rFGF	recombinant human basic FGF	R&D Systems	III	
DABCO	antifading reagent	Sigma Aldrich	I, II, III	
Matrigel	Matrix used for 2D and 3D invasion assays	BD Biosciences and Corning	1, 111	
Biotin	used for biotinylation of all cell surface proteins	Pierce Biotechnology	I	
D-luciferase substrate for bioluminescence imaging		Regis Technology	111	

3. Antibodies

The following antibodies were used. The antibodies target human proteins unless stated otherwise.

Name	Source	Manufacturer	Articles used in
beta-tubulin	rabbit	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	I, II
BrdU	mouse	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	I
CD133	mouse	Miltenyi Biotech	
Clathrin	mouse	Thermo Scientific	II
GAPDH	mouse	Sigma Aldrich	II
HA-11	mouse	Covance	1, 11, 111
HA-tag	rabbit	Cell Signaling	III
HA-tag	rat	Roche	III
ITGB4	chicken	Sigma-Aldrich	I
Jagged1 (C-20)	goat	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	II, III
lamin A/C	rabbit	Novus Bio	III
mouse CD31	rat	BD Pharmingen	III
Nestin	rabbit	Millipore	III
Notc2 ICD	rabbit	Millipore	II, III
Notch2 (25–255)	rabbit	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	II, III
Notch2 cleaved (D1733)	rabbit	Immunoway	Ш
NTN1	mouse	Enzo Biosciences	П
NTN1	chicken	Neuromics	III
NTN4	goat	R&D Systems	Ι
Phalloidin	Amanita phalloides	Sigma Aldrich	II
phospho ERK 1/2	rabbit	Cell Signaling	
phospho mTOR	rabbit	Cell Signaling	
phospho-AKT	rabbit	Cell Signaling	I

4. Vectors and expression constructs

Full-length NTN1 and NTN4 were cloned into pLVX-Puro expression vector. In addition, three fragments of NTN1 and five fragments of NTN4 were cloned into pLVX-Puro vector. Since the fragments were lacking the signal sequence of full-length proteins, CD33 signal sequence was inserted into the 5' end of the coding region of each construct. In addition, HA and Flag tags were inserted into the C-terminal end of the proteins. All constructs are presented as a table below.
Name	Protein coded	Tags	Plasmid	Reference
NTN1	Full-length NTN1	none	pLVX-Puro	11, 111
NTN1FH	Full-length NTN1	Flag and HA tagged	pLVX-Puro	,
NTN(I)FH	Amino acids 1-283 of NTN1	Flag and HA tagged	pLVX-Puro	11, 111
NTN1(II)FH	Amino acids 282-486 of NTN1	Flag and HA tagged	pLVX-Puro	11, 111
NTN1(III)FH	Amino acids 485-604 of NTN1	Flag and HA tagged	pLVX-Puro	11, 111
NTN4	Full-length NTN4	none	pLVX-Puro / pCDNA3	I
NTN4HF	Full-length NTN4	Flag and HA tagged	pLVX-Puro / pCDNA3	I
Fragment 1	Amino acid 1-261 of NTN4	Flag and HA tagged	pLVX-Puro / pCDNA3	I
Fragment 2	Amino acid 261-445 of NTN4	Flag and HA tagged	pLVX-Puro / pCDNA3	I
Fragment 3	Amino acid 261-516 of NTN4	Flag and HA tagged	pLVX-Puro / pCDNA3	I
Fragment 4	Amino acid 445-628 of NTN4	Flag and HA tagged	pLVX-Puro / pCDNA3	I
Fragment 5	Amino acid 516-628 of NTN4	Flag and HA tagged	pLVX-Puro / pCDNA3	I

5. Lentivirus mediated manipulation of gene expression (I, II, III)

Lentiviruses were produced in 293FT cells. The producer cells were transfected with lentiviral packaging and envelope plasmids (pCMVdr8.74 and pMD2-VSVG; Addgene, Cambridge, MA) together with the intended expression construct. 48 hours later the virus containing supernatants were collected and virus titer determined. The target cells were then transduced with the lentivirus supernatant and infected for 24 hours. For stable expression, cells were selected with culture medium containing 5µg/ml puromycine. The expression of selected gene was also ensured with QPCR and immunofluorescence.

For the overexpression of indicated genes an empty pLVX-Puro was used as infection control. In the case of gene silencing, five shRNAs targeting the silenced genes were tested. The shRNAs were obtained from RNAi Consortium through Open Biosystems. A nontargeting scrambled shRNA construct was used as infection control.

6. Total RNA extraction, reverse transcription, and real-time quantitative-PCR (I, II, III)

Total cellular RNA was purified using NucleoSpin[®] RNA II kit (Macherey-Nagel). Reverse transcription was carried out using iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad). The relative amount of mRNA of the indicated genes was measured with quantitative real time PCR using TaqMan

Assays-on-Demand gene expression products (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA), and iQ Supermix (Bio-Rad). Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) was used as an internal control for each sample. PCR was run using CFX96 machinery (Bio-Rad) and the relative expression levels were quantified with $\Delta\Delta$ CT method with Bio-Rad CFX Manager software.

7. In vitro cell proliferation assays (I, III)

Cell proliferation was measured with bromodeoxyuridine assay (I) and EdU assay (II). In bromodeoxyuridine assay cells were cultured on a 96-well plate (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA). Subsequently, the medium was replaced to medium containing 5-bromo-2-deoxyuridine (BrdU) and incubated for 70 (serum containing) or 120 minutes (serum starvation). After incubation, the BrdU labeling medium was removed, and the cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) twice. The cells were then fixed with 70% ethanol containing glycine at -20° C for 30 minutes. After washing with PBS, the cells were incubated in 2 M HCl at room temperature for 60 minutes. Subsequently, the cells were rinsed and treated with PBS containing 3% bovine serum albumin (BSA) at room temperature for 30 minutes and incubated with anti-BrdU antibodies. The primary antibody was detected by A594 Alexa Fluor secondary antibodies (Invitrogen). After Hoechst staining at 4°C for 15 minutes, cells were washed again. Finally, the images were captured and quantified by using ArrayScan 4.5 high-content-screening system (Cellomics, Pittsburg, PA).

In the EdU assay the Click-IT EdU Imaging Kit (Life Technologies) and the standard protocol of the manufacturer was used. In short, U87MG or U373MG cells were treated with 10 μ M of EdU for 60 min prior to fixation. Cells were stained using Click-IT EdU Imaging Kit with AlexaFluor-594 conjugate (Thermo Scientic). The nuclei were visualized with 5 μ g/ml of Hoechst 44432 (Invitrogen). The proliferation rate was determined by dividing the total cell number with EdU labeled cell number using ANIMA software (Rantanen *et al.*, 2014).

8. 2D cell motility assays (I, II)

Two types of 2D motility assays were utilized: scratch induced wound closure assay and Matrigel invasion assay.

In the scratch induced wound closure assay, cells were cultured under normal conditions on a 24-well plate until 90% confluency. A linear wound was scratched into the middle of each well using micropipette tip. Detached cells were removed by washing with PBS. Cell culture medium containing 0,5% serum was added to the well. The migration of the cells was monitored with Axiovert 200 inverted epifluorescence microscope. The migration rate was assessed by analyzing the wound width at 0 and 8 hours timepoints using ImageJ software. For the Matrigel invasion assays cell culture inserts with 8µm pore size (Becton Dickinson) were coated with Matrigel (BD Biosciences) and dried. 20 000 cells were seeded on top of the coated insert in a serum free DMEM. Serum containing DMEM was administered to the lower chamber. Cells were allowed to invade for 7 hours in a cell culture incubator. Next, the cells were fixed with 40% MeOH, 10% CH3COOH and stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue. Cells that had not migrated through the inserts were removed. The inserts were imaged with Axiovert 200 microscope (Zeiss) and the area covered by invaded cells was measured with Image J software.

9. Cell survival assay (I)

Cells were cultured on glass coverslips overnight followed with 72 hour serum starvation. Next, the coverslips were washed with PBS and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in PBS for 20 minutes. Apoptotic cells were detected using *In Situ* Cell Death Detection Kit (Roche, Switzerland) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Finally, the coverslips were mounted with VECTASHIELD antifading reagent (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) which included 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole for nuclei staining. The images were captured using the 20x objective of the Axioplan microscope (Carl Zeiss, Inc, Thornwood, NY), acquired with AxioCamHRc camera (Carl Zeiss) and AxioVision3.1 software (Carl Zeiss).

10. Immunofluorescence analysis of cells (I, II)

Cells were grown on class coverslips and indicated treatments were applied. The cells were fixed with 4% PFA and permeabilised with 0,1% Tx100 in TBS. Then cells were incubated with 3% BSA or 5% non-fat milk in PBS to prevent the non-specific binding of antibodies. Primary antibodies were diluted to the blocking buffer and incubated on the cells for 60 minutes. After incubation the excess primary antibodies were removed by washing with PBS. The cells were then incubated 30 min with fluorescent labelled Alexa secondary antibodies (Invitrogen) which were diluted to the blocking buffer. Subsequently, nuclei were visualized with Hoechst 33342 (Sigma Aldrich). Excess antibodies were again washed away with PBS and lastly with water. TH coverslips were mounted on microscopic slides with Mowiol mounting medium (Calbiochem) supplemented with 6mg/ml DABCO (Sigma Aldrich). The cells were analyzed under Zeiss Axioplan 2 or Zeiss AxioImager.Z2 upright epifluorescence microscopes. Depending on the microscope used the images were acquired using Zeiss digital AxioCam grayscale camera and AxioVision 4.6 software or Hamamatsu Orca Flash 4.0 LT, 4 megapixel monochrome sCMOS camera and Zeiss Zen 2 pro software, respectively. Alternatively, Zeiss LSM 510 Meta or LSM 880 laser scanning confocal microscopes were utilized for capturing micrographs.

11. SDS-PAGE and immunoblot analysis (I, II, III)

Cells were harvested by lysing with Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS and complete protease inhibitors (Roche). Nuclei were removed by centrifugation. The proteins were electrophoretically separated in 4%-20% gradient Tris-HCl polyacrylamide gels (Lonza and Bio-Rad). The proteins were then transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad) using semi-dry method and Trans-Blot Turbo apparatus (Bio-Rad). The efficiency of the transfer was confirmed with Ponceau staining of the membrane. The membrane was then incubated with 3% BSA or 5% non-fat milk and 0,05% Tween-20 in TBS. Primary antibodies were diluted into the blocking buffer, administered to the membrane and incubated at 4°C overnight. Membrane was washed several times. Horseradish peroxidase conjugated secondary antibodies (GE Healthcare) were diluted to the blocking buffer and incubated with the membrane for 60 min at room temperature. Finally, the filter was washed and the immunoreactive proteins were visualized by ECL-reagent (GE Healthcare) and exposing to X-ray film (Fujifilm). The films were developed using Kodak X-OMAT 2000 equipment (Kodak).

Phosphospecific Western blot analysis was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA).

Quantification of western blots that were processed as described above, was performed with ImageJ software from the scanned X-ray film images. Alternatively a methods based on fluorescently labelled secondary antibodies was utilized. After transferring the proteins to nitrocellulose membranes, immunoblotting was performed according to the protocol suggested by Li-Cor Biosciences. The membrane was scanned with the Odyssey Infrared Imaging System (Li-Cor Biosciences). Intensities of the bands were analyzed using Odyssey 2.1 software (Li-Cor Biosciences).

12. Identification of binding partners of netrins (I, II)

Cells expressing tagged NTN1 fragments were lysed with lysis buffer containing Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS and complete protease inhibitors (Roche). The cell lysates were incubated with FLAG–Sepharose on a shaker at +4°C for 12 hours. Next, the Sepharose particles were collected by centrifugation and washed with the lysis buffer. The proteins bound to the FLAG-Sepharose were detached by incubation with 150 ng/µl FLAG peptide (Sigma Aldrich) at +4°C for 2 hours and subsequently incubated with anti-HA Sepharose in an end-over-end rotating shaker for 1 hour. After incubation the Sepharose particles were washed with the lysis buffer. Finally, the Sepharose-bound proteins were eluted by incubating the particles with non-reducing Laemmli sample buffer at 100°C for 5 minutes. The eluted proteins were then separated by SDS-PAGE (10–20% gradient gels) and visualized by Proteo Silver silver staining kit (Sigma Aldrich) according to manufacturer's protocol. For the identification, proteins were in-gel digested with trypsin and the resulting peptides were identified by liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry analysis as previously described (Ohman *et al.*, 2014).

13. Monitoring the Notch signaling activation (II)

Notch signaling activation was monitored using luciferase reporter assays. A Notch response element containing plasmid TP1-luc(981-6) and a Notch2-intracellular-domain-encoding plasmid, pEF-BOSneoSE-mNotch2 RAMIC, were acquired from RIKEN BioResource Center DNA (Kato *et al.*, 1996; Kurooka *et al.*, 1998). pRL-TK Renilla luciferase vector (Promega) was used as a transfection control in luciferase assays.

A plasmid containing the Notch response element controlling the transcription of the luciferase gene (TPI-luc) was co-transfected by Fugene 6 transfection to target cells together with constitutive expression of Renilla luciferase (pRL-TK) and pCR 3.1 empty vector (Invitrogen) (Kurooka *et al.*, 1998). In the positive control pCR 3.1 vector was replaced with the intracellular domain of Notch2 containing pEF-BOSneoSE-mNotch2 RAMIC (Kato et al., 1996). Transfection was done according to manufacturer's instructions. After 48 hours the cell lysates were collected and luciferase activity was measured with the Dual Luciferase Assay Kit (Promega) using a Digene DCR-1 luminometer.

14. Biotinylation of the cell surface proteins (II)

First cells were washed with cold phosphate-buffered saline. EZ-Link Sulfo-NHS-LC-LC-Biotin (0.5 mg/ml) in PBS (Pierce Biotechnology) was administered to cells and allowed to react with the cell surface proteins on ice for 1 hour. Excess biotin was removed by washing the cells with 150 mM glycine in Tris-buffered saline, pH 7.5. Next, the cells were lysed with 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate (DOC), 0.1% SDS supplemented with Complete protease inhibitor (Roche). The nuclei were removed from lysates by centrifugation and the cell lysates were preabsorbed with protein-G–Sepharose (GE healthcare) at +4°C for 1 hour. Next, the lysates were then incubated with either anti-Notch2 extracellular or anti-Jagged1 antibodies at +4°C for 1 hour. The antibodies together with their binding proteins were precipitated with protein-G–Sepharose. Subsequently, the Sepharose particles were washed and the bound proteins were eluted with Laemmli sample buffer by boiling at +100°C for 5 minutes. The eluted, biotinylated proteins were analyzed with SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting with horseradish peroxidase conjugated streptavidin. The biotinylated Notch2 or Jagged1 proteins were identified based on their expected molecular weight.

15. Tissue microarray analysis (TMA) (III)

All experiments involving the use of human tumor tissue was authorized by the Operative Division of Ethical Committee of Helsinki University Hospital (license number 276/13/03/02/2013) and The National Supervisory Authority for Welfare and Health (license number 95/06.01.03.01/2014). NTN1 expression was analyzed in two paraffin embedded tissue microarrays: an array containing 103 low grade glioma samples previously described in (Tynninen et al., 2004) and an array consisting of 40 GBMs. 5 µm thick tumor sections were cut on SuperFrost+ slides (Menzel-Gläser), deparaffinized in xylene and rehydrated in a decreasing ethanol gradient series. The sections were incubated in 3% hydrogen peroxide for 30 minutes to quench the endogenous peroxidase activity. Subsequently, the epitope was retrieved using heat induced epitope retrieval in sodium citrate buffer (10 mmol/L, pH 6.0). Next, the sections were incubated with NTN1 overnight in +4 degrees. Excess primary antibody was washed away and secondary antibodies from ImmPress (Vector laboratories) staining kit was added according to manufacturer's instruction. Finally, the NTN1 on tissues was detected with a DAB Peroxidase Substrate Kit (Vector Laboratories) 15 minutes at room temperature and counterstained using hematoxylin. Kidney tissue was used as positive control. The NTN1 expression was evaluated and scored by experienced pathologist. Samples were scored either NTN1 positive or negative.

16. Tissue immunofluorescence analysis (III)

In addition, we collected fresh glioblastoma tumor biopsies directly from the surgery. The tissue was washed with DMEM/F12, embedded into OCT compound (Sakura Biotech) in a cryomold and fresh frozen using liquid nitrogen. After freezing the tissueblock was stored in -80°C. For immunofluorescence staining 7 μ m thick sections were cut with Cryotome (Sakura Biotech) and transferred onto microscope slides for staining. The slides were either stained directly or stored in -20°C.

For immunofluorescence staining, 7 μ m thick sections were prepared and transferred onto SuperFrost+ slides (Menzel-Gläser). Slides were either processed immediately or stored in - 20°C.

17. In vivo xenograft studies (III)

All experiments involving mice were approved by the National Animal Experiment Board (license number ESAVI/6285/04.10.07/2014). For the xenograft studies we first created stably luciferase expressing U87MG and U373MG cells. These cells were then further transduced to produce either NTN1FH or NTN1(II)FH. The cells were implanted into the brain of BALB/C NU/NU athymic mice as described earlier (Lee et al., 2012; Ozawa and James, 2010). Five mice per cell-line were used. Intracranial implantation of the cells was performed as previously published. Shortly, 150 000 cells in 5µl of PBS were intracranially injected. The injection site was positioned 2 mm right and 1 mm anterior to the bregma suture and 2,5mm in depth. The tumor growth was followed with bioluminescence imaging. 3mg of D-Luciferin (Regis Technologies) in PBS was administered intraperitoneally to each mouse and allowed to circulate for 15 min. The photons emitted by the tumors were imaged using Perkin-Elmer IVIS 100 imaging system. The mice were sacrificed 21 days after U87MG implantations and 52 days after U373MG implantation. Their brain was collected fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 30 min. The tissue was then washed with PBS and incubated with 30% sucrose 24 hours. After that the tissue was embedded into OCT compound (Sakura Bioteh) in a cryomold (Sakura Biotech) and frozen using liquid nitrogen. The frozen tissue blocks were then stored in -80°C.

18. 3D ex vivo GBM tissue culture (III)

Fresh GBM tissue biopsies were washed with PBS and embedded into 50μ l of Matrigel. The Matrigel was allowed to polymerize for 30 min in +37°C. DMEM/F12 cell culture medium supplemented with 100 IU/ml penicillin, 50 mg/ml streptomycin, B27 supplement, EGF 20ng/ml, FGF 20ng/ml was added on top of Matrigel drops. Tissue pieces were allowed to grow and invade for 7 days. Next, the Matrigel drops were transferred into cryomolds filled with OCT compound (Sakura Biotech) and fresh frozen with liquid nitrogen. 7μ m thick sections were cut onto Superfrost slides. The tissue sections were then subjected to tissue immunofluorescence analysis.

19. Establishing primary GBM cell lines (III)

Primary GBM cultures were established according to a previously published protocol (Hasselbach *et al.*, 2014b). Briefly, fresh GBM tissue biopsies were minced and cells detached by with trypsin and vigorous mixing. Trypsin was inhibited and cells collected by centrifugation. The number of viable cells was determined with Trypan blue (Bio Rad). The cells were diluted into density of 50 000 cells/ml into DMEM/F12 cell culture medium supplemented with 100 IU/ml penicillin, 50 mg/ml streptomycin, B27 supplement, EGF 20ng/ml, FGF 20ng/ml. The medium was changed twice a week and cells passaged every second week.

20. Co-culture of GSCs and U251MG cells in 3D Matrigel (III)

First, a GFP encoding pLenti CMV GFP Puro plasmid (Addgene) was lentivirally transduced into stably NTN1FH and NTN1(II)FH expressing U251MG cells. The stable GFP expression was ensured with flow cytometry based cell sorting. Next, the NTN1 and GFP expressing U251MG cells were mixed with primary GBM cells and allowed to form spheroids in non-adherent agarose coated U-bottom plates. Five spheroids were then mixed with 50µl Matrigel and plated on cell culture plates. The Matrigel was allowed to polymerize for 30 minutes and cell culture medium was added to the wells. The spheroids was imaged under Cell-IQ imaging system (Chip Man Tehcnologies) for 24 hours. The growth of the spheroids was analysed by measuring the area of the cells in different timepoints using the Cell IQ image analysis software (Chip Man Tehcnologies). The spheroids were fixed with 4% PFA 30min, permeabilised with 0,3% Tx100 PBS and subjected to immunofluorescence staining.

21. Statistical analysis (I, II, III)

Results are represent as the mean of at least three independent repeats. Error bars represent the standard deviation or standard error of mean. Statistical significance was analyzed with non-parametric Mann–Whitney U-test for independent samples.

22. Bioinformatics analysis (I, II)

Exon array data of 425 primary GBM samples and 10 normal brain tissues were obtained from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) (Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network, 2008). Preprocessing was performed at the gene expression level using the Multiple Exon Array Preprocessing (MEAP) algorithm (Chen *et al.*, 2011). Subsequent data analyses were performed using the Anduril framework (Ovaska *et al.*, 2010). Candidate pathways were investigated using the Moksiskaan database to determine comprehensive signaling pathway networks from canonical pathways (Laakso and Hautaniemi, 2010). To analyze the survival of patients, 393 samples that had survival end time in the TCGA GBM repository were used. Fold change (FC) values were calculated by taking the median and used in grouping for Kaplan-Meier survival analysis, where patients were divided into groups denoted by "-1" (underexpression, FC < 0.5), "1" (overexpression, FC > 3), and "0" (stable expression). Survival *P* values were calculated with the log rank test, and the threshold used in our analysis was *P* < .05.

RESULTS

1. NTN4 promotes GBM cell proliferation and motility in a concentration dependent manner (I)

Previously high expression of NTN4 had been shown in normal human astrocytes (Staquicini *et al.*, 2009). To investigate the effects of NTN4 in GBM cells we utilized three glioma celllines: U87MG, U251MG and U373MG. Interestingly, all studied glioma cell lines did express NTN4 but less than normal astrocytes. To characterize the effects of NTN4 on the GBM cells its expression was silenced using lentivirus mediated shRNA delivery. The silencing of NTN4 led to the decrease of cell proliferation in BrDU incorporation assay, decreased cell migration in wound closure assay and increased apoptotic labeling in TUNEL assay. Furthermore, exogenous addition of recombinant NTN4 increased cell proliferation and migration. However, the additive effect was concentration dependent: addition of 500ng/ml and 200ng/ml increased the proliferation and migration. Similar findings were observed with U373MG whereas in U87MG cells NTN4 induced effects were limited to cell proliferation.

2. NTN4 stimulates GBM cell proliferation via ITGB4 dependent AKT-mTOR phosphorylation (I)

Tandem affinity purification and mass spectrometry screen demonstrated that NTN4 interact with ITGB4. This observation was validated using immunoprecipitation and immunofluorescence analyses. Interestingly, examination of the TCGA database revealed that the expression levels of NTN4 and ITGB4 are opposite in GBM tissue: NTN4 was downregulated whereas the expression levels of ITGB4 were upregulated. However, decrease in NTN4 and increase in ITGB4 were both associated with poor patient survival.

AKT, mTOR and insulin receptor substrates are mediators of ITGB4 signaling (Nikolopoulos *et al.*, 2004; Shaw, 2001). In our screen, insulin receptor substrates were also identified to interact with NTN4. Previously, it has been shown that NTN is connected to AKT signaling pathway in tumor cells (Nacht *et al.*, 2009). In addition, mTOR signaling has been previously linked to cell proliferation (Shaw and Cantley, 2006). Further investigation revealed that NTN4 silencing decreased phosphorylation of AKT, mTOR and ERK1/2 whereas exogenous addition of 0-50ng/ml recombinant NTN4 increased it. Silencing of ITGB4 abolished this effect suggesting that it is an essential mediator of NTN4 induced AKT-mTOR phosphorylation.

3. NTN1 promotes GBM cell invasiveness *in vitro* and *in vivo* (II, III)

We then went on to characterize the expression levels of NTN1 in three GBM cell lines: U87MG, U251MG and U373MG using quantitative western blotting and qRT-PCR. Interestingly, when compared to human normal astrocytes the expression of NTN1 was upregulated in invasive GBM cell lines U251 and U373MG whereas in solid tumor forming U87MG the expression was downregulated.

Intrigued by these findings we hypothesized that NTN1 is a regulator of GBM invasion. We first tested this on cell-lines in vitro. In a 2D Matrigel invasion assay NTN1 overexpression

increased U251MG cell invasion whereas lentivirus mediated shRNA knock-down reduced it. The reduction was observed in a manner corresponding to the efficiency of the silencing. Complete silencing led to the apoptotic death of the cells (unpublished data). The role of NTN1 in the GBM invasiveness was further deciphered in an *in vivo* xenograft model. First, NTN1 overexpressing or wildtype U87MG cells were orthotopically xenografted into nude mice. The cells were expressing firefly luciferase to allow tumor growth monitoring by bioluminescence imaging. NTN1 expression resulted in more widely spread tumor and stronger bioluminescent signal.

After sacrificing the mice the growth of the tumors was assessed on tissue sections of the brain. Consistently with the bioluminescence imaging tumors formed by NTN1 overexpressing cells were larger and more invasive. The invasive fronts of the NTN1 expressing tumor were less well-defined and single tumor cells had started to spread to the brain parenchyma along the blood vasculature. These findings confirm the role of NTN1 as invasion promoting factor in GBM.

4. NTN1 is a multifunctional protein which associates with several proteins and signaling pathways (II)

The proteins interacting with NTN1 were screened using tandem affinity chromatography and identified with mass spectrometry. For the purification, all NTN1 domains (N-terminal domain = NTN(I)FH; central domain = NTN1(II)FH; C-terminal-domain = NTN1(III)FH) were expressed separately in U251MG cells and tagged with FLAG and HA tags for the pull down. The different domains served as internal controls for each other and also provided information on the roles of the different domains.

Our screen was validated by the identification of two known NTN1 receptors ITGA3B1 and ITGB4 (Yebra *et al.*, 2003). The pathways that NTN1 was associated with were identified using automated pathway analysis that is based on Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes. It revealed that NTN1 associated with various cell signaling pathways including ECM-receptor interaction, insulin signaling and TGF-beta signaling pathway. However, out of the identified pathways the most prominent candidate pathway was Notch signaling pathway. NTN1(I)FH interacted with Notch2 and Notch3 receptors, NTN1(II)FH with Notch1 and Notch2 receptors and NTN1(II)FH with Notch2 receptors. NTN1(II)FH also interacted with known the Notch ligand Jagged1.

Protease mediated cleavage of the Notch receptor and the endocytosis of the intracellular domain of the receptor are important parts in the activation of the Notch signaling (reviewed in Parks *et al.*, 2000; Pratt *et al.*, 2011). Interestingly, different NTN1 domains interacted with several proteins which may be related to the Notch signaling activation. NTN1(I)FH interacted with several endocytosis related proteins, NTN1(II)FH interacted with E3 ligases and NTN1(II)FH with multiple proteases. These results suggest that the domains may independently modulate the Notch signaling.

5. NTN1 can activate Notch signaling and induce subsequent cell invasion by binding to the Notch-Jagged complex (II)

The binding of NTN1 and Notch signaling components was validated by immunoprecipitation and western blotting. Indeed all the domains could pull-down Notch2 and Jagged1 from U251MG cell lysate. However, the pull-down was most efficient with full-length NTN1 and NTN1(II)FH. The interaction was further analyzed using immunofluorescence microscopy. U251MG cells were treated with NTN1FH containing medium either at 37°C or at +4°C. When the treatment was performed at +4°C NTN1FH colocalized strongly with Jagged1 on cell-cell contacts. At +37°C, NTN1FH and Jagged1 colocalized in vesicle-like structures suggesting that they are endocytosed together. On the other hand, NTN1FH colocalized with Notch2 on cell surface in both temperatures.

The ability of NTN1 to modulate Notch signaling was investigated using a Notch reporter assay. A construct where Notch response element controlled luciferase coding gene was transiently transfected into either NTN1 overexpressing or NTN1 silenced U251MG cells. NTN1 upregulation induced over 2-fold increase in Notch activation in comparison to wildtype U251MG cells. Consistently, NTN1 silencing decreased Notch signaling significantly.

Furthermore, we also examined how Notch signaling inhibition affects the invasiveness of GBM cells. We utilized DAPT, a compound that prevents the γ -secretase mediated cleavage of Notch receptor which is essential for the activation of the signaling. U251MG cells were used in Matrigel invasion assay with or without DAPT. Upon DAPT treatment the invasive capability of the cells was markedly reduced.

Taken together these results suggest that NTN1 can bind to the signaling complex of Notch2 and Jagged1 and activate the Notch signaling. NTN1 is endocytosed together with Jagged1 plausibly after the cleavage of the Notch receptor. Furthermore, inhibition of Notch signaling with DAPT inhibited cell invasion similarly to NTN1 suggesting that it is mediating NTN1 effects.

6. The expression of NTN1 in human glioma biopsies is associated with poor patient prognosis (II, III)

The expression of NTN1 in human gliomas was analyzed both on gene and protein expression levels. TCGA exon array datasets revealed that the expression of NTN1 was markedly upregulated in GBM samples compared to normal brain. Next, the NTN1 expression was assessed in a tissue microarray of 136 tissue samples which included astrocytoma, anaplastic astrocytoma, oligodendroglioma, oligoastrocytoma and glioblastoma tumors (Sihto *et al.*, 2007; Tynninen *et al.*, 2004). NTN1 was expressed in all glioma subtypes. Within all the tissue samples 40.4% of the tumors were NTN1 positive. NTN1 was strongly associated with astrocytic tumors. Within astrocytomas 77.8%, within anaplastic astrocytomas 62.5% and within GBMs 77.1% of the tumors were NTN1 positive whereas within oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas only 26.7% and 36.8%, respectively, were NTN1 positive. No association with gender or age at the time of diagnosis was observed.

Furthermore, we investigated how NTN1 expression in gliomas was related to the survival of the patients and performed Kaplan-Meier survival analysis. Both glioma-specific overall and recurrence-free survival times were analyzed. Interestingly, NTN1 positivity was associated with poor glioma specific survival (hazard ratio [HR] = 1.73, 95% confidence interval [95% CI]

= 1.11 to 2.71; p=0.015) and shorter recurrence-free survival time (HR = 1.62, 95% CI = 1.04 to 2.53; p<0.001) (Fig. 1B). However, when astrocytomas and oligodendroglial tumors were analyzed separately NTN1 expression was not significantly associated with patient survival.

7. NTN1 locates to GSC-rich tumor areas and to the stalk area of GSC led invasive structures (III)

Next, we analyzed the localization of NTN1 in glioma tissue. In all glioma subtypes NTN1 was enriched to areas surrounding the necrotic tumor core and especially to pseudopalisade structures that contain actively migrating cells (Brat *et al.*, 2004a) in GBM samples. Also the abnormal glomerular vessels of GBM tumors were positive for NTN1.

The hypoxic and perivascular GBM tumor areas where NTN1 was located are known to be rich in GSCs (Bar et al., 2010; Bar et al., 2010; Calabrese et al., 2007; Heddleston et al., 2009). While we were deciphering the expression of NTN1 in the glioma TMAs we also observed that NTN1 and nestin expressions correlated. Previously, nestin has been connected to the stemness of the GBM cells and to the poor prognosis of glioma patients (Strojnik et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2008). In addition, Notch signaling has been observed to promote the stemness of the GBM cells (Chen et al., 2010; Fan et al., 2010; Hu et al., 2011). Therefore, we hypothesized that NTN1 affects the GSCs via Notch signaling. To explore this further we examined whether NTN1 co-localizes with known GSC markers nestin and CD133 in fresh frozen GBM tissue. Interestingly, we did not observe co-localization of NTN1 in same cells with either of these markers. Instead, NTN1 localized to neighboring cells of nestin expressing cells. Similar localization was observed with CD133. In the GBM tissues there were areas with CD133 positive cells surrounded by NTN1 positive cells. Next, we investigated the co-localization of NTN1 and Notch2 receptor or Jagged1 ligand on the GBM tissue. We observed that NTN1 and Jagged1 co-localized on the same cells in a manner similar to what we observed in in vitro cultured GBM cells. In contrast, NTN1 and Notch2 were not colocalized in same tumor cells. Instead, we observed that Notch2 and NTN1 were expressed in neighboring cells and were co-localized within their cell-cell contacts.

We also analyzed the NTN1 and nestin localization in the U87MG xenografts. Expression of CD133 could not be studied because the U87GM cells do not express it. We stained the NTN1FH tumor sections for nestin and HA to localize NTN1 positive cells in the tumors. Unexpectedly, we detected that the invasive edge was strongly nestin positive in NTN1 overexpressing tumors but not in control tumors. Furthermore, we observed that the invasive structures consistently showed an assembly where the nestin positive cells were on the leading edge whereas NTN1 positive cells were following them. We also observed similar pattern with Notch2 staining. Again, the NTN1 positive cells were in the stalk area of the invasive sprouts whereas Notch2 positive cells were in the invasive front.

Because these results link NTN1 strongly to GBM invasiveness and stemness we were interested in examining its localization in the invasive cells of human GBM too. However, the surgical human GBM biopsies represent primarily the tumor core because the single invasive cells are impossible to remove upon surgery. To mimic the invasive front of human GBM we established ex vivo human GBM cultures. We implanted freshly collected GBM biopsies in 3D Matrigel and allowed the cells to grow and migrate for 7 days. The Matrigel plugs were then fresh frozen and sectioned. Immunofluorescence staining of the sections revealed similar pattern that was observed with the xenografts. The front of the invasive structures

was positive for Notch2 and for nestin suggesting that these cells are more stem-like than the cells in tumor core. Again, NTN1 positive cells remained at the stalk area of the invasive sprouts. These findings are consistent with the observations of the U87MG xenograft model where the leading cells of the invasive structures were nestin and Notch positive whereas NTN1 positive cells remained in the stalk area of the structures.

8. NTN1 increases the number of GSCs in the cell population and stimulates their motility (III)

To analyze how NTN1 affects the GSCs, we cultured both wild type and NTN1 overexpressing U251MG GBM cells under conditions that favor neural stem cell proliferation (Wakimoto *et al.*, 2012). Interestingly, NTN1 overexpression led to 16-fold higher neurosphere formation compared to wild-type cells. These neurospheres also expressed stemness markers Sox2, nestin and integrin alpha6 more than normal U251MG cells. This suggests that the initial NTN1 overexpressing cell population contained a higher number of GSCs and that NTN1 plays a role in their maintenance.

Next, we investigated how NTN1 affects the motility of the GSCs and used 2D and 3D invasion assays. The U251MG GSCs were either plated as single cells on top of 2D Matrigel or the neurospheres as such were implanted into 3D Matrigel. 50ng/ml of recombinant NTN1 (rNTN1) was utilized as attractant in the assays. In both assays the addition of rNTN1 enhanced the motility of the cells: they either invaded through the Boyden chamber more effectively or the neurospheres spread much faster upon rNTN1 addition. Furthermore, the control spheroids remained more compact compared to rNTN1 treated, which spread more diffusively. These results suggest that rNTN1 regulates the motility of GSCs.

9. NTN1(II)FH diminishes the activation Notch signaling by retaining Notch-Jagged1 signaling complex on cell surface (II)

While we were validating the mass spectrometry results we observed that both the fulllength NTN1 and its central domain (NTN1(II)FH) bound to Notch2 and Jagged1 most efficiently. Therefore, we included NTN1(II)FH into our further analysis too. Immunofluorescence analysis revealed that NTN1(II)FH also co-localized with both Notch2 and Jagged1 on cell surface but it was not internalized with either of them. Surprisingly, its effect to the Notch signaling pathway was opposite than the full-length NTN1: NTN1(II)FH decreased the activation whereas NTN1 activated it. Furthermore, it modulated the morphology of the cells towards a smaller and more rounded phenotype. Similar effect has been observed upon Notch signaling inhibition with DAPT (Ingram *et al.*, 2008). Because the U251MG cells express NTN1 endogenously, our results suggest that NTN1(II)FH can overcome the effects of the full-length protein.

We then analyzed whether the defect in Notch signaling was due to the altered cell surface localization of either Notch2 or Jagged1. We biotinylated all cell surface proteins and visualized the cell surface fraction of Notch and Jagged with immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting. Both Notch2 and Jagged1 were similarly expressed on the surface of wildtype U251MG cells or stably NTN1 or NTN1(II)FH expressing U251MG cells. Surprisingly,

we observed that upon NTN1(II)FH expression Notch2 could more effectively immunoprecipitate Jagged1 from the cell surface. Furthermore, the co-localization of Notch2 intracellular domain and clathrin on cell membrane was decreased. Because Notch internalization which is required for the signaling activation occurs via clathrin mediated endocytosis (Windler and Bilder, 2010) our findings suggest that NTN1(II)FH decreases the signaling by retaining the Notch signaling complex on cell surface.

10. Inhibition of NTN1 signaling with NTN1(II)FH reduces GBM invasiveness via decreasing the motility of GSCs (II, III)

Since NTN1(II)FH had the opposite effect on Notch signaling compared to full-length NTN1 we were interested in testing how it affects cell invasiveness. We first studied this in vitro in 2D Matrigel invasion assay. As expected, the expression of NTN1(II)FH decreased the invasiveness of U251MG cells. Next, the effects of the NTN1(II)FH were evaluated in vivo. We performed intracranial xenografts in nude mice and used either wildtype, NTN1FH expressing or NTN1(II)FH expressing U373MG cells. The U373MG cells were employed because they endogenously express NTN1 and thus were a good model to study NTN1 inhibition. Again, the tumor growth was monitored using bioluminescence imaging. After 6 weeks we started to observe differences in the tumor growth between the groups. Both the control tumors and NTN1FH tumors grew all around the mouse head area and also spread along the spine of the mice whereas the growth of the NTN1(II)FH tumors was restricted to the head area. When we measured the emitted photons only from the head area of the mice we could not observe any significant difference between the groups. However, combining the signal from the head and the spine of the mice revealed a significant decrease on the photons within NTN1(II)FH group. These results suggest that NTN1(II)FH can antagonize the effects of endogenously expressed NTN1.

Next, we wanted to analyze does NTN1(II)FH affect the motility of the GSCs. Freshly isolated GBM cell-lines that are kept under the stem-like cell proliferation favoring culture conditions are a better model for investigating glioma stem-like cells than long cultured cell (Ahmad *et al.*, 2014; Wakimoto *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, we established primary GSC cultures from surgical GBM biopsies, named GBM9 and GBM10, which were constantly cultured under stem-like cell proliferation favoring conditions. Because GBM tumors are heterogeneous and contain both GSCs and differentiated tumor cells we mixed the GBM9 or GBM10 cells with NTN1 expressing and GFP labelled U251MG cells. The U251MG cells cultured under adherent conditions mimicked the differentiated GBM cell population in the human tumors. These mixture spheroids were then embedded into 3D Matrigel matrix.

We observed that once the GBM9 cells were mixed with control U251MG cells or NTN1FH expressing U251MG cells (GBM9/U251MG and GBM9/U251MG-NTN1FH spheroids respectively) the spheroids invaded diffusively and presented two types of sprouts: sprouts where the GFP positive U251MG cells were leading and where GFP negative GBM9 cells where leading. On the contrary, the GBM9 and U251-NTN1(II)FH spheroids (GBM9/NTN1(II)FH) invaded in more compact manner and presented only GFP positive sprouts. We quantified the sprouts and indeed in GBM9/U251 and in GBM9/U251-NTN1FH spheroids both sprout types existed in equal proportions. In GBM9/U251MG-NTN1(II)FH spheroids more than 80% of the sprouts were led by U251GM cells. Consistent results were obtained with GBM10 and U251MG cell mixtures.

Immunofluorescence staining with nestin and HA to recognize NTN1 confirmed that GBM9/U251-NTN1FH spheroids presented similar GSC led sprout assembly than in the xenograft and *ex vivo* models. In addition, the cells leading the invasion were positive for cleaved-Notch suggesting activated Notch signaling. In contrast, the sprouts led by the nestin positive and Notch-activated cells were lacking in the GBM9/U251-NTN1(II)FH spheroids. Taken together these results suggest that NTN1 regulates the GBM invasiveness by promoting the motility of the GSCs and the inhibition of the NTN1 signaling with NTN1(II)FH peptide reduces the invasiveness of especially GBM stem-like cells.

DISCUSSION

1. NTN4 regulates the proliferation of glioma cells via orchestrated actions of ITGB4 and UNC5B (I)

NTN4 is a multifunctional protein that has been linked to many cancers. However, its role is controversial since some reports have identified it as cancer promoter and others as a tumor suppressor. Here we have investigated its effects and signaling in glioblastoma. We observed that it modulates glioblastoma cell motility, survival and proliferation in a concentration dependent manner: low concentration promoted these effects whereas high concentrations inhibited them. Similarly NTN4 regulates adhesion, migration, proliferation and apoptosis of endothelial cells in a concentration dependent manner (Larrieu-Lahargue *et al.*, 2010; Lejmi *et al.*, 2008; Wilson *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, we observed that its expression is reduced during glioma progression and that low NTN4 expression is correlated with poor patient prognosis. Taken together, these findings provide evidence that NTN4 plays a dual function in glioma progression and that its effects depend on a balance of its expression. These results could also explain the previous contradicting results in other cancers.

To better understand how NTN4 regulates glioma cells we screened for pathways mediating its effects. We discovered that ITGB4 binds to NTN4 and mediates the positive effects of NTN4 on glioblastoma cell proliferation. Previously ITGA2B1 and ITGA3B1 have been recognized as NTN4 receptors (Maedler *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, ITGB4 is expressed strongly in astrocytes, and it is upregulated during glioma progression (Previtali *et al.*, 1996). Consistently, we observed that ITGB4 upregulation is associated with poor patient survival in GBM.

Interestingly, suppression of NTN4 expression in ITGB4-silenced cells slightly increased cell proliferation, and NTN4 overexpression led to decreased proliferation in ITGB4- silenced glioblastoma cells. These results suggest that there are other mechanisms mediating the negative effects of NTN4. Previously, UNC5B has been observed to mediate NTN4 induced inhibitory functions of endothelial cells (Lejmi *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, we analyzed whether UNC5B could be the receptor mediating the negative effects also in GBM. Unlike NTN4 and ITGB4 the expression of UNCB5 was not altered in GBM when compared to normal brain. Silencing of UNC5B led to decreased proliferation of GBM cells. Addition of high concentration of NTN4 did not further suppress the proliferation suggesting that UNC5B is mediating this effect.

Our findings elucidate a complicated mechanism by which NTN4 regulates the proliferation of GBM cells. When there is excess supply of NTN4 available it binds to UNC5B which then suppresses cell proliferation. NTN4 also binds to ITGB4 that is expressed in low levels and induces proliferation. This balance maintains the glial cell proliferation on a sufficient level for normal growth. However, during tumor progression the expression level of ITGB4 gets upregulated and NTN4 gets downregulated while the level of UNC5B remains unchanged. The relatively low number of NTN4 proteins bind efficiently to ITGB4 due to its abundant expression on cell surface. Since majority of the NTN4 binds to ITGB4 the UNC5B mediated proliferation inhibition is lost and ITGB4 signaling upregulate GBM cell proliferation.

2. NTN1 drives the GBM invasion and stemness via Notch signaling (II, III)

Like NTN4 also NTN1 regulates several cancers. It acts as invasion promoting factor in pancreatic, colorectal and hepatocytic cancer and in medulloblastoma (Akino *et al.*, 2014; Dumartin *et al.*, 2010; Rodrigues *et al.*, 2007; Yan *et al.*, 2014). Interestingly, NTN1 has been suggested to function also as a potential biomarker in both glioblastoma and medulloblastoma (Akino *et al.*, 2014; Ramesh *et al.*, 2011). In this thesis, we link NTN1 to glioblastoma invasion and stemness. The expression of NTN1 is high in glioblastoma derived cell-lines that show infiltrative growth *in vivo* but not in less malignant cells. In a TMA screen of various glioma biopsies, NTN1 associated strongly with astrocytomas which are the most invasive form of gliomas (Palfi *et al.*, 2004). Furthermore, NTN1 expression was associated with poor patient prognosis. NTN1 upregulation promoted the invasiveness of glioblastoma cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Consistently with our findings, another study also found that NTN1 promotes the GBM invasiveness (Shimizu *et al.*, 2013).

To elucidate the signaling mechanisms mediating NTN1 effects we systematically screened its binding partners using tandem affinity purification and mass spectrometry protein identification. Out of the identified receptors, Notch pathway was the most prominent. NTN1 physically interacted with Notch pathway components: NTN1 pulled down both Notch2 and Jagged1 and colocalized with both Jagged1 and Notch2 on the cell surface. However, NTN1 colocalized with Jagged1 also in cytoplasm but not with Notch2. Moreover, NTN1 enhanced Notch activity. Both NTN1 and Notch signaling induced GBM cell invasion. Taken together, these findings suggest that NTN1 induced cell invasion is mediated by Notch signaling. NTN1 can bind to the complex of Notch and Jagged and activate the signaling.

Previously, Notch signaling has been associated with increased GBM invasion (Chigurupati et al., 2010; Sivasankaran et al., 2009; Stockhausen et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2012) and maintenance of the GSCs within GBM tumors (Chen et al., 2010; Fan et al., 2010; Hu et al., 2011) and to the upregulation of nestin expression (Shih and Holland, 2006). In addition, NTN1 has been linked to the up-regulation of stem cell motility and self-renewal during developmental processes (Lee et al., 2014; Ozmadenci et al., 2015). Therefore, we speculated that the NTN1 induced upregulation of Notch signaling could promote the stemness of the glioma cells. Indeed, we observed that when NTN1 was overexpressed in GBM cells in vitro their percentage of GSCs was increased. This suggests that NTN1 promotes the maintenance of the GSCs within the population. Similarly to cultured cells, NTN1 colocalized with Jagged1 but not Notch2 in human GBM tissue. However, Notch2 and NTN1 did colocalize on the cell-cell contacts of neighboring cells. Similar coexpression in neighboring cells was observed with NTN1 and CD133 and nestin. Furthermore, we observed that in the NTN1 expressing U87MG xenografts tumors the invasive colonies or sprouts were growing in a distinct assembly. The cells in the leading edge were positive for nestin and Notch2 whereas the cells in the stalk area of the sprouts were NTN1 positive. Similar structures were visible in both in vivo xenograft models and in ex vivo human GBM tissue cultures. The structure of these sprouts was similar to those observed in NTN1 guided lung and mammary gland morphogenesis (Dalvin et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2004).

Taken together, these finding describe a new mechanism of GBM invasiveness. NTN1 in the stalk area of the invasive structures can activate the Notch signaling in the adjacent cells that form the leading edge of the sprouts (Fig. 5). This allows the maintenance of stem like

characteristics of the leading cells which is a great advantage because the stem-like cells are very plastic and motile.



Figure 5. Model of the NTN1 induced invasiveness of the GBM cells. This schematic illustration summarizes the main findings of the articles II and III. NTN1 in the stalk area of invasive sprouts activates Notch signaling in the leading edge. Modified from (Ylivinkka *et al.*, 2017).

GBM tumors are heterogeneous and contain different regions. Besides the invasive front, the GSCs are located to the hypoxic and perivascular tumor areas (Bar *et al.*, 2010; Bar *et al.*, 2010; Calabrese *et al.*, 2007; Heddleston *et al.*, 2009). NTN1 is enriched to these same areas and was located next to GSCs within the tumor core. Furthermore, NTN1 secretion is upregulated under hypoxia (unpublished results). Since NTN1 and Notch can promote the maintenance of GSCs this may give them and advantage to survive within the tumor core. Furthermore, NTN1 induced apoptosis resistance is shown to protect the embryonic stem cells (Ozmadenci *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, NTN1 may have similar GSC protective mechanisms in GBM too.

3. NTN1(II)FH overcomes the effects of full-length NTN1 and has therapeutic potential (II, III)

Currently, no curative treatment exists for GBM. The only approved drug, TMZ, provides only modest prolongation of the lifetime of the patients (Venur *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, the discovery of new treatment options and enhanced targeting of the existing treatments are vital. Infiltrative invasiveness and the stemness of the tumor cells are hallmarks of GBM and also the main reasons for the treatment failure (Ortensi *et al.*, 2013). Our results indicate that NTN1 is a novel regulator of GBM invasiveness and stemness. By inhibiting NTN1 signaling both of these phenotypes could be targeted suggesting NTN1 as potential treatment target in GBM.

Interestingly, NTN1(II)FH, a peptide consisting of the central domain of NTN1, specifically counteracts NTN1–Notch signaling as indicated by several results: NTN1(II)FH was able to pull down both Notch2 and Jagged1. It colocalized with Notch2 and Jagged1 at the cell surface but not in the cytoplasm. Exogenous NTN1(II)FH also altered the morphology of U251MG cells similarly to the Notch signaling inhibitor DAPT. The Notch2–Jagged1 signaling complex was retained at the cell surface and less colocalization of Notch2 and clathrin was

observed on the cell surface in the presence of NTN1(II)FH suggesting inhibition of the signaling. Furthermore, NTN(II)FH expression inhibited the invasiveness of the GBM cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. This reduction in invasiveness was due to the decreased motility of GSCs. These results suggest that NTN1 signaling inhibition could offer a powerful way to target GBM and that NTN1(II)FH provides one possible way for targeting that.

The Notch inhibitors have been actively investigated as a possible therapeutic for GBM. Currently two phase I/O clinical studies have been conducted (Krop *et al.*, 2012; Xu *et al.*, 2016). The first one included patients with different late stage solid tumors (Krop *et al.*, 2012) and the other was designed to evaluate the biological effects of the inhibitor (Xu *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, the patient benefit is difficult to estimate based on these studies. However, the first study did observe that only the glioma patients responded to the treatment even though results were not dramatic. This suggests that Notch inhibition could be effective in GBM treatment.

Both of these clinical studies utilize GSIs which prevent the Notch activation due to the lack of γ -secretase mediated receptor cleavage. However, it has been suggested that alternative, γ -secretase independent ways to activate the signaling exist (Ayaz and Osborne, 2014; Baron, 2012). Therefore, it is possible that the GSI targeted treatments do not totally prevent Notch signaling activation. In this thesis we describe a novel NTN1 induced mechanism for Notch activation. Furthermore, according to the mass spectrometry results NTN1 can bind to various Notch receptors. Here, we have employed Notch2 as a model receptor due to its abundant expression in GBM cells. However, the NTN1 induced Notch activation may not be limited to Notch2. Therefore, the described NTN1-Notch signaling inhibition with NTN1(II)FH peptide may be of great clinical importance.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

In this thesis we describe two mechanism how NTNs modulate GBM pathogenity. First, we described a mechanism of NTN4-ITGB4 that drives the proliferation of glioma cells during the tumor progression (I). Second, we described how NTN1 promotes glioma cell invasiveness and stemness via Notch signaling (II, III). Based on these findings, NTNs could be interesting therapeutic targets. Inhibition of their signaling could inhibit both cell proliferation and cell invasion, two major mechanisms leading to lethality of GBM. In addition, we link NTN1 to tumor cell stemness which not only affects cell invasion but also resistance to therapies. Furthermore, we designed a peptide that can inhibit NTN1 signaling (II, III). This peptide has therapeutic potential: it can target both cell invasion and stemness that are key hallmarks of gliomas.

For future studies, our results raise several questions regarding the role of NTN1 in glioma biology. During brain injuries, NTN1 is upregulated within the SVZ (Cayre *et al.*, 2013). There it increases the motility of neural progenitors and promotes angiogenesis to create new paths for neural precursor migration (Cayre *et al.*, 2013). Similarly, the glioma cells use the vasculature as tracks for invasion. We observed in our xenograft models that the invasive cells migrating from NTN1 overexpressing xenografts were co-opting the surrounding vasculature. Therefore it is interesting to speculate that NTN1 could promote tumor vasculature to create highways for the GSCs.

Furthermore, the cell of origin of GBM is still unclear. It has been postulated that it could be a transformed neural stem or precursor cell raising from the SVZ (Alcantara Llaguno *et al.*, 2009). Since NTN1 is expressed within the SVZ and it is capable of maintaining the GSCs it raises the question whether it participates to the initiation of the GBM. Moreover, it is unclear whether the GBM tumors consist of two different cell populations: the GSCs and the differentiated tumor cells or whether the stemness is an intrinsic property of all GBM cells. Our results indicate that NTN1 can modulate the plasticity of the GBM cells. It altered both U251MG and U87MG cell populations towards more stem-like phenotype suggesting that it may play a role in the regulation of GSCs or whether it can reprogram the differentiated GBM cells towards more stem-like phenotype.

Besides the mechanisms we have studied in detail in this thesis, our results implicate that NTNs are involved in many other signaling pathways. We screened for interacting partners of both NTN1 and NTN4 and discovered several signaling pathways and cellular functions connected to them. For example, the identified interacting partners of NTN1 included integrin signaling, proteolysis and endocytosis related proteins. Even though some interacting partners suggesting that NTN1 can modulate various pathways via the different domains. Besides GBM that was used as a model in these studies, NTNs have been linked to other cancers and other pathological conditions such as neurological diseases. Many of the signaling pathways discovered here may be of interest within these conditions too. Therefore, our results open many new research avenues and have implications beyond GBM.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out in the Translational Cancer Biology Research Program, University of Helsinki during years 2010-2016. Current and former directors of the Research Program, Professors Jorma Keski-Oja and Kari Alitalo, are acknowledged for providing excellent research facilities.

Docent Marko Hyytiäinen, my primary supervisor, I warmly thank you for introducing me to the fascinating world of science. Your guidance has been invaluable to my work. Thank you for always being available and easy to approach with all my questions whether it was related to science or personal life. I value your straightforward and clear way to approach scientific questions. And thank you for teaching me that the most important findings don't always need to be huge: sometimes the smallest changes can mean the most.

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to my second supervisor, Professor Jorma Keski-Oja for the opportunity to work in his laboratory. Throughout the years you have guided and taught me how to cope in the complicated academic world. Thank you for always supporting me and believing in me – even in the moments that I did not. Your humanity and caring has made your lab a very pleasant place to work.

The progress of my studies was monitored by my thesis committee members Professor Pirjo Laakkonen and Docent Outi Monni. I thank you for all the meetings, fruitful discussions and help during these years.

Docent Kirmo Wartiovaara and Docent Cecilia Sahlgren are acknowledged for the thorough review and valuable comments that improved the thesis. Assistant Professor Joanna J. Phillips is acknowledged for accepting the invitation to act as opponent in the public examination of this thesis. Professor Timo Otonkoski is thanked for accepting the role as chair of the public examination.

Biomedicum Imaging Unit, Biomedicum Tissue Preparation and Histochemistry Unit, Biomedicum Flow Cytometry Core Facility and Biomedicum Stem Cell Center have provided excellent instruments and technical assistance that has been indispensable.

I'm grateful to all co-authors of the articles included into this thesis. I wish to thank Dr. Ping Chen, Dr. Ville Rantanen and Professor Sampsa Hautaniemi for the valuable help in bioinformatics and image analysis. Docent Tuula Nyman is thanked for excellent help in mass spectrometric analyses. Docent Harri Sihto and Dr. Olli Tynninen thank you for providing me the glioma tissue samples. Your help in performing and analyzing the TMAs was instrumental. Professor Pirjo Laakkonen is acknowledged for her help in setting up the animal experiments and for providing me the premises were to finalize my thesis. Neurosurgeons Aki Laakso and Riku Kivirinta, thank you for introducing me the real-life treatment of gliomas. For a scientist is was an eye opening experience to visit the hospital operation room. I also want to thank you for your help and effort in collecting glioblastoma tissue biopsies.

During my years in Keski-Oja lab I have had the opportunity to experience what it's like to work in a big and in a small lab. I want to thank all the current and former lab members for creating warm and easy-going working atmosphere. I owe big thanks to Olga Bugaeva, Juha Hakulinen, Yizhou Hu, Anna Kantola, Katri Koli, Kaisa Lehti, Filip Lhota, Huini Li, Li Li, Nami Matsuda, Mira Marttila, Pipsa Meller, Leo Meriranta, Anne Remes, Nelli Roininen, Lotta Sankkila, Sami Starast and Piia Vehviläinen. Anne Remes and Sami Starast are thanked for

their invaluable technical assistance. Sami, I will miss our lunch/coffee breaks and all the long conversations. Olga, Nami and Piia, you have been my 'big sisters' in the lab. Thank you for teaching me so many things when I was taking the baby steps of my scientific career. Olga & Alexander, Nami & Shinya, Yizhou & Ping I cherish the moments that we have had with you outside the lab and hope to stay friends for long. Our secretary, Merja Koivulahti, is acknowledged not only for the excellent administrative help but also for cheering up the days with stories of her dogs.

I wish to thank Docent Katri Koli and the former and current members of her lab Zhang Li, Emmi Joensuu, Emma Paasikivi, Veronika Rezov, Jenni Tamminen, Mira Tissari, Ville Vartiainen and Miao Yin, who have been our neighbors for years. It has been a pleasure to work with you and share so many morning coffees and lunches. Katri, I also thank you for sharing your interesting research projects with me and for trusting in my help. In addition, I'm very grateful that you kindly allowed me to stay in your lab during the difficult time of closing the Keski-Oja lab. Emma, thank you for your kindness. I admire your will to help everyone and the effort to take time and listen. Thank you also for all the laughter we have had together.

Working in Biomedicum has been an incredible journey. When I started my PhD I never expected to meet so many great people and make so many friends. Sofia Ahola, Diego Balboa-Alonso, Arvydas Dapkunas, Pauliina Filppu, Erika Gucciardo, Alexandra Gylfe, Elina Hakonen, Maija Hyvönen, Anniina Koski-Palkén, Anita Lampinen, Vadim Le-Joncour, Sanna Vuoristo, Roxana Ola, Suvi Sorsa, Maria Sundvik, Mari Tervaniemi and Lotta Vassilev, I thank all of you for walking by my side on this journey. Arvydas, my beloved co-blondie, I'm indebted to you for all the help and support during these years. Thank you for your friendship! Rox, thank you for all the joyfull and sentimental moments we have had together in Finland and US and for introducing me to so many people in Biomedicum. I truly miss you! Erika, thank you for all the help and care during these years. You have a special place in my heart! Maija and Pauliina, thank you for all the conversations and advices and for sharing many events and trips with me. Mari, thank you for all the scientific and non-scientific events and lunch breaks and most importantly for you friendship. Diego, thank you for always being positive and thoughtful and for all the advices! Arvydas, Sofia, Alex, Sanna, Mari, Maija and Elina, thank you for the times together in the HBGP/DPBM student council. I really enjoyed those days and I'm still very proud of all the events we organized together!

I could not have survived these years without my dear friends outside Biomedicum: Nga, Mirja, Aija, Jonna and Marjaana. I'm deeply grateful for having you all in my life. Thank you for all the memorable moments we have shared together. My dear Oriental Hype: Aino, Mikaela, Nina, Seri, Stephanie and Suvi your craziness and our training together has kept me sane throughout the years. Thank you! I'm so proud to be part of our OH-family.

I express my endless gratefulness to my family Äiti, Maria and Tero. Thank you for all the support, always believing in me and never questioning my choices of life. I would not have made it this far without you.

Finally, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my beloved Perttu. Your support and encouragement has been invaluable. Thank you for sharing the journey of life with me. It's the greatest gift to give, I could not ask for more.

This reasearch was financially supported by the Doctoral Programme in Biomedicine within the Doctoral School of Health, the Academy of Finland, the Sigrid Jusélius foundation, the

Finnish Cultural Foundation, the Finnish Cancer Foundation, Finska Läkaresällskapet, The Häme Student Foundation, Instrumentarium Research Foundation, The University of Helsinki Funds, The Emil Aaltonen Foundation, The Ida Montin Foundation, The Oskar Öflund Foundation, The Research Foundation of Orion, The Biomedicum Foundation, The Foundation of K. Albin Johansson and The Paulo Foundation and Helsinki University Hospital Funds. All are sincerely acknowledged.

Helsinki, January, 2017

Srene Hivinkka

REFERENCES

- Ahmad, M., Frei, K., Willscher, E., Stefanski, A., Kaulich, K., Roth, P., Stuhler, K., Reifenberger, G., Binder, H. & Weller, M. 2014. How stemlike are sphere cultures from long-term cancer cell lines? Lessons from mouse glioma models *Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology* 73: 1062-1077.
- Ahmed, S. U., Carruthers, R., Gilmour, L., Yildirim, S., Watts, C. & Chalmers, A. J. 2015.
 Selective Inhibition of Parallel DNA Damage Response Pathways Optimizes
 Radiosensitization of Glioblastoma Stem-like Cells *Cancer research* 75: 4416-4428.
- Akino, T., Han, X., Nakayama, H., McNeish, B., Zurakowski, D., Mammoto, A., Klagsbrun, M.
 & Smith, E. 2014. Netrin-1 promotes medulloblastoma cell invasiveness and angiogenesis, and demonstrates elevated expression in tumor tissue and urine of patients with pediatric medulloblastoma. *Cancer research* 74: 3716-3726.
- Alcantara Llaguno, S., Chen, J., Kwon, C. H., Jackson, E. L., Li, Y., Burns, D. K., Alvarez-Buylla, A. & Parada, L. F. 2009. Malignant astrocytomas originate from neural stem/progenitor cells in a somatic tumor suppressor mouse model *Cancer cell* 15: 45-56.
- An, X. Z., Zhao, Z. G., Luo, Y. X., Zhang, R., Tang, X. Q., Hao, D. L., Zhao, X., Lv, X. & Liu, D. P. 2016. Netrin-1 suppresses the MEK/ERK pathway and ITGB4 in pancreatic cancer. *Oncotarget*
- Artavanis-Tsakonas, S., Matsuno, K. & Fortini, M. E. 1995. Notch signaling *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 268: 225-232.
- Ayaz, F. & Osborne, B. A. 2014. Non-canonical notch signaling in cancer and immunity *Frontiers in oncology* 4: 345.
- Baker, G. J., Yadav, V. N., Motsch, S., Koschmann, C., Calinescu, A. A., Mineharu, Y., Camelo-Piragua, S. I., Orringer, D., Bannykh, S., Nichols, W. S., deCarvalho, A. C., Mikkelsen, T., Castro, M. G. & Lowenstein, P. R. 2014. Mechanisms of glioma formation: iterative perivascular glioma growth and invasion leads to tumor progression, VEGFindependent vascularization, and resistance to antiangiogenic therapy *Neoplasia (New York, N.Y.)* 16: 543-561.
- Balss, J., Meyer, J., Mueller, W., Korshunov, A., Hartmann, C. & von Deimling, A. 2008. Analysis of the IDH1 codon 132 mutation in brain tumors *Acta Neuropathologica* 116: 597-602.
- Banyai, L. & Patthy, L. 1999. The NTR module: domains of netrins, secreted frizzled related proteins, and type I procollagen C-proteinase enhancer protein are homologous with tissue inhibitors of metalloproteases. *Protein science: a publication of the Protein Society* 8: 1636-1642.
- Bao, S., Wu, Q., McLendon, R. E., Hao, Y., Shi, Q., Hjelmeland, A. B., Dewhirst, M. W., Bigner, D. D. & Rich, J. N. 2006a. Glioma stem cells promote radioresistance by preferential activation of the DNA damage response. *Nature* 444: 756-760.
- Bao, S., Wu, Q., Sathornsumetee, S., Hao, Y., Li, Z., Hjelmeland, A. B., Shi, Q., McLendon, R. E., Bigner, D. D. & Rich, J. N. 2006b. Stem cell-like glioma cells promote tumor angiogenesis through vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cancer research* 66: 7843-7848.

- Bar, E. E., Lin, A., Mahairaki, V., Matsui, W. & Eberhart, C. G. 2010. Hypoxia increases the expression of stem-cell markers and promotes clonogenicity in glioblastoma neurospheres *The American journal of pathology* 177: 1491-1502.
- Baron, M. 2012. Endocytic routes to Notch activation. *Seminars in cell & developmental biology*
- Baumann, N. & Pham-Dinh, D. 2001. Biology of oligodendrocyte and myelin in the mammalian central nervous system *Physiological Reviews* 81: 871-927.
- Beier, D., Hau, P., Proescholdt, M., Lohmeier, A., Wischhusen, J., Oefner, P. J., Aigner, L., Brawanski, A., Bogdahn, U. & Beier, C. P. 2007. CD133(+) and CD133(-) glioblastomaderived cancer stem cells show differential growth characteristics and molecular profiles *Cancer research* 67: 4010-4015.
- Bin, J. M., Han, D., Lai Wing Sun, K., Croteau, L. P., Dumontier, E., Cloutier, J. F., Kania, A. & Kennedy, T. E. 2015. Complete Loss of Netrin-1 Results in Embryonic Lethality and Severe Axon Guidance Defects without Increased Neural Cell Death *Cell reports* 12: 1099-1106.
- Bjerkvig, R., Laerum, O. D. & Rucklidge, G. J. 1989. Immunocytochemical characterization of extracellular matrix proteins expressed by cultured glioma cells *Cancer research* 49: 5424-5428.
- Bonnet, D. & Dick, J. E. 1997. Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell *Nature medicine* 3: 730 737.
- Bradshaw, A., Wickremsekera, A., Tan, S. T., Peng, L., Davis, P. F. & Itinteang, T. 2016. Cancer Stem Cell Hierarchy in Glioblastoma Multiforme *Frontiers in surgery* 3: 21.
- Brat, D. J., Castellano-Sanchez, A. A., Hunter, S. B., Pecot, M., Cohen, C., Hammond, E. H., Devi, S. N., Kaur, B. & Van Meir, E. G. 2004a. Pseudopalisades in glioblastoma are hypoxic, express extracellular matrix proteases, and are formed by an actively migrating cell population. *Cancer research* 64: 920-927.
- Brat, D. J., Castellano-Sanchez, A. A., Hunter, S. B., Pecot, M., Cohen, C., Hammond, E. H., Devi, S. N., Kaur, B. & Van Meir, E. G. 2004b. Pseudopalisades in glioblastoma are hypoxic, express extracellular matrix proteases, and are formed by an actively migrating cell population *Cancer research* 64: 920-927.
- Brennan, C. W., Verhaak, R. G., McKenna, A., Campos, B., Noushmehr, H., Salama, S. R., Zheng, S., Chakravarty, D., Sanborn, J. Z., Berman, S. H., Beroukhim, R., Bernard, B., Wu, C. J., Genovese, G., Shmulevich, I., Barnholtz-Sloan, J., Zou, L., Vegesna, R., Shukla, S. A., Ciriello, G., Yung, W. K., Zhang, W., Sougnez, C., Mikkelsen, T., Aldape, K., Bigner, D. D., Van Meir, E. G., Prados, M., Sloan, A., Black, K. L., Eschbacher, J., Finocchiaro, G., Friedman, W., Andrews, D. W., Guha, A., Iacocca, M., O'Neill, B. P., Foltz, G., Myers, J., Weisenberger, D. J., Penny, R., Kucherlapati, R., Perou, C. M., Hayes, D. N., Gibbs, R., Marra, M., Mills, G. B., Lander, E., Spellman, P., Wilson, R., Sander, C., Weinstein, J., Meyerson, M., Gabriel, S., Laird, P. W., Haussler, D., Getz, G., Chin, L. & TCGA Research Network. 2013. The somatic genomic landscape of glioblastoma *Cell* 155: 462-477.

Brenner, S. 1974. THE GENETICS OF CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS Genetics 77: 71-94.

Brescia, P., Ortensi, B., Fornasari, L., Levi, D., Broggi, G. & Pelicci, G. 2013. CD133 is essential for glioblastoma stem cell maintenance *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio)* 31: 857-869.

- Calabrese, C., Poppleton, H., Kocak, M., Hogg, T. L., Fuller, C., Hamner, B., Oh, E. Y., Gaber, M. W., Finklestein, D., Allen, M., Frank, A., Bayazitov, I. T., Zakharenko, S. S., Gajjar, A., Davidoff, A. & Gilbertson, R. J. 2007. A Perivascular Niche for Brain Tumor Stem Cells *Cancer Cell* 11: 69-82.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. 2008. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways *Nature* 455: 1061-1068.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network, Brat, D. J., Verhaak, R. G., Aldape, K. D., Yung, W. K., Salama, S. R., Cooper, L. A., Rheinbay, E., Miller, C. R., Vitucci, M., Morozova, O., Robertson, A. G., Noushmehr, H., Laird, P. W., Cherniack, A. D., Akbani, R., Huse, J. T., Ciriello, G., Poisson, L. M., Barnholtz-Sloan, J. S., Berger, M. S., Brennan, C., Colen, R. R., Colman, H., Flanders, A. E., Giannini, C., Grifford, M., Iavarone, A., Jain, R., Joseph, I., Kim, J., Kasaian, K., Mikkelsen, T., Murray, B. A., O'Neill, B. P., Pachter, L., Parsons, D. W., Sougnez, C., Sulman, E. P., Vandenberg, S. R., Van Meir, E. G., von Deimling, A., Zhang, H., Crain, D., Lau, K., Mallery, D., Morris, S., Paulauskis, J., Penny, R., Shelton, T., Sherman, M., Yena, P., Black, A., Bowen, J., Dicostanzo, K., Gastier-Foster, J., Leraas, K. M., Lichtenberg, T. M., Pierson, C. R., Ramirez, N. C., Taylor, C., Weaver, S., Wise, L., Zmuda, E., Davidsen, T., Demchok, J. A., Eley, G., Ferguson, M. L., Hutter, C. M., Mills Shaw, K. R., Ozenberger, B. A., Sheth, M., Sofia, H. J., Tarnuzzer, R., Wang, Z., Yang, L., Zenklusen, J. C., Ayala, B., Baboud, J., Chudamani, S., Jensen, M. A., Liu, J., Pihl, T., Raman, R., Wan, Y., Wu, Y., Ally, A., Auman, J. T., Balasundaram, M., Balu, S., Baylin, S. B., Beroukhim, R., Bootwalla, M. S., Bowlby, R., Bristow, C. A., Brooks, D., Butterfield, Y., Carlsen, R., Carter, S., Chin, L., et al. 2015. Comprehensive, Integrative Genomic Analysis of Diffuse Lower-Grade Gliomas. The New England journal of medicine 372: 2481-2498.
- Cayre, M., Courtes, S., Martineau, F., Giordano, M., Arnaud, K., Zamaron, A. & Durbec, P. 2013. Netrin 1 contributes to vascular remodeling in the subventricular zone and promotes progenitor emigration after demyelination *Development (Cambridge, England)* 140: 3107-3117.
- Charles, N., Ozawa, T., Squatrito, M., Bleau, A. M., Brennan, C. W., Hambardzumyan, D. & Holland, E. C. 2010. Perivascular nitric oxide activates notch signaling and promotes stem-like character in PDGF-induced glioma cells *Cell stem cell* 6: 141-152.
- Chen, J., Kesari, S., Rooney, C., Strack, P. R., Chen, J., Shen, H., Wu, L. & Griffin, J. D. 2010. Inhibition of Notch Signaling Blocks Growth of Glioblastoma Cell Lines and Tumor Neurospheres. *Genes & cancer* 1: 822-835.
- Chen, J., Li, Y., Yu, T. S., McKay, R. M., Burns, D. K., Kernie, S. G. & Parada, L. F. 2012. A restricted cell population propagates glioblastoma growth after chemotherapy *Nature* 488: 522-526.
- Chen, P., Lepikhova, T., Hu, Y., Monni, O. & Hautaniemi, S. 2011. Comprehensive exon array data processing method for quantitative analysis of alternative spliced variants *Nucleic acids research* 39: e123.
- Chen, R., Cohen, A. L. & Colman, H. 2016. Targeted Therapeutics in Patients With High-Grade Gliomas: Past, Present, and Future *Current treatment options in oncology* 17: 42-016-0418-0.
- Cheng, L., Huang, Z., Zhou, W., Wu, Q., Donnola, S., Liu, J. K., Fang, X., Sloan, A. E., Mao, Y., Lathia, J. D., Min, W., McLendon, R. E., Rich, J. N. & Bao, S. 2013. Glioblastoma stem

cells generate vascular pericytes to support vessel function and tumor growth *Cell* 153: 139-152.

- Cheng, L., Wu, Q., Guryanova, O. A., Huang, Z., Huang, Q., Rich, J. N. & Bao, S. 2011a. Elevated invasive potential of glioblastoma stem cells *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 406: 643-648.
- Cheng, L., Wu, Q., Huang, Z., Guryanova, O. A., Huang, Q., Shou, W., Rich, J. N. & Bao, S. 2011b. L1CAM regulates DNA damage checkpoint response of glioblastoma stem cells through NBS1 *The EMBO journal* 30: 800-813.
- Chiao, M., Yang, Y., Cheng, W., Shen, C. & Ko, J. 2011. CD133+ Glioblastoma Stem-Like Cells Induce Vascular Mimicry in Vivo *Current Neurovascular Research* 8: 210 - 219.
- Chigurupati, S., Venkataraman, R., Barrera, D., Naganathan, A., Madan, M., Paul, L., Pattisapu, J. V., Kyriazis, G. A., Sugaya, K., Bushnev, S., Lathia, J. D., Rich, J. N. & Chan, S. L. 2010. Receptor channel TRPC6 is a key mediator of Notch-driven glioblastoma growth and invasiveness. *Cancer research* 70: 418-427.
- Chinot, O. L., Wick, W., Mason, W., Henriksson, R., Saran, F., Nishikawa, R., Carpentier, A. F., Hoang-Xuan, K., Kavan, P., Cernea, D., Brandes, A. A., Hilton, M., Abrey, L. & Cloughesy, T. 2014. Bevacizumab plus radiotherapy-temozolomide for newly diagnosed glioblastoma *The New England journal of medicine* 370: 709-722.
- Cirulli, V. & Yebra, M. 2007. Netrins: beyond the brain. *Nature reviews.Molecular cell biology* 8: 296-306.
- Clark, A. G. & Vignjevic, D. M. 2015. Modes of cancer cell invasion and the role of the microenvironment *Current opinion in cell biology* 36: 13-22.
- Clarke, M. F., Dick, J. E., Dirks, P. B., Eaves, C. J., Jamieson, C. H. M., Jones, D. L., Visvader, J., Weissman, I. L. & Wahl, G. M. 2006. Cancer Stem Cells--Perspectives on Current Status and Future Directions: AACR Workshop on Cancer Stem Cells *Cancer research* 66: 9339-9344.
- Dalvin, S., Anselmo, M. A., Prodhan, P., Komatsuzaki, K., Schnitzer, J. J. & Kinane, T. B. 2003. Expression of Netrin-1 and its two receptors DCC and UNC5H2 in the developing mouse lung *Gene expression patterns : GEP* 3: 279-283.
- De Filippis, L. & Delia, D. 2011. Hypoxia in the regulation of neural stem cells *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS* 68: 2831-2844.
- De Witt Hamer, P. C., Van Tilborg, A. A., Eijk, P. P., Sminia, P., Troost, D., Van Noorden, C. J., Ylstra, B. & Leenstra, S. 2008. The genomic profile of human malignant glioma is altered early in primary cell culture and preserved in spheroids *Oncogene* 27: 2091-2096.
- Dell'albani, P., Rodolico, M., Pellitteri, R., Tricarichi, E., Torrisi, S. A., D'Antoni, S., Zappia, M., Albanese, V., Caltabiano, R., Platania, N., Aronica, E. & Catania, M. V. 2014. Differential patterns of NOTCH1-4 receptor expression are markers of glioma cell differentiation *Neuro-oncology* 16: 204-216.
- Delloye-Bourgeois, C., Brambilla, E., Coissieux, M. M., Guenebeaud, C., Pedeux, R., Firlej, V., Cabon, F., Brambilla, C., Mehlen, P. & Bernet, A. 2009a. Interference with netrin-1 and tumor cell death in non-small cell lung cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 101: 237-247.

- Delloye-Bourgeois, C., Fitamant, J., Paradisi, A., Cappellen, D., Douc-Rasy, S., Raquin, M. A., Stupack, D., Nakagawara, A., Rousseau, R., Combaret, V., Puisieux, A., Valteau-Couanet, D., Benard, J., Bernet, A. & Mehlen, P. 2009b. Netrin-1 acts as a survival factor for aggressive neuroblastoma. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 206: 833-847.
- Doetsch, F., Caillé, I., Lim, D. A., García-Verdugo, J. M. & Alvarez-Buylla, A. 1999. Subventricular Zone Astrocytes Are Neural Stem Cells in the Adult Mammalian Brain *Cell* 97: 703 - 716.
- Dumartin, L., Quemener, C., Laklai, H., Herbert, J., Bicknell, R., Bousquet, C., Pyronnet, S., Castronovo, V., Schilling, M. K., Bikfalvi, A. & Hagedorn, M. 2010. Netrin-1 mediates early events in pancreatic adenocarcinoma progression, acting on tumor and endothelial cells. *Gastroenterology* 138: 1595-606, 1606.e1-8.
- El Hallani, S., Boisselier, B., Peglion, F., Rousseau, A., Colin, C., Idbaih, A., Marie, Y., Mokhtari, K., Thomas, J. L., Eichmann, A., Delattre, J. Y., Maniotis, A. J. & Sanson, M. 2010; 2010. A new alternative mechanism in glioblastoma vascularization: tubular vasculogenic mimicry *Brain* 133: 973 <last page> 982.
- El Hallani, S., Colin, C., El Houfi, Y., Idbaih, A., Boisselier, B., Marie, Y., Ravassard, P., Labussiere, M., Mokhtari, K., Thomas, J. L., Delattre, J. Y., Eichmann, A. & Sanson, M. 2014. Tumor and endothelial cell hybrids participate in glioblastoma vasculature *BioMed research international* 2014: 827327.
- Ellisen, L. W., Bird, J., West, D. C., Soreng, A. L., Reynolds, T. C., Smith, S. D. & Sklar, J. 1991. TAN-1, the human homolog of the Drosophila notch gene, is broken by chromosomal translocations in T lymphoblastic neoplasms *Cell* 66: 649-661.
- Engelkamp, D. 2002. Cloning of three mouse Unc5 genes and their expression patterns at mid-gestation *Mechanisms of development* 118: 191-197.
- Esseghir, S., Kennedy, A., Seedhar, P., Nerurkar, A., Poulsom, R., Reis-Filho, J. S. & Isacke, C. M. 2007. Identification of NTN4, TRA1, and STC2 as Prognostic Markers in Breast Cancer in a Screen for Signal Sequence Encoding Proteins *Clinical Cancer Research* 13: 3164-3173.
- Eveno, C., Broqueres-You, D., Feron, J. G., Rampanou, A., Tijeras-Raballand, A., Ropert, S., Leconte, L., Levy, B. I. & Pocard, M. 2011. Netrin-4 delays colorectal cancer carcinomatosis by inhibiting tumor angiogenesis *The American journal of pathology* 178: 1861-1869.
- Eveno, C., Contreres, J. O., Hainaud, P., Nemeth, J., Dupuy, E. & Pocard, M. 2013. Netrin-4 overexpression suppresses primary and metastatic colorectal tumor progression *Oncology reports* 29: 73-78.
- Fack, F., Espedal, H., Keunen, O., Golebiewska, A., Obad, N., Harter, P. N., Mittelbronn, M., Bahr, O., Weyerbrock, A., Stuhr, L., Miletic, H., Sakariassen, P. O., Stieber, D., Rygh, C. B., Lund-Johansen, M., Zheng, L., Gottlieb, E., Niclou, S. P. & Bjerkvig, R. 2015. Bevacizumab treatment induces metabolic adaptation toward anaerobic metabolism in glioblastomas *Acta Neuropathologica* 129: 115-131.
- Fan, X., Khaki, L., Zhu, T. S., Soules, M. E., Talsma, C. E., Gul, N., Koh, C., Zhang, J., Li, Y. M., Maciaczyk, J., Nikkhah, G., Dimeco, F., Piccirillo, S., Vescovi, A. L. & Eberhart, C. G. 2010. NOTCH pathway blockade depletes CD133-positive glioblastoma cells and

inhibits growth of tumor neurospheres and xenografts. *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio)* 28: 5-16.

- Ferrara, N., Hillan, K. J., Gerber, H. P. & Novotny, W. 2004. Discovery and development of bevacizumab, an anti-VEGF antibody for treating cancer *Nature reviews.Drug discovery* 3: 391-400.
- Fessler, E., Borovski, T. & Medema, J. P. 2015. Endothelial cells induce cancer stem cell features in differentiated glioblastoma cells via bFGF *Molecular cancer* 14: 157-015-0420-3.
- Field, K. M., Jordan, J. T., Wen, P. Y., Rosenthal, M. A. & Reardon, D. A. 2015. Bevacizumab and glioblastoma: scientific review, newly reported updates, and ongoing controversies *Cancer* 121: 997-1007.
- Fitamant, J., Guenebeaud, C., Coissieux, M. M., Guix, C., Treilleux, I., Scoazec, J. Y., Bachelot, T., Bernet, A. & Mehlen, P. 2008. Netrin-1 expression confers a selective advantage for tumor cell survival in metastatic breast cancer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105: 4850-4855.
- Friedl, P. & Wolf, K. 2010. Plasticity of cell migration: a multiscale tuning model *The Journal* of cell biology 188: 11-19.
- Friedman, H. S., Dolan, M. E., Pegg, A. E., Marcelli, S., Keir, S., Catino, J. J., Bigner, D. D. & Schold, S. C., Jr. 1995. Activity of temozolomide in the treatment of central nervous system tumor xenografts *Cancer research* 55: 2853-2857.
- Friedman, H. S., Kerby, T. & Calvert, H. 2000. Temozolomide and treatment of malignant glioma *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* 6: 2585-2597.
- Friedman, H. S., Prados, M. D., Wen, P. Y., Mikkelsen, T., Schiff, D., Abrey, L. E., Yung, W. K., Paleologos, N., Nicholas, M. K., Jensen, R., Vredenburgh, J., Huang, J., Zheng, M. & Cloughesy, T. 2009. Bevacizumab alone and in combination with irinotecan in recurrent glioblastoma *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 27: 4733-4740.
- Galli, R., Binda, E., Orfanelli, U., Cipelletti, B., Gritti, A., De Vitis, S., Fiocco, R., Foroni, C., Dimeco, F. & Vescovi, A. 2004. Isolation and characterization of tumorigenic, stem-like neural precursors from human glioblastoma *Cancer research* 64: 7011-7021.
- Gehrmann, J., Matsumoto, Y. & Kreutzberg, G. W. 1995. Microglia: intrinsic immuneffector cell of the brain *Brain research.Brain research reviews* 20: 269-287.
- Geraldo, S. & Gordon-Weeks, P. R. 2009. Cytoskeletal dynamics in growth-cone steering *Journal of cell science* 122: 3595-3604.
- Gilbert, M. R., Dignam, J. J., Armstrong, T. S., Wefel, J. S., Blumenthal, D. T., Vogelbaum, M. A., Colman, H., Chakravarti, A., Pugh, S., Won, M., Jeraj, R., Brown, P. D., Jaeckle, K. A., Schiff, D., Stieber, V. W., Brachman, D. G., Werner-Wasik, M., Tremont-Lukats, I. W., Sulman, E. P., Aldape, K. D., Curran, W. J., Jr & Mehta, M. P. 2014. A randomized trial of bevacizumab for newly diagnosed glioblastoma *The New England journal of medicine* 370: 699-708.

- Gingras, M. C., Roussel, E., Bruner, J. M., Branch, C. D. & Moser, R. P. 1995. Comparison of cell adhesion molecule expression between glioblastoma multiforme and autologous normal brain tissue *Journal of neuroimmunology* 57: 143-153.
- Gordon, M. S., Margolin, K., Talpaz, M., Sledge, G. W., Jr, Holmgren, E., Benjamin, R., Stalter, S., Shak, S. & Adelman, D. 2001. Phase I safety and pharmacokinetic study of recombinant human anti-vascular endothelial growth factor in patients with advanced cancer Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 19: 843-850.
- Gritsenko, P. G., Ilina, O. & Friedl, P. 2012. Interstitial guidance of cancer invasion *The Journal of pathology* 226: 185-199.
- Gustafsson, M. V., Zheng, X., Pereira, T., Gradin, K., Jin, S., Lundkvist, J., Ruas, J. L., Poellinger, L., Lendahl, U. & Bondesson, M. 2005. Hypoxia requires notch signaling to maintain the undifferentiated cell state *Developmental cell* 9: 617-628.
- Hagedorn, E. J., Ziel, J. W., Morrissey, M. A., Linden, L. M., Wang, Z., Chi, Q., Johnson, S. A.
 & Sherwood, D. R. 2013. The netrin receptor DCC focuses invadopodia-driven basement membrane transmigration in vivo. *The Journal of cell biology* 201: 903-913.
- Haines, N. & Irvine, K. D. 2003. Glycosylation regulates Notch signalling Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology 4: 786-797.
- Han, P., Fu, Y., Liu, J., Wang, Y., He, J., Gong, J., Li, M., Tan, Q., Li, D., Luo, Y., Han, J., Liu, J., Tu, W., Wang, Y., Tian, D. & Yan, W. 2015. Netrin-1 promotes cell migration and invasion by down-regulation of BVES expression in human hepatocellular carcinoma *American journal of cancer research* 5: 1396-1409.
- Harris, R., Sabatelli, L. M. & Seeger, M. A. 1996. Guidance cues at the Drosophila CNS midline: identification and characterization of two Drosophila Netrin/UNC-6 homologs. *Neuron* 17: 217-228.
- Harter, P. N., Zinke, J., Scholz, A., Tichy, J., Zachskorn, C., Kvasnicka, H. M., Goeppert, B., Delloye-Bourgeois, C., Hattingen, E., Senft, C., Steinbach, J. P., Plate, K. H., Mehlen, P., Schulte, D. & Mittelbronn, M. 2014. Netrin-1 expression is an independent prognostic factor for poor patient survival in brain metastases. *PloS one* 9: e92311.
- Haseloff, R. F., Blasig, I. E., Bauer, H. C. & Bauer, H. 2005. In search of the astrocytic factor(s) modulating blood-brain barrier functions in brain capillary endothelial cells in vitro Cellular and molecular neurobiology 25: 25-39.
- Hasselbach, L. A., Irtenkauf, S. M., Lemke, N. W., Nelson, K. K., Berezovsky, A. D., Carlton, E. T., Transou, A. D., Mikkelsen, T. & deCarvalho, A. C. 2014a. Optimization of high grade glioma cell culture from surgical specimens for use in clinically relevant animal models and 3D immunochemistry *Journal of visualized experiments: JoVE* (83):e51088. doi: e51088.
- Hasselbach, L. A., Irtenkauf, S. M., Lemke, N. W., Nelson, K. K., Berezovsky, A. D., Carlton, E. T., Transou, A. D., Mikkelsen, T. & deCarvalho, A. C. 2014b. Optimization of high grade glioma cell culture from surgical specimens for use in clinically relevant animal models and 3D immunochemistry *Journal of visualized experiments: JoVE* (83):e51088. doi: e51088.

- Heddleston, J. M., Li, Z., McLendon, R. E., Hjelmeland, A. B. & Rich, J. N. 2009. The hypoxic microenvironment maintains glioblastoma stem cells and promotes reprogramming towards a cancer stem cell phenotype *Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex.)* 8: 3274-3284.
- Hedgecock, E. M., Culotti, J. G. & Hall, D. H. 1990. The unc-5, unc-6, and unc-40 genes guide circumferential migrations of pioneer axons and mesodermal cells on the epidermis in C. elegans *Neuron* 4: 61-85.
- Herrera-Perez, M., Voytik-Harbin, S. L. & Rickus, J. L. 2015. Extracellular Matrix Properties Regulate the Migratory Response of Glioblastoma Stem Cells in Three-Dimensional Culture *Tissue engineering.Part A* 21: 2572-2582.
- Hirata, E., Yukinaga, H., Kamioka, Y., Arakawa, Y., Miyamoto, S., Okada, T., Sahai, E. & Matsuda, M. 2012. In vivo fluorescence resonance energy transfer imaging reveals differential activation of Rho-family GTPases in glioblastoma cell invasion *Journal of cell science* 125: 858-868.
- Hoelzinger, D. B., Mariani, L., Weis, J., Woyke, T., Berens, T. J., McDonough, W. S., Sloan, A., Coons, S. W. & Berens, M. E. 2005. Gene expression profile of glioblastoma multiforme invasive phenotype points to new therapeutic targets *Neoplasia (New York, N.Y.)* 7: 7-16.
- Holland, E. C., Celestino, J., Dai, C., Schaefer, L., Sawaya, R. E. & Fuller, G. N. 2000. Combined activation of Ras and Akt in neural progenitors induces glioblastoma formation in mice *Nature genetics* 25: 55-57.
- Hong, K., Hinck, L., Nishiyama, M., Poo, M. M., Tessier-Lavigne, M. & Stein, E. 1999. A ligand-gated association between cytoplasmic domains of UNC5 and DCC family receptors converts netrin-induced growth cone attraction to repulsion. *Cell* 97: 927-941.
- Hu, Y. Y., Zheng, M. H., Cheng, G., Li, L., Liang, L., Gao, F., Wei, Y. N., Fu, L. A. & Han, H.
 2011. Notch signaling contributes to the maintenance of both normal neural stem cells and patient-derived glioma stem cells. *BMC cancer* 11: 82.
- Huang, H., Shao, Q., Qu, C., Yang, T., Dwyer, T. & Liu, G. 2015. Coordinated interaction of Down syndrome cell adhesion molecule and deleted in colorectal cancer with dynamic TUBB3 mediates Netrin-1-induced axon branching *Neuroscience* 293: 109-122.
- Ignatova, T. N., Kukekov, V. G., Laywell, E. D., Suslov, O. N., Vrionis, F. D. & Steindler, D. A. 2002; 2002. Human cortical glial tumors contain neural stem-like cells expressing astroglial and neuronal markers in vitro *Glia* 39: 193-206.
- Ingram, W. J., McCue, K. I., Tran, T. H., Hallahan, A. R. & Wainwright, B. J. 2008. Sonic Hedgehog regulates Hes1 through a novel mechanism that is independent of canonical Notch pathway signalling. *Oncogene* 27: 1489–1500.
- Inukai, M., Hara, A., Yasui, Y., Kumabe, T., Matsumoto, T. & Saegusa, M. 2015. Hypoxiamediated cancer stem cells in pseudopalisades with activation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha/Akt axis in glioblastoma *Human pathology* 46: 1496-1505.
- Ishiwata, T., Teduka, K., Yamamoto, T., Kawahara, K., Matsuda, Y. & Naito, Z. 2011. Neuroepithelial stem cell marker nestin regulates the migration, invasion and growth of human gliomas *Oncology reports* 26: 91-99.

- Jahnke, K., Muldoon, L. L., Varallyay, C. G., Lewin, S. J., Kraemer, D. F. & Neuwelt, E. A. 2009. Bevacizumab and carboplatin increase survival and asymptomatic tumor volume in a glioma model *Neuro-oncology* 11: 142-150.
- Jain, R. K. 2013. Normalizing tumor microenvironment to treat cancer: bench to bedside to biomarkers *Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 31: 2205-2218.
- Jain, S. & Welshhans, K. 2015. Netrin-1 induces local translation of Down syndrome cell adhesion molecule in axonal growth cones *Developmental Neurobiology* 76: 799-816.
- Jayachandran, A., Prithviraj, P., Lo, P. H., Walkiewicz, M., Anaka, M., Woods, B. L., Tan, B., Behren, A., Cebon, J. & McKeown, S. J. 2016. Identifying and targeting determinants of melanoma cellular invasion *Oncotarget*
- Johansson, C. B., Momma, S., Clarke, D. L., Risling, M., Lendahl, U. & Frisén, J. 1999. Identification of a Neural Stem Cell in the Adult Mammalian Central Nervous System *Cell* 96: 25-34.
- Kai, F., Laklai, H. & Weaver, V. M. 2016. Force Matters: Biomechanical Regulation of Cell Invasion and Migration in Disease *Trends in cell biology*
- Kato, H., Sakai, T., Tamura, K., Minoguchi, S., Shirayoshi, Y., Hamada, Y., Tsujimoto, Y. & Honjo, T. 1996. Functional conservation of mouse Notch receptor family members *FEBS letters* 395: 221-224.
- Kazanis, I. 2012. Can adult neural stem cells create new brains? Plasticity in the adult mammalian neurogenic niches: realities and expectations in the era of regenerative biology *The Neuroscientist: a review journal bringing neurobiology, neurology and psychiatry* 18: 15-27.
- Keino-Masu, K., Masu, M., Hinck, L., Leonardo, E. D., Chan, S. S., Culotti, J. G. & Tessier-Lavigne, M. 1996. Deleted in Colorectal Cancer (DCC) encodes a netrin receptor. *Cell* 87: 175–185.
- Kitai, R., Horita, R., Sato, K., Yoshida, K., Arishima, H., Higashino, Y., Hashimoto, N., Takeuchi, H., Kubota, T. & Kikuta, K. 2010. Nestin expression in astrocytic tumors delineates tumor infiltration *Brain tumor pathology* 27: 17-21.
- Ko, S. Y., Blatch, G. L. & Dass, C. R. 2014. Netrin-1 as a potential target for metastatic cancer: focus on colorectal cancer *Cancer metastasis reviews* 33: 101-113.
- Kojima, T., Hirota, Y., Ema, M., Takahashi, S., Miyoshi, I., Okano, H. & Sawamoto, K. 2010. Subventricular zone-derived neural progenitor cells migrate along a blood vessel scaffold toward the post-stroke striatum *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio)* 28: 545-554.
- Kolodkin, A. L. & Tessier-Lavigne, M. 2011. Mechanisms and molecules of neuronal wiring: a primer. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* 3: 10.1101/cshperspect.a001727.
- Kondo, T., Setoguchi, T. & Taga, T. 2004. Persistence of a small subpopulation of cancer stem-like cells in the C6 glioma cell line *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101: 781-786.
- Kopan, R. & Ilagan, M. X. 2009. The canonical Notch signaling pathway: unfolding the activation mechanism *Cell* 137: 216-233.

Krencik, R., van Asperen, J. V. & Ullian, E. M. 2016. Human astrocytes are distinct contributors to the complexity of synaptic function *Brain research bulletin*

- Kristoffersen, K., Nedergaard, M. K., Villingshoj, M., Borup, R., Broholm, H., Kjaer, A., Poulsen, H. S. & Stockhausen, M. T. 2014. Inhibition of Notch signaling alters the phenotype of orthotopic tumors formed from glioblastoma multiforme neurosphere cells but does not hamper intracranial tumor growth regardless of endogene Notch pathway signature. *Cancer biology & therapy* 15: 862-877.
- Kristoffersen, K., Villingshoj, M., Poulsen, H. S. & Stockhausen, M. T. 2013. Level of Notch activation determines the effect on growth and stem cell-like features in glioblastoma multiforme neurosphere cultures *Cancer biology & therapy* 14: 625-637.
- Krop, I., Demuth, T., Guthrie, T., Wen, P. Y., Mason, W. P., Chinnaiyan, P., Butowski, N., Groves, M. D., Kesari, S., Freedman, S. J., Blackman, S., Watters, J., Loboda, A., Podtelezhnikov, A., Lunceford, J., Chen, C., Giannotti, M., Hing, J., Beckman, R. & Lorusso, P. 2012. Phase I pharmacologic and pharmacodynamic study of the gamma secretase (Notch) inhibitor MK-0752 in adult patients with advanced solid tumors *Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 30: 2307-2313.
- Kurooka, H., Kuroda, K. & Honjo, T. 1998. Roles of the ankyrin repeats and C-terminal region of the mouse notch1 intracellular region *Nucleic acids research* 26: 5448-5455.
- Laakso, M. & Hautaniemi, S. 2010. Integrative platform to translate gene sets to networks *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)* 26: 1802-1803.
- Lai, A., Kharbanda, S., Pope, W. B., Tran, A., Solis, O. E., Peale, F., Forrest, W. F., Pujara, K., Carrillo, J. A., Pandita, A., Ellingson, B. M., Bowers, C. W., Soriano, R. H., Schmidt, N. O., Mohan, S., Yong, W. H., Seshagiri, S., Modrusan, Z., Jiang, Z., Aldape, K. D., Mischel, P. S., Liau, L. M., Escovedo, C. J., Chen, W., Nghiemphu, P. L., James, C. D., Prados, M. D., Westphal, M., Lamszus, K., Cloughesy, T. & Phillips, H. S. 2011. Evidence for sequenced molecular evolution of IDH1 mutant glioblastoma from a distinct cell of origin *Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 29: 4482-4490.
- Lardelli, M., Dahlstrand, J. & Lendahl, U. 1994. The novel Notch homologue mouse Notch 3 lacks specific epidermal growth factor-repeats and is expressed in proliferating neuroepithelium *Mechanisms of development* 46: 123-136.
- Larrieu-Lahargue, F., Welm, A. L., Thomas, K. R. & Li, D. Y. 2010. Netrin-4 induces lymphangiogenesis in vivo *Blood* 115: 5418-5426.
- Lathia, J. D., Gallagher, J., Heddleston, J. M., Wang, J., Eyler, C. E., Macswords, J., Wu, Q., Vasanji, A., McLendon, R. E., Hjelmeland, A. B. & Rich, J. N. 2010. Integrin alpha 6 regulates glioblastoma stem cells *Cell stem cell* 6: 421-432.
- Lee, M., Muller, F., Aquilanti, E., Hu, B. & DePinho, R. 2012. Stereotactic Orthotopic Xenograft Injections into the Mouse Brain.
- Lee, J., Kotliarova, S., Kotliarov, Y., Li, A., Su, Q., Donin, N. M., Pastorino, S., Purow, B. W., Christopher, N., Zhang, W., Park, J. K. & Fine, H. A. 2006. Tumor stem cells derived from glioblastomas cultured in bFGF and EGF more closely mirror the phenotype and genotype of primary tumors than do serum-cultured cell lines *Cancer Cell* 9: 391-403.

- Lee, S. J., Jung, Y. H., Oh, S. Y., Yong, M. S., Ryu, J. M. & Han, H. J. 2014. Netrin-1 induces MMP-12-dependent E-cadherin degradation via the distinct activation of PKCalpha and FAK/Fyn in promoting mesenchymal stem cell motility *Stem cells and development* 23: 1870-1882.
- Lejmi, E., Leconte, L., Pedron-Mazoyer, S., Ropert, S., Raoul, W., Lavalette, S., Bouras, I., Feron, J. G., Maitre-Boube, M., Assayag, F., Feumi, C., Alemany, M., Jie, T. X., Merkulova, T., Poupon, M. F., Ruchoux, M. M., Tobelem, G., Sennlaub, F. & Plouet, J. 2008. Netrin-4 inhibits angiogenesis via binding to neogenin and recruitment of Unc5B *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105: 12491-12496.
- Leonardo, E. D., Hinck, L., Masu, M., Keino-Masu, K., Ackerman, S. L. & Tessier-Lavigne, M. 1997. Vertebrate homologues of C. elegans UNC-5 are candidate netrin receptors. *Nature* 386: 833-838.
- Li, Z., Bao, S., Wu, Q., Wang, H., Eyler, C., Sathornsumetee, S., Shi, Q., Cao, Y., Lathia, J., McLendon, R. E., Hjelmeland, A. B. & Rich, J. N. 2009. Hypoxia-inducible factors regulate tumorigenic capacity of glioma stem cells *Cancer cell* 15: 501-513.
- Link, B. C., Reichelt, U., Schreiber, M., Kaifi, J. T., Wachowiak, R., Bogoevski, D., Bubenheim, M., Cataldegirmen, G., Gawad, K. A., Issa, R., Koops, S., Izbicki, J. R. & Yekebas, E. F.
 2007. Prognostic implications of netrin-1 expression and its receptors in patients with adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. *Annals of surgical oncology* 14: 2591-2599.
- Liu, Y., Stein, E., Oliver, T., Li, Y., Brunken, W. J., Koch, M., Tessier-Lavigne, M. & Hogan, B. L. 2004. Novel role for Netrins in regulating epithelial behavior during lung branching morphogenesis *Current biology: CB* 14: 897-905.
- Llambi, F., Causeret, F., Bloch-Gallego, E. & Mehlen, P. 2001. Netrin-1 acts as a survival factor via its receptors UNC5H and DCC. *The EMBO journal* 20: 2715-2722.
- Lobry, C., Oh, P. & Aifantis, I. 2011. Oncogenic and tumor suppressor functions of Notch in cancer: it's NOTCH what you think. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 208: 1931-1935.
- Louis, D. N., Ohgaki, H., Wiestler, O. D., Cavenee, W. K., Burger, P. C., Jouvet, A., Scheithauer, B. W. & Kleihues, P. 2007. The 2007 WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system. Acta Neuropathologica 114: 97-109.
- Louis, D. N., Perry, A., Reifenberger, G., von Deimling, A., Figarella-Branger, D., Cavenee, W.
 K., Ohgaki, H., Wiestler, O. D., Kleihues, P. & Ellison, D. W. 2016. The 2016 World
 Health Organization Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: a
 summary Acta Neuropathologica 131: 803-820.
- Lowery, L. A. & Van Vactor, D. 2009. The trip of the tip: understanding the growth cone machinery *Nature reviews*. *Molecular cell biology* 10: 332-343.
- Lv, B., Song, C., Wu, L., Zhang, Q., Hou, D., Chen, P., Yu, S., Wang, Z., Chu, Y., Zhang, J., Yang, D. & Liu, J. 2015. Netrin-4 as a biomarker promotes cell proliferation and invasion in gastric cancer *Oncotarget* 6: 9794-9806.
- Ly, A., Nikolaev, A., Suresh, G., Zheng, Y., Tessier-Lavigne, M. & Stein, E. 2008. DSCAM is a netrin receptor that collaborates with DCC in mediating turning responses to netrin-1 *Cell* 133: 1241-1254.

- Maedler, K., Yebra, M., Diaferia, G. R., Montgomery, A. M. P., Kaido, T., Brunken, W. J., Koch, M., Hardiman, G., Crisa, L. & Cirulli, V. 2011. Endothelium-Derived Netrin-4 Supports Pancreatic Epithelial Cell Adhesion and Differentiation through Integrins a2ß1 and a3ß1 *PLoS ONE* 6: e22750.
- Maenpaa, H. O. 2010. The treatment of adult glioma is multiphasic. *Duodecim; laaketieteellinen aikakauskirja* 126: 1669-1675.
- Maher, E. A., Furnari, F. B., Bachoo, R. M., Rowitch, D. H., Louis, D. N., Cavenee, W. K. & DePinho, R. A. 2001. Malignant glioma: genetics and biology of a grave matter. *Genes* & development 15: 1311-1333.
- Mahesparan, R., Read, T. A., Lund-Johansen, M., Skaftnesmo, K. O., Bjerkvig, R. & Engebraaten, O. 2003. Expression of extracellular matrix components in a highly infiltrative in vivo glioma model *Acta Neuropathologica* 105: 49-57.
- Margolin, K., Gordon, M. S., Holmgren, E., Gaudreault, J., Novotny, W., Fyfe, G., Adelman, D., Stalter, S. & Breed, J. 2001. Phase Ib trial of intravenous recombinant humanized monoclonal antibody to vascular endothelial growth factor in combination with chemotherapy in patients with advanced cancer: pharmacologic and long-term safety data *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 19: 851-856.
- Mathieu, P., Adami, P. V. & Morelli, L. 2013. Notch signaling in the pathologic adult brain *Biomolecular concepts* 4: 465-476.
- Mathieu, V., De Neve, N., Le Mercier, M., Dewelle, J., Gaussin, J. F., Dehoux, M., Kiss, R. & Lefranc, F. 2008. Combining bevacizumab with temozolomide increases the antitumor efficacy of temozolomide in a human glioblastoma orthotopic xenograft model *Neoplasia (New York, N.Y.)* 10: 1383-1392.
- Mazelin, L., Bernet, A., Bonod-Bidaud, C., Pays, L., Arnaud, S., Gespach, C., Bredesen, D. E., Scoazec, J. Y. & Mehlen, P. 2004. Netrin-1 controls colorectal tumorigenesis by regulating apoptosis. *Nature* 431: 80-84.
- Mehlen, P. & Bredesen, D. E. 2004. The dependence receptor hypothesis. *Apoptosis: An International Journal on Programmed Cell Death* 9: 37-49.
- Mehlen, P., Rabizadeh, S., Snipas, S. J., Assa-Munt, N., Salvesen, G. S. & Bredesen, D. E. 1998. The DCC gene product induces apoptosis by a mechanism requiring receptor proteolysis. *Nature* 395: 801-804.
- Mehlen, P. & Tauszig-Delamasure, S. 2014. Dependence receptors and colorectal cancer *Gut* 63: 1821-1829.
- Meloty-Kapella, L., Shergill, B., Kuon, J., Botvinick, E. & Weinmaster, G. 2012. Notch ligand endocytosis generates mechanical pulling force dependent on dynamin, epsins, and actin *Developmental cell* 22: 1299-1312.
- Mitchell, K. J., Doyle, J. L., Serafini, T., Kennedy, T. E., Tessier-Lavigne, M., Goodman, C. S. & Dickson, B. J. 1996a. Genetic analysis of Netrin genes in Drosophila: Netrins guide CNS commissural axons and peripheral motor axons. *Neuron* 17: 203-215.
- Mitchell, K. J., Doyle, J. L., Serafini, T., Kennedy, T. E., Tessier-Lavigne, M., Goodman, C. S. & Dickson, B. J. 1996b. Genetic Analysis of Netrin Genes in Drosophila: Netrins Guide CNS Commissural Axons and Peripheral Motor Axons *Neuron* 17: 203-215.

- Morrison, S. J. & Kimble, J. 2006. Asymmetric and symmetric stem-cell divisions in development and cancer *Nature* 441: 1068-1074.
- Nacht, M., St Martin, T. B., Byrne, A., Klinger, K. W., Teicher, B. A., Madden, S. L. & Jiang, Y. 2009. Netrin-4 regulates angiogenic responses and tumor cell growth *Experimental cell research* 315: 784-794.
- Nag, S. 2011. Morphology and properties of astrocytes *Methods in molecular biology* (*Clifton, N.J.*) 686: 69-100.
- Nakada, M., Nakamura, H., Ikeda, E., Fujimoto, N., Yamashita, J., Sato, H., Seiki, M. & Okada, Y. 1999. Expression and tissue localization of membrane-type 1, 2, and 3 matrix metalloproteinases in human astrocytic tumors. *The American journal of pathology* 154: 417-428.
- Nakashiba, T., Nishimura, S., Ikeda, T. & Itohara, S. 2002. Complementary expression and neurite outgrowth activity of netrin-G subfamily members. *Mechanisms of development* 111: 47-60.
- Nam, Y., Sliz, P., Song, L., Aster, J. C. & Blacklow, S. C. 2006. Structural basis for cooperativity in recruitment of MAML coactivators to Notch transcription complexes *Cell* 124: 973-983.
- Nikolopoulos, S. N., Blaikie, P., Yoshioka, T., Guo, W. & Giancotti, F. G. 2004. Integrin beta4 signaling promotes tumor angiogenesis *Cancer cell* 6: 471-483.
- Niyazi, M., Harter, P. N., Hattingen, E., Rottler, M., von Baumgarten, L., Proescholdt, M., Belka, C., Lauber, K. & Mittelbronn, M. 2016. Bevacizumab and radiotherapy for the treatment of glioblastoma: brothers in arms or unholy alliance? *Oncotarget* 7: 2313-2328.
- Novak, U. & Kaye, A. H. 2000. Extracellular matrix and the brain: components and function Journal of clinical neuroscience: official journal of the Neurosurgical Society of Australasia 7: 280-290.
- O'Brien, C. A., Kreso, A. & Dick, J. E. 2009. Cancer stem cells in solid tumors: an overview Seminars in radiation oncology 19: 71-77.
- Ohgaki, H., Dessen, P., Jourde, B., Horstmann, S., Nishikawa, T., Di Patre, P. L., Burkhard, C., Schuler, D., Probst-Hensch, N. M., Maiorka, P. C., Baeza, N., Pisani, P., Yonekawa, Y., Yasargil, M. G., Lutolf, U. M. & Kleihues, P. 2004. Genetic pathways to glioblastoma: a population-based study *Cancer research* 64: 6892-6899.
- Ohgaki, H. & Kleihues, P. 2013. The definition of primary and secondary glioblastoma *Clinical cancer research: an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* 19: 764-772.
- Ohman, T., Soderholm, S., Hintsanen, P., Valimaki, E., Lietzen, N., MacKintosh, C., Aittokallio, T., Matikainen, S. & Nyman, T. A. 2014. Phosphoproteomics combined with quantitative 14-3-3-affinity capture identifies SIRT1 and RAI as novel regulators of cytosolic double-stranded RNA recognition pathway *Molecular & cellular proteomics: MCP* 13: 2604-2617.
- Ortensi, B., Setti, M., Osti, D. & Pelicci, G. 2013. Cancer stem cell contribution to glioblastoma invasiveness *Stem cell research & therapy* 4: 18.

- Osswald, M., Jung, E., Sahm, F., Solecki, G., Venkataramani, V., Blaes, J., Weil, S., Horstmann, H., Wiestler, B., Syed, M., Huang, L., Ratliff, M., Karimian Jazi, K., Kurz, F. T., Schmenger, T., Lemke, D., Gommel, M., Pauli, M., Liao, Y., Haring, P., Pusch, S., Herl, V., Steinhauser, C., Krunic, D., Jarahian, M., Miletic, H., Berghoff, A. S., Griesbeck, O., Kalamakis, G., Garaschuk, O., Preusser, M., Weiss, S., Liu, H., Heiland, S., Platten, M., Huber, P. E., Kuner, T., von Deimling, A., Wick, W. & Winkler, F. 2015. Brain tumour cells interconnect to a functional and resistant network *Nature* 528: 93-98.
- Ostrom, Q. T., Gittleman, H., Stetson, L., Virk, S. M. & Barnholtz-Sloan, J. S. 2015. Epidemiology of gliomas *Cancer treatment and research* 163: 1-14.
- Ovaska, K., Laakso, M., Haapa-Paananen, S., Louhimo, R., Chen, P., Aittomaki, V., Valo, E., Nunez-Fontarnau, J., Rantanen, V., Karinen, S., Nousiainen, K., Lahesmaa-Korpinen, A. M., Miettinen, M., Saarinen, L., Kohonen, P., Wu, J., Westermarck, J. & Hautaniemi, S. 2010. Large-scale data integration framework provides a comprehensive view on glioblastoma multiforme *Genome medicine* 2: 65.
- Ozawa, T. & James, C. D. 2010. Establishing intracranial brain tumor xenografts with subsequent analysis of tumor growth and response to therapy using bioluminescence imaging. *Journal of visualized experiments: JoVE* (41). pii: 1986. doi: 10.3791/1986.
- Ozmadenci, D., Feraud, O., Markossian, S., Kress, E., Ducarouge, B., Gibert, B., Ge, J.,
 Durand, I., Gadot, N., Plateroti, M., Bennaceur-Griscelli, A., Scoazec, J. Y., Gil, J., Deng,
 H., Bernet, A., Mehlen, P. & Lavial, F. 2015. Netrin-1 regulates somatic cell
 reprogramming and pluripotency maintenance *Nature communications* 6: 7398.
- Palfi, S., Swanson, K. R., De Bouard, S., Chretien, F., Oliveira, R., Gherardi, R. K., Kros, J. M., Peschanski, M. & Christov, C. 2004. Correlation of in vitro infiltration with glioma histological type in organotypic brain slices *British journal of cancer* 91: 745-752.
- Paradisi, A., Maisse, C., Bernet, A., Coissieux, M. M., Maccarrone, M., Scoazec, J. Y. & Mehlen, P. 2008. NF-kappaB regulates netrin-1 expression and affects the conditional tumor suppressive activity of the netrin-1 receptors *Gastroenterology* 135: 1248-1257.
- Paradisi, A., Maisse, C., Coissieux, M. M., Gadot, N., Lepinasse, F., Delloye-Bourgeois, C., Delcros, J. G., Svrcek, M., Neufert, C., Flejou, J. F., Scoazec, J. Y. & Mehlen, P. 2009. Netrin-1 up-regulation in inflammatory bowel diseases is required for colorectal cancer progression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*
- Parks, A. L., Klueg, K. M., Stout, J. R. & Muskavitch, M. A. 2000. Ligand endocytosis drives receptor dissociation and activation in the Notch pathway. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 127: 1373-1385.
- Patel, A. P., Tirosh, I., Trombetta, J. J., Shalek, A. K., Gillespie, S. M., Wakimoto, H., Cahill, D. P., Nahed, B. V., Curry, W. T., Martuza, R. L., Louis, D. N., Rozenblatt-Rosen, O., Suva, M. L., Regev, A. & Bernstein, B. E. 2014. Single-cell RNA-seq highlights intratumoral heterogeneity in primary glioblastoma *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 344: 1396-1401.
- Paulus, W., Baur, I., Schuppan, D. & Roggendorf, W. 1993. Characterization of integrin receptors in normal and neoplastic human brain *The American journal of pathology* 143: 154-163.
- Pert, M., Gan, M., Saint, R. & Murray, M. J. 2015. Netrins and Frazzled/DCC promote the migration and mesenchymal to epithelial transition of Drosophila midgut cells *Biology open* 4: 233-243.
- Phillips, J. J., Aranda, D., Ellison, D. W., Judkins, A. R., Croul, S. E., Brat, D. J., Ligon, K. L., Horbinski, C., Venneti, S., Zadeh, G., Santi, M., Zhou, S., Appin, C. L., Sioletic, S., Sullivan, L. M., Martinez-Lage, M., Robinson, A. E., Yong, W. H., Cloughesy, T., Lai, A., Phillips, H. S., Marshall, R., Mueller, S., Haas-Kogan, D. A., Molinaro, A. M. & Perry, A. 2013. PDGFRA amplification is common in pediatric and adult high-grade astrocytomas and identifies a poor prognostic group in IDH1 mutant glioblastoma *Brain pathology* (*Zurich, Switzerland*) 23: 565-573.
- Pierfelice, T. J., Schreck, K. C., Dang, L., Asnaghi, L., Gaiano, N. & Eberhart, C. G. 2011. Notch3 activation promotes invasive glioma formation in a tissue site-specific manner. *Cancer research* 71: 1115-1125.
- Piper, M., Lee, A., van Horck, F., McNeilly, H., Lu, T., Harris, W. A. & Holt, C. E. 2015. Differential requirement of F-actin and microtubule cytoskeleton in cue-induced local protein synthesis in axonal growth cones *Neural Development* 10: 3.
- Plowman, J., Waud, W. R., Koutsoukos, A. D., Rubinstein, L. V., Moore, T. D. & Grever, M. R. 1994. Preclinical antitumor activity of temozolomide in mice: efficacy against human brain tumor xenografts and synergism with 1,3-bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea *Cancer research* 54: 3793-3799.
- Pollard, S. M., Yoshikawa, K., Clarke, I. D., Danovi, D., Stricker, S., Russell, R., Bayani, J., Head, R., Lee, M., Bernstein, M., Squire, J. A., Smith, A. & Dirks, P. 2009. Glioma stem cell lines expanded in adherent culture have tumor-specific phenotypes and are suitable for chemical and genetic screens *Cell stem cell* 4: 568-580.
- Pratt, E. B., Wentzell, J. S., Maxson, J. E., Courter, L., Hazelett, D. & Christian, J. L. 2011. The cell giveth and the cell taketh away: an overview of Notch pathway activation by endocytic trafficking of ligands and receptors. *Acta Histochemica* 113: 248-255.
- Presta, L. G., Chen, H., O'Connor, S. J., Chisholm, V., Meng, Y. G., Krummen, L., Winkler, M. & Ferrara, N. 1997. Humanization of an anti-vascular endothelial growth factor monoclonal antibody for the therapy of solid tumors and other disorders *Cancer research* 57: 4593-4599.
- Previtali, S., Quattrini, A., Nemni, R., Truci, G., Ducati, A., Wrabetz, L. & Canal, N. 1996. Alpha6 beta4 and alpha6 beta1 integrins in astrocytomas and other CNS tumors *Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology* 55: 456-465.
- Purow, B. W., Haque, R. M., Noel, M. W., Su, Q., Burdick, M. J., Lee, J., Sundaresan, T., Pastorino, S., Park, J. K., Mikolaenko, I., Maric, D., Eberhart, C. G. & Fine, H. A. 2005. Expression of Notch-1 and its ligands, Delta-like-1 and Jagged-1, is critical for glioma cell survival and proliferation. *Cancer research* 65: 2353-2363.
- Qi, Q., Li, D. Y., Luo, H. R., Guan, K. L. & Ye, K. 2015. Netrin-1 exerts oncogenic activities through enhancing Yes-associated protein stability *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112: 7255-7260.
- Qu, C., Dwyer, T., Shao, Q., Yang, T., Huang, H. & Liu, G. 2013; 2013. Direct binding of TUBB3 with DCC couples netrin-1 signaling to intracellular microtubule dynamics in axon outgrowth and guidance *Journal of cell science* 126: 3070-3081.

Raizer, J. & Parsa, A. 2015. Current Understanding and Treatment of Gliomas 163:

- Ramesh, G., Berg, A. & Jayakumar, C. 2011. Plasma netrin-1 is a diagnostic biomarker of human cancers. *Biomarkers: biochemical indicators of exposure, response, and susceptibility to chemicals* 16: 172-180.
- Rampling, R., Cruickshank, G., Lewis, A. D., Fitzsimmons, S. A. & Workman, P. 1994. Direct measurement of pO2 distribution and bioreductive enzymes in human malignant brain tumors *International journal of radiation oncology, biology, physics* 29: 427-431.
- Rankin, E. B. & Giaccia, A. J. 2016. Hypoxic control of metastasis *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 352: 175-180.
- Rantanen, V., Valori, M. & Hautaniemi, S. 2014. Anima: modular workflow system for comprehensive image data analysis *Frontiers in bioengineering and biotechnology* 2: 25.
- Rempel, S. A., Rosenblum, M. L., Mikkelsen, T., Yan, P. S., Ellis, K. D., Golembieski, W. A., Sameni, M., Rozhin, J., Ziegler, G. & Sloane, B. F. 1994. Cathepsin B expression and localization in glioma progression and invasion *Cancer research* 54: 6027-6031.
- Ricci-Vitiani, L., Pallini, R., Biffoni, M., Todaro, M., Invernici, G., Cenci, T., Maira, G., Parati,
 E. A., Stassi, G., Larocca, L. M. & De Maria, R. 2010. Tumour vascularization via endothelial differentiation of glioblastoma stem-like cells *Nature* 468: 824-828.
- Rodrigues, S., De Wever, O., Bruyneel, E., Rooney, R. J. & Gespach, C. 2007. Opposing roles of netrin-1 and the dependence receptor DCC in cancer cell invasion, tumor growth and metastasis. *Oncogene* 26: 5615-5625.
- Rojiani, A. M. & Dorovini-Zis, K. 1996. Glomeruloid vascular structures in glioblastoma multiforme: an immunohistochemical and ultrastructural study *Journal of neurosurgery* 85: 1078-1084.
- Rooprai, H. K., Van Meter, T., Rucklidge, G. J., Hudson, L., Everall, I. P. & Pilkington, G. J. 1998. Comparative analysis of matrix metalloproteinases by immunocytochemistry, immunohistochemistry and zymography in human primary brain tumours. *International journal of oncology* 13: 1153-1157.
- Sanson, M., Marie, Y., Paris, S., Idbaih, A., Laffaire, J., Ducray, F., El Hallani, S., Boisselier, B., Mokhtari, K., Hoang-Xuan, K. & Delattre, J. Y. 2009. Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 codon 132 mutation is an important prognostic biomarker in gliomas *Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 27: 4150-4154.
- Schneider, M., Strobele, S., Nonnenmacher, L., Siegelin, M. D., Tepper, M., Stroh, S., Hasslacher, S., Enzenmuller, S., Strauss, G., Baumann, B., Karpel-Massler, G., Westhoff, M. A., Debatin, K. M. & Halatsch, M. E. 2016. A paired comparison between glioblastoma "stem cells" and differentiated cells *International journal of cancer* 138: 1709-1718.
- Schroeter, E. H., Kisslinger, J. A. & Kopan, R. 1998. Notch-1 signalling requires ligandinduced proteolytic release of intracellular domain *Nature* 393: 382-386.
- Serafini, T., Colamarino, S. A., Leonardo, E. D., Wang, H., Beddington, R., Skarnes, W. C. & Tessier-Lavigne, M. 1996. Netrin-1 is required for commissural axon guidance in the developing vertebrate nervous system. *Cell* 87: 1001-1014.

- Serafini, T., Kennedy, T. E., Gaiko, M. J., Mirzayan, C., Jessell, T. M. & Tessier-Lavigne, M. 1994. The netrins define a family of axon outgrowth-promoting proteins homologous to C. elegans UNC-6. *Cell*, 78: 409-424.
- Seystahl, K., Wick, W. & Weller, M. 2016. Therapeutic options in recurrent glioblastoma-An update *Critical reviews in oncology/hematology* 99: 389-408.
- Shaw, L. M. 2001. Identification of insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1) and IRS-2 as signaling intermediates in the alpha6beta4 integrin-dependent activation of phosphoinositide 3-OH kinase and promotion of invasion *Molecular and cellular biology* 21: 5082-5093.
- Shaw, R. J. & Cantley, L. C. 2006. Ras, PI(3)K and mTOR signalling controls tumour cell growth *Nature* 441: 424-430.
- Shen, Q., Wang, Y., Kokovay, E., Lin, G., Chuang, S. M., Goderie, S. K., Roysam, B. & Temple, S. 2008. Adult SVZ stem cells lie in a vascular niche: a quantitative analysis of niche cell-cell interactions *Cell stem cell* 3: 289-300.
- Shen, Q., Goderie, S. K., Jin, L., Karanth, N., Sun, Y., Abramova, N., Vincent, P., Pumiglia, K. & Temple, S. 2004. Endothelial Cells Stimulate Self-Renewal and Expand Neurogenesis of Neural Stem Cells Science 304: 1338-1340.
- Sherwood, D. R. & Sternberg, P. W. 2003. Anchor cell invasion into the vulval epithelium in C. elegans. *Developmental cell* 5: 21-31.
- Shih, A. H. & Holland, E. C. 2006. Notch signaling enhances nestin expression in gliomas. *Neoplasia (New York, N.Y.)* 8: 1072-1082.
- Shimizu, A., Nakayama, H., Wang, P., Konig, C., Akino, T., Sandlund, J., Coma, S., Italiano, J. E., Jr, Mammoto, A., Bielenberg, D. R. & Klagsbrun, M. 2013. Netrin-1 promotes glioblastoma cell invasiveness and angiogenesis by multiple pathways including activation of RhoA, cathepsin B, and cAMP-response element-binding protein *The Journal of biological chemistry* 288: 2210-2222.
- Sierra, A., de Castro, F., Del Rio-Hortega, J., Rafael Iglesias-Rozas, J., Garrosa, M. & Kettenmann, H. 2016. The "Big-Bang" for modern glial biology: Translation and comments on Pio del Rio-Hortega 1919 series of papers on microglia. *Glia* 64: 1801-1840.
- Sihto, H., Tynninen, O., Butzow, R., Saarialho-Kere, U. & Joensuu, H. 2007. Endothelial cell KIT expression in human tumours. *The Journal of pathology* 211: 481-488.
- Silberstein, G. B. 2001. Postnatal mammary gland morphogenesis *Microscopy research and technique* 52: 155-162.
- Singh, S. K., Clarke, I. D., Terasaki, M., Bonn, V. E., Hawkins, C., Squire, J. & Dirks, P. B. 2003. Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. *Cancer research* 63: 5821-5828.
- Singh, S. K., Hawkins, C., Clarke, I. D., Squire, J. A., Bayani, J., Hide, T., Henkelman, R. M., Cusimano, M. D. & Dirks, P. B. 2004. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. *Nature* 432: 396-401.
- Sivasankaran, B., Degen, M., Ghaffari, A., Hegi, M. E., Hamou, M. F., Ionescu, M. C., Zweifel, C., Tolnay, M., Wasner, M., Mergenthaler, S., Miserez, A. R., Kiss, R., Lino, M. M.,

Merlo, A., Chiquet-Ehrismann, R. & Boulay, J. L. 2009. Tenascin-C is a novel RBPJkappainduced target gene for Notch signaling in gliomas. *Cancer research* 69: 458-465.

- Soeda, A., Park, M., Lee, D., Mintz, A., Androutsellis-Theotokis, A., McKay, R. D., Engh, J., Iwama, T., Kunisada, T., Kassam, A. B., Pollack, I. F. & Park, D. M. 2009. Hypoxia promotes expansion of the CD133-positive glioma stem cells through activation of HIF-1alpha Oncogene 28: 3949-3959.
- Sottoriva, A., Spiteri, I., Piccirillo, S. G., Touloumis, A., Collins, V. P., Marioni, J. C., Curtis, C., Watts, C. & Tavare, S. 2013. Intratumor heterogeneity in human glioblastoma reflects cancer evolutionary dynamics *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110: 4009-4014.
- Srinivasan, K., Strickland, P., Valdes, A., Shin, G. C. & Hinck, L. 2003. Netrin-1/neogenin interaction stabilizes multipotent progenitor cap cells during mammary gland morphogenesis. *Developmental cell* 4: 371-382.
- Staquicini, F. I., Dias-Neto, E., Li, J., Snyder, E. Y., Sidman, R. L., Pasqualini, R. & Arap, W. 2009. Discovery of a functional protein complex of netrin-4, laminin gamma1 chain, and integrin alpha6beta1 in mouse neural stem cells *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 106: 2903-2908.
- Stieber, D., Golebiewska, A., Evers, L., Lenkiewicz, E., Brons, N. H., Nicot, N., Oudin, A., Bougnaud, S., Hertel, F., Bjerkvig, R., Vallar, L., Barrett, M. T. & Niclou, S. P. 2014.
 Glioblastomas are composed of genetically divergent clones with distinct tumourigenic potential and variable stem cell-associated phenotypes *Acta Neuropathologica* 127: 203-219.
- Stockhausen, M. T., Kristoffersen, K. & Poulsen, H. S. 2010. The functional role of Notch signaling in human gliomas. *Neuro-oncology* 12: 199-211.
- Strojnik, T., Rosland, G. V., Sakariassen, P. O., Kavalar, R. & Lah, T. 2007. Neural stem cell markers, nestin and musashi proteins, in the progression of human glioma: correlation of nestin with prognosis of patient survival *Surgical neurology* 68: 133-43; discussion 143-4.
- Struhl, G. & Greenwald, I. 1999. Presenilin is required for activity and nuclear access of Notch in Drosophila *Nature* 398: 522-525.
- Stupp, R., Hegi, M. E., Mason, W. P., van den Bent, M. J., Taphoorn, M. J., Janzer, R. C., Ludwin, S. K., Allgeier, A., Fisher, B., Belanger, K., Hau, P., Brandes, A. A., Gijtenbeek, J., Marosi, C., Vecht, C. J., Mokhtari, K., Wesseling, P., Villa, S., Eisenhauer, E., Gorlia, T., Weller, M., Lacombe, D., Cairncross, J. G., Mirimanoff, R. O., European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Brain Tumour and Radiation Oncology Groups & National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. 2009. Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase III study: 5-year analysis of the EORTC-NCIC trial *The Lancet.Oncology* 10: 459-466.
- Stupp, R., Mason, W. P., van den Bent, M. J., Weller, M., Fisher, B., Taphoorn, M. J., Belanger, K., Brandes, A. A., Marosi, C., Bogdahn, U., Curschmann, J., Janzer, R. C., Ludwin, S. K., Gorlia, T., Allgeier, A., Lacombe, D., Cairncross, J. G., Eisenhauer, E., Mirimanoff, R. O., European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Brain Tumor and Radiotherapy Groups & National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials

Group. 2005. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma *The New England journal of medicine* 352: 987-996.

- Tavazoie, M., Van der Veken, L., Silva-Vargas, V., Louissaint, M., Colonna, L., Zaidi, B., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M. & Doetsch, F. 2008. A specialized vascular niche for adult neural stem cells *Cell stem cell* 3: 279-288.
- Tcherkezian, J., Brittis, P. A., Thomas, F., Roux, P. P. & Flanagan, J. G. 2010. Transmembrane receptor DCC associates with protein synthesis machinery and regulates translation *Cell* 141: 632-644.
- Tepass, U. & Hartenstein, V. 1994. Epithelium formation in the Drosophila midgut depends on the interaction of endoderm and mesoderm *Development (Cambridge, England)* 120: 579-590.
- Tynninen, O., Carpen, O., Jaaskelainen, J., Paavonen, T. & Paetau, A. 2004. Ezrin expression in tissue microarray of primary and recurrent gliomas *Neuropathology and applied neurobiology* 30: 472-477.
- Ulasov, I. V., Nandi, S., Dey, M., Sonabend, A. M. & Lesniak, M. S. 2011. Inhibition of Sonic hedgehog and Notch pathways enhances sensitivity of CD133(+) glioma stem cells to temozolomide therapy *Molecular medicine (Cambridge, Mass.)* 17: 103-112.
- Uyttendaele, H., Marazzi, G., Wu, G., Yan, Q., Sassoon, D. & Kitajewski, J. 1996. Notch4/int-3, a mammary proto-oncogene, is an endothelial cell-specific mammalian Notch gene *Development (Cambridge, England)* 122: 2251-2259.
- Vaccari, T., Lu, H., Kanwar, R., Fortini, M. E. & Bilder, D. 2008. Endosomal entry regulates Notch receptor activation in Drosophila melanogaster *The Journal of cell biology* 180: 755-762.
- Venur, V. A., Peereboom, D. M. & Ahluwalia, M. S. 2015. Current medical treatment of glioblastoma *Cancer treatment and research* 163: 103-115.
- Verhaak, R. G., Hoadley, K. A., Purdom, E., Wang, V., Qi, Y., Wilkerson, M. D., Miller, C. R., Ding, L., Golub, T., Mesirov, J. P., Alexe, G., Lawrence, M., O'Kelly, M., Tamayo, P., Weir, B. A., Gabriel, S., Winckler, W., Gupta, S., Jakkula, L., Feiler, H. S., Hodgson, J. G., James, C. D., Sarkaria, J. N., Brennan, C., Kahn, A., Spellman, P. T., Wilson, R. K., Speed, T. P., Gray, J. W., Meyerson, M., Getz, G., Perou, C. M., Hayes, D. N. & Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. 2010. Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1 *Cancer cell* 17: 98-110.
- Wakimoto, H., Mohapatra, G., Kanai, R., Curry, W. T., Jr, Yip, S., Nitta, M., Patel, A. P., Barnard, Z. R., Stemmer-Rachamimov, A. O., Louis, D. N., Martuza, R. L. & Rabkin, S. D. 2012. Maintenance of primary tumor phenotype and genotype in glioblastoma stem cells *Neuro-oncology* 14: 132-144.
- Wang, J., Sakariassen, P. O., Tsinkalovsky, O., Immervoll, H., Boe, S. O., Svendsen, A.,
 Prestegarden, L., Rosland, G., Thorsen, F., Stuhr, L., Molven, A., Bjerkvig, R. & Enger, P.
 O. 2008. CD133 negative glioma cells form tumors in nude rats and give rise to CD133 positive cells *International journal of cancer* 122: 761-768.

- Wang, J., Wakeman, T. P., Lathia, J. D., Hjelmeland, A. B., Wang, X. F., White, R. R., Rich, J.
 N. & Sullenger, B. A. 2010. Notch promotes radioresistance of glioma stem cells *Stem* cells (Dayton, Ohio) 28: 17-28.
- Wang, L., Zhi, X., Zhu, Y., Zhang, Q., Wang, W., Li, Z., Tang, J., Wang, J., Wei, S., Li, B., Zhou, J., Jiang, J., Yang, L., Xu, H. & Xu, Z. 2015. MUC4-promoted neural invasion is mediated by the axon guidance factor Netrin-1 in PDAC *Oncotarget* 6: 33805-33822.
- Wang, Z., Linden, L. M., Naegeli, K. M., Ziel, J. W., Chi, Q., Hagedorn, E. J., Savage, N. S. & Sherwood, D. R. 2014. UNC-6 (netrin) stabilizes oscillatory clustering of the UNC-40 (DCC) receptor to orient polarity. *The Journal of cell biology* 206: 619-633.
- Weinmaster, G., Roberts, V. J. & Lemke, G. 1992. Notch2: a second mammalian Notch gene Development (Cambridge, England) 116: 931-941.
- Wildeboer, D., Naus, S., Amy Sang, Q. X., Bartsch, J. W. & Pagenstecher, A. 2006. Metalloproteinase disintegrins ADAM8 and ADAM19 are highly regulated in human primary brain tumors and their expression levels and activities are associated with invasiveness. *Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology* 65: 516-527.
- Wilson, B. D., Ii, M., Park, K. W., Suli, A., Sorensen, L. K., Larrieu-Lahargue, F., Urness, L. D., Suh, W., Asai, J., Kock, G. A., Thorne, T., Silver, M., Thomas, K. R., Chien, C. B., Losordo, D. W. & Li, D. Y. 2006. Netrins promote developmental and therapeutic angiogenesis. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 313: 640-644.
- Wilson, J. J. & Kovall, R. A. 2006. Crystal structure of the CSL-Notch-Mastermind ternary complex bound to DNA *Cell* 124: 985-996.
- Windler, S. L. & Bilder, D. 2010. Endocytic internalization routes required for delta/notch signaling. *Current biology : CB* 20: 538-543.
- Xie, Q., Wu, Q., Kim, L., Miller, T. E., Liau, B. B., Mack, S. C., Yang, K., Factor, D. C., Fang, X., Huang, Z., Zhou, W., Alazem, K., Wang, X., Bernstein, B. E., Bao, S. & Rich, J. N. 2016.
 RBPJ maintains brain tumor-initiating cells through CDK9-mediated transcriptional elongation *The Journal of clinical investigation* 126: 2757-2772.
- Xu, K., Moghal, N. & Egan, S. E. 2012. Notch signaling in lung development and disease *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology* 727: 89-98.
- Xu, R., Shimizu, F., Hovinga, K., Beal, K., Karimi, S., Droms, L. A., Peck, K. K., Gutin, P., lorgulescu, J. B., Kaley, T. J., DeAngelis, L. M., Pentsova, E., Nolan, C., Grommes, C., Chan, T. A., Bobrow, D., Hormigo, A., Cross, J. R., Wu, N., Takebe, N., Panageas, K., Ivy, S. P., Supko, J. G., Tabar, V. & Omuro, A. M. 2016. Molecular and Clinical Effects of Notch Inhibition in Glioma Patients: A Phase 0/I Trial *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research*
- Yahyanejad, S., King, H., Iglesias, V. S., Granton, P. V., Barbeau, L. M., van Hoof, S. J., Groot, A. J., Habets, R., Prickaerts, J., Chalmers, A. J., Eekers, D. B., Theys, J., Short, S. C., Verhaegen, F. & Vooijs, M. 2016. NOTCH blockade combined with radiation therapy and temozolomide prolongs survival of orthotopic glioblastoma *Oncotarget*
- Yamagishi, S., Yamada, K., Sawada, M., Nakano, S., Mori, N., Sawamoto, K. & Sato, K. 2015. Netrin-5 is highly expressed in neurogenic regions of the adult brain *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience* 9: 146.

- Yamamoto, M., Sawaya, R., Mohanam, S., Bindal, A. K., Bruner, J. M., Oka, K., Rao, V. H., Tomonaga, M., Nicolson, G. L. & Rao, J. S. 1994. Expression and localization of urokinase-type plasminogen activator in human astrocytomas in vivo. *Cancer research* 54: 3656-3661.
- Yan, W., Han, P., Zhou, Z., Tu, W., Liao, J., Li, P., Liu, M., Tian, D. & Fu, Y. 2014. Netrin-1 induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition and promotes hepatocellular carcinoma invasiveness *Digestive diseases and sciences* 59: 1213-1221.
- Yebra, M., Diaferia, G. R., Montgomery, A. M., Kaido, T., Brunken, W. J., Koch, M., Hardiman, G., Crisa, L. & Cirulli, V. 2011. Endothelium-derived Netrin-4 supports pancreatic epithelial cell adhesion and differentiation through integrins alpha2beta1 and alpha3beta1. *PloS one* 6: e22750.
- Yebra, M., Montgomery, A. M., Diaferia, G. R., Kaido, T., Silletti, S., Perez, B., Just, M. L., Hildbrand, S., Hurford, R., Florkiewicz, E., Tessier-Lavigne, M. & Cirulli, V. 2003.
 Recognition of the neural chemoattractant Netrin-1 by integrins alpha6beta4 and alpha3beta1 regulates epithelial cell adhesion and migration. *Developmental cell* 5: 695-707.
- Yin, Y., Sanes, J. R. & Miner, J. H. 2000. Identification and expression of mouse netrin-4. Mechanisms of development 96: 115-119.
- Ylivinkka, I., Keski-Oja, J. & Hyytiainen, M. 2016. Netrin-1: A regulator of cancer cell motility? *European journal of cell biology* 95: 513-520.
- Ylivinkka, I., Sihto, H., Tynninen, O., Hu, Y., Laakso, A., Kivisaari, R., Laakkonen, P., Keski-Oja, J. & Hyytiainen, M. 2017. Motility of glioblastoma cells is driven by netrin-1 induced gain of stemness *Journal of experimental & clinical cancer research: CR* 36: 9-016-0482-0.
- Yuan, Y., Leszczynska, M., Konstantinovsky, S., Trope, C. G., Reich, R. & Davidson, B. 2011. Netrin-4 is upregulated in breast carcinoma effusions compared to corresponding solid tumors *Diagnostic cytopathology* 39: 562-566.
- Zhang, J., Zheng, F., Yu, G., Yin, Y. & Lu, Q. 2013. miR-196a targets netrin 4 and regulates cell proliferation and migration of cervical cancer cells *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 440: 582-588.
- Zhang, M., Song, T., Yang, L., Chen, R., Wu, L., Yang, Z. & Fang, J. 2008. Nestin and CD133: valuable stem cell-specific markers for determining clinical outcome of glioma patients. *Journal of experimental & clinical cancer research: CR* 27: 85.
- Zhang, X., Chen, T., Zhang, J., Mao, Q., Li, S., Xiong, W., Qiu, Y., Xie, Q. & Ge, J. 2012. Notch1 promotes glioma cell migration and invasion by stimulating beta-catenin and NFkappaB signaling via AKT activation. *Cancer science* 103: 181-190.
- Zhu, T. S., Costello, M. A., Talsma, C. E., Flack, C. G., Crowley, J. G., Hamm, L. L., He, X., Hervey-Jumper, S. L., Heth, J. A., Muraszko, K. M., DiMeco, F., Vescovi, A. L. & Fan, X.
 2011. Endothelial cells create a stem cell niche in glioblastoma by providing NOTCH ligands that nurture self-renewal of cancer stem-like cells. *Cancer research* 71: 6061-6072.
- Ziel, J. W., Hagedorn, E. J., Audhya, A. & Sherwood, D. R. 2009. UNC-6 (netrin) orients the invasive membrane of the anchor cell in C. elegans. *Nature cell biology* 11: 183-189.